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To the Shareholders of Acciona, S.A.

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Acciona, S.A. (the “Parent”) and
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet at 31 December 2020, and
the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in total
equity, the statement of cash flows, and the notes, all of them consolidated, for the year then
ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all
material respects, of the consolidated equity and consolidated financial position of the Group at 31
December 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (IFRS-EU) and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in
Spain.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in
Spain. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those
regarding independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
pursuant to the legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. We have not provided any non-
audit services, nor have any situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned
regulations, have affected the required independence such that this has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of revenue from infrastructure construction contracts and
estimation of margins

See notes 4.2(0) and 27 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

A substantial portion of the Group's revenue derives
from construction service contracts, whereby
revenue is recognised in accordance with the
percentage of completion method, which requires
the estimation of aspects such as the margin on
each contract, the costs to be incurred and the
probability of revenue being received in relation to
amounts associated with customer claims,
negotiations or disputes, if applicable.

The recognition of revenue and the profit or loss on
these contracts therefore requires a high level of
judgement by management and the Directors and an
exhaustive control of the estimates made and any
deviations that might arise over the contract term.
The estimates take into account all costs and
revenue directly associated with the contracts,
including any additional costs not initially budgeted
and any amounts to be recognised as revenue in
relation to customer claims, negotiations or disputes.
The Group recognises revenue related to amounts
being claimed, negotiated or disputed with
customers for the amount at which it is considered
highly probable will not be subject to significant
change once the inherent uncertainty is resolved,
either because customer approval has been obtained
or because there are technical and/or legal reports
that support this circumstance.

Due to the uncertainty associated with these
estimates and the fact that changes therein could
lead to material differences in the revenue recorded,
this has been considered a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

e We evaluated the design and implementation of
the key controls related to the process for
revenue recognition using the percentage of
completion method and the process for budget
control, evaluating the methodology used to
draw up the contract budgets and in monitor the
assumptions used therein.

e Based on certain quantitative and qualitative
selection criteria, we obtained a sample of
construction contracts, for which we evaluated
the most significant and complex estimates
therein used by the Group for purpose of
revenue recognition, having obtained supporting
documentation for such estimates and evidence
of the judgements made by management and
the Directors.

e We performed a comparative analysis of the
profit/loss on the completed contracts with the
budgeted profit/loss, including historical
performance and the Group’s control over the
budget, to evaluate the reasonableness of the
estimates made regarding the contracts.

e We evaluated the judgement applied by
management and the Directors and, in general,
the reasonableness of completed work with
progress billings pending which are being
claimed, negotiated or disputed with customers,
and have been recognised as revenue at the
reporting date, as well as the judgement applied
with respect to the recognition of variable
consideration. In this respect, we updated the
status of customer negotiations for the main
case files and verified the reasonableness and
consistency of the documentation supporting
such recognition, including, where applicable,
the related technical and/or legal reports.
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Recognition of revenue from infrastructure construction contracts and
estimation of margins

See notes 4.2(0) and 27 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

e \We assessed whether the provisions
recognised at year end reasonably reflect the
main liabilities and the level of risk of the
contracts, assessing the judgement of
management and the Directors in these
estimates. Among other procedures, we
analysed the key clauses of a selection of
contracts, identifying relevant contractual
mechanisms, to assess whether or not such
clauses have been appropriately reflected in the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

e \We assessed whether the information disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements meets
the requirements of the financial reporting
framework applicable to the Group.
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Recoverability of property, plant and equipment of the Energy division

See notes 4.2 (F) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

At 31 December 2020 the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment of the Group's Energy
division totals Euros 7,039 million, mainly comprising
wind farms, solar photovoltaic and hydroelectric
power plants in various geographical locations under
different regulatory scenarios. At 31 December
2020, the Group has recognised impairment of Euros
612 million.

At the end of each reporting period the Group
assesses whether there has been any indications of
impairment or evidence of changes in the events or
circumstances that gave rise to the impairment
recognised, and, where applicable, regulatory or
other changes that could modify the expected future
cash flows.

As a result of this assessment, the Group has
estimated the recoverable amount of the assets in
question and has partially reversed the impairment
recognised in prior years.

The Group has calculated the recoverable amount by
estimating the assets’ value in use, which was
determined by applying valuation techniques that
require the exercising of judgement by management
and the Directors, and the use of assumptions. Due
to the high level of judgement and the uncertainty
associated with these assessments and estimates,
as well as the significance of the carrying amount of
the Energy division’s property, plant and equipment,
their measurement has been considered a key audit
matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

e \We obtained an understanding of the processes
followed by the Group in identifying and
evaluating indications of impairment and in
estimating the recoverable amount of the Energy
division's property, plant and equipment. In
addition, we assessed the design and
implementation of the Group's key controls over
this process.

e \We evaluated the reasonableness of the
methodology and assumptions used by the Group
when estimating the recoverable amount, with
the involvement of our valuation specialists.
Moreover, we assessed the sensitivity of the
recoverable amount to changes in the key
assumptions, in order to determine their potential
impact on the valuation.

o We also assessed whether the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements meet the
requirements of the applicable financial reporting
framework.
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Valuation of the investment in Nordex SE

See notes 3.2 (f) and 10 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has an investment in Nordex SE, an
equity-accounted company listed on certain stock
exchanges in Germany with a carrying amount of
Euros 746 million at 31 December 2020 (Euros 640
million at 31 December 2019), for which indications
of impairment have been identified in the past.

At 31 December 2020 the Group has estimated the
recoverable amount of its investment in Nordex SE

based on the estimated value in use, determined as
the present value of the expected future cash flows
from the investment. This resulted in the reversal of
Euros 145 million of impairment recognised in prior

years.

There is a high level of judgement and complexity
involved in determining whether there are
indications of impairment and estimating the value in
use of the Group's investment in Nordex SE,
encompassing, among other things, financial
projections that consider the assumptions made
regarding macroeconomic trends, internal
circumstances of the entity and of its competitors,
discount and growth rates, and future business
performance.

Changes in the key assumptions considered by the
Group in its valuation of Nordex SE could entail

substantial modifications to the investee's value in
use and, therefore, its carrying amount at year end.

Due to the uncertainty and judgement associated
with these estimates, as well as the significance of
the carrying amount of the Group's investment in
Nordex SE, we have considered the valuation of the
investment a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

e \We obtained an understanding of the processes
followed by the Group in identifying indications of
impairment and estimating the value in use,
including tests of the design and implementation
of the key controls defined by the Group in
relation to these processes.

e We evaluated the reasonableness of the
methodology and assumptions used by the Group
in estimating the recoverable amount of the
investment in Nordex SE, in collaboration with our
business valuation specialists. In this respect, we
contrasted the information contained in the
valuation model with the business plans of
Nordex SE used by the Group and the estimated
and forecast future performance of the industry in
which Nordex SE operates, obtained from
external information sources. We also evaluated
the growth rates and discount rates that were
used as a basis to calculate the recoverable
amount, and the sensitivity of that recoverable
amount to changes in the key assumptions, in
order to determine their potential impact on the
valuation.

e Lastly, we assessed whether the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements meet the
requirements of the applicable financial reporting
framework.
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Other Information: Consolidated Directors’ Report

Other information solely comprises the 2020 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Parent's Directors and which does not form an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not encompass the consolidated
directors' report. Our responsibility regarding the content of the consolidated directors’ report is
defined in the legislation regulating the audit of accounts, as follows:

a) Determine, solely, whether the consolidated non-financial information statement and certain
information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as specified in the Spanish
Audit Law, have been provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable legislation, and if
not, to report on this matter.

b) Assess and report on the consistency of the rest of the information included in the
consolidated directors’ report with the consolidated financial statements, based on
knowledge of the Group obtained during the audit of the aforementioned consolidated
financial statements. Also, assess and report on whether the content and presentation of
this part of the consolidated directors’ report are in accordance with applicable legislation. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material misstatements,
we are required to report them.

Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have observed that the information
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable
legislation, that the rest of the information contained in the consolidated directors' report is
consistent with that disclosed in the consolidated financial statements for 2020, and that the content
and presentation of the report are in accordance with applicable legislation.

Directors' and Audit Committee's Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Parent's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity,
consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance
with IFRS-EU and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in
Spain, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Parent's Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Parent's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation and presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent's Directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent's Directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the audit committee of the Parent regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Parent's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with the
applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated to the audit committee of the Parent, we determine those that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and which are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Additional Report to the Audit Committee of the Parent

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Parent's audit
committee dated 18 February 2021.

Contract Period

We were appointed as auditor of the Group by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on
28 May 2020 for a period of one year, from the year commenced 1 January 2020.

Previously, we had been appointed for a period of three years, by consensus of the shareholders at
their general meeting, and have been auditing the financial statements since the year ended 31
December 2017.

KPMG Auditores, S.L.
On the Spanish Official Register of
Auditors (“ROAC") with No. S0702

(Signed on original in Spanish)

Borja Guinea Lopez
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC") with No. 16210

18 February 2021
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ACCIONA. S.A. AND STTRSIDITARIES

]

Revenue 27 6,472,430 7,190,589
Other income 27 788,906 684,344
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 193,557 16,426
Cost of goods sold 28 (2,216,122) (2,021,196)
Personnel expenses 28 (1,550,766) (1,598.,856)
Other operating expenses 28 (2,646,294) (2,914,707)
Depreciation and amortisation charge and change in provisions 4,5,6,7,8,9,28 (678,133) (656,709)
Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposals of non-cusrent assets 28 179,927 8,592
Other gains and losses (9,259) (7,388)
Equity method profit/(loss) - analogous 10,44 82,195 80,779
OPERATING PROFIT 616,441 781,874
Financial income 30 36,852 33,020
Finance costs 30 (254,166) (264,932)
Translation differences 14,422 9,382
Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financial instruments at fair value 28 15,265 5,241
Equity method profit/(loss) - non-analogous 10,4.4 79,258 (19,811)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX, FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 508,072 544,774
Income tax expense 25 (97,391) (147,272)
YEAR'’S PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 410,681 397,502
IEroﬁt/(Loss) after tax from discontinued operations - -|
| YEAR’S PROFIT/(LOSS) 410,681 397,502
|Proﬂt/(Loss) after tax from discontinued operations - -I
INon-controlling interests 18 (30,379) (45,824ﬂ
|PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY 380,302 351,678
IBASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (Euros) 33 6.97 6.46—|
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
33 6.97 6.46
(Euros)
|BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (euros) 33 697 6.46]
[DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (euros) 33 697 6.46]

(*) Re-stated.

Accompanying Notes 1 to 37 and the appendices are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements for 2020.
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ACCTONA S A AND STIRRINDTARTES

A) CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 410,681 397,502
1.- Profit attributed to the Parent Company 380,302 351,678
2. Non-controlling interests 30,379 45,824
B) ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO THE INCOME (389) (685)
STATEMENT
1.- Revaluation/(Reversion of revaluation) of property, plant and equipment and B )
intangible assets
2. Actuarial gains and losses and other adjustments 19 (519) (913)
3.- Tax effect 130 228
C) ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO THE INCOME STATEMENT (295,324) (21,064)
Income and expense recognised directly in equity: (327,668) (53,379)
1.- Revaluation of financial instruments: 71) (30)
a) Available-for-sale financial assets 18 ()] (30)
b) Other income / (expenses) - -
2. Cash flow hedges 22 (52,061) (113,092)
3.- Translation differences (288,569) 31,462
4.- Other income and expenses recognised directly in equity - -
5. Tax effect 13,033 28,281
Transfers to the income statement: 32,344 32,315
1.- Revaluation of financial instruments: - R
a) Available-for-sale financial assets - -
b) Other income / (expenses) - -
2. Cash flow hedges 22 38,745 43,087
3.- Translation differences 3,285 -
4. Other income and expenses recognised directly in equity - -
5. Tax effect (9,686) (10,772)
TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME / (EXPENSE) (A+B+C) 114,968 375,753
a) Attributed to the Parent Company 118,900 326,937
b) Attributed to non-controlling interests (3,932) 48,816

Accompanying Notes 1 to 37 and the appendices are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements for 2020.
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ACCIONA. S.A. AND STIRSIDTARIES

Opening balance at 01/01/2020 54,857 3,374,965 (28,633) 351,678 - (331,668) 219,490 3,640,689

Adjustments due to changes in
accounting policies

Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - -

Adjusted opening balance 54,857 3,374,965 (28,633) 351,678 - (331,668) 219,490 3,640,689
:l"otal recognised _ - - 380,302 - (261,402) (3,932) 114,968
income/(expense)

Transactions with shareholders _ (145,465) 536 R N _ 150,088 5,159
or owners

Capital increases/(reductions) - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities ; ; ) ) . } ) ;
into equity

Dividends paid - (105,599) - - - - (10,290) (115,889)
Treasury share transactions (net) - 1,031 536 - - - 191,707 193,274
Increases/(Decreases) due to ; R R R R R

business combinations © ©®
Other transactions with . (40,897) . R - - (31,323) (72,220)
shareholders or owners ’ ' ’
Other changes in equity - 355,111 6,048 (351,678) - - 472) 9,009
Share-based payments - 2,979 6,048 - - - - 9,027
Transfers between equity items - 351,678 - (351,678) - - - -
Other changes - 454 - - - - (472) (18)
Closing balance at 31/12/2020 54,857 3,584,611 (22,049) 380,302 - (593,070) 365,174 3,769,825

Accompanying Notes 1 to 37 and the appendices are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements for 2020.
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ACCTONA. S.A_ AND STTRSTDIARTES

Ml

Opening balance at 01/01/19 57,260 3,410,678 (199,616) 328,030 (306,927) 205,713 3,495,138
Adjustn?ents dlvle. to changes in } (16,576) R } } (6,436) @3.012)
accounting policies

Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - -
Adjusted opening balance 57,260 3,394,102 (199,616) 328,030 (306,927) 199,277 3,472,126
:l‘otal recognised . - . 351,678 (24,741) 48,816 375,753
income/(expense)

Transactions with shareholders (2,403) (345,363) 164,764 - - (30,417) (213,419)
or owners

Capital increases/(reductions) (2,403) (162,425) 164,828 - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities N } B B . } )
into equity

Dividends paid - (191,819) - - - (17,647) (209,466)
Treasury share transactions (net) - 345 (64) - - - 281
Incnjeases/(Dec‘reages) due to B 17,649 R R R 4579 22228
business combinations

Other transactions with

shareholders or owners ) ®.113) - - - (17,349) (26,462)
Other changes in equity - 326,226 6,219 (328,030) - 1,814 6,229
Share-based payments B 2,319 6,219 - - - 8,538
Transfers between equity items - 328,030 - (328,030) - - -
Other changes - (4.123) - - - 1,814 (2,309)
Closing balance at 31/12/19 54,857 3,374,965 (28,633) 351,678 (331,668) 219,490 3,640,689

Accompanying Notes 1 to 37 and the appendices are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements for 2020.
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ACCTIONA S A AND STTRSINDTARTES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 967,523 787,293
Profit before tax from continuing operations 508,071 544,774
Adjustments for: 393,585 723,668
Depreciation and amortisation charge and change in provisions 5.6,7,8,9,14,28 554,013 629,261
Other adjustments to profit (net) 10,27,28,30 (160,428) 94,407
Changes in working capital 192,666 (305,548)
Other cash flows from operating activities: (126,799) (175,601)
Interest paid 30 (223,055) (241,154)
Interest received 30 23,520 22,873
Dividends received 10 32,065 36,466
Income tax recovered/(paid) 25 (44,523) (43,990)
Other amounts received/(paid) relating to operating activities 13,23 85,194 50,204
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 5,6,8,11 (511,302) (968,388)
Payments due to investment: (1,059,785) (1,344,396)
Group companies, associates and business units (154,047) (28,042)
!i’roperty, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment property and financial 5.6.9.12 (905,738) (1.316,354)
investment

Proceeds from disposal: 364,275 140,305
Group companies, associates and business units 324,008 38,601
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment property and financial 569.12 40267 101,704
investment

Other cash flows from investment activities: 184,208 235,703
Other amounts received/(paid) relating to investment activities 184,208 235,703
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (157,499) 600,295
Proceeds and (payments) relating to equity instruments: 18 - -
Purchases - -
Disposals - -
Proceeds and (payments) relating to financial liability instruments: 20 98,215 989,181
Proceeds from issues 2,279,596 2,251,206
Repayments and redemptions (2,181,381) (1,262,025)
Principal payments for operating leases 7 (81,242) (70,951)
Dividends and returns on other equity instruments paid 18 (115,889) (209,466)
Other cash flows from financing activities (58,583) (108,469)
Other amounts received/(paid) relating to financing activities 12,23 (58,583) (108,469)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (40,179) 12,010
NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 258,543 431,210
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 17 2,148,615 1,717,405
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END 17 2,407,158 2,148,615
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END

Cash on hand and at banks 17 2,218,454 1,934,036
Other financial assets 17 188,704 214,579
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END 2,407,158 2,148,615

(*) Re-stated.

Accompanying Notes 1 to 37 and the annandirae ars an intaoral nart nf tha rancnlidatad financig] statements for 2020.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 OF ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Consolidated Group)

1.- Group activities

Acciona, S.A. (“the Parent Company” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries integrate the Acciona
Group (“Acciona” or the “Group”). Acciona, S.A.’s registered office and headquarters are in
Alcobendas (Madrid) at Avenida de Europa 18.

The Acciona Group companies operate in several sectors of economic activity, including most
notably:

- Energy includes the electric business, encompassing the promotion, construction, operation and
maintenance of renewable generation facilities and the sale of the energy produced. All the
electricity generated by Acciona Energia is renewable.

- Infrastructure:

- Construction: includes infrastructure construction activity, as well as turn-key projects for
power generation plants and other facilities.

- Concessions: including the exploitation of mainly transport and hospital concessions.

- Water: including the activities relating to the construction of desalination plants, water
and wastewater treatment plants, as well as the management of the entire water cycle, an
activity that covers from the initial water collection to its treatment, including desalination,
to its purification and return to the environment after use. It also operates concessions for
services related to the entire water cycle.

- Services: includes urban mobility activities such as rental of all types of vehicles, analysis,
design and implementation of energy efficiency and renewable improvement projects in
all types of energy-consuming facilities, as well as facility services activities, airport
handling, waste collection and treatment and logistics services, among others.

- Other activities include the business of Real Estate, business related to fund management and
stock market brokerage, wine production and other businesses.

The accompanying notes include Note 29 “Segment Reporting”, which includes detailed information
on the assets, liabilities and operations carried out in each of the business activities developed by
Acciona Group.

Acciona, S.A.'s shares are listed on the SIBE (Madrid, Barcelona, Valencia and Bilbao stock
exchanges).
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2.- Regulatory framework for the energy division

Spain

Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 was published on 12 July, whereby urgent measures to guarantee the
financial stability of the electricity system were adopted. This Royal Decree-Law introduced
substantial changes in the applicable legal and economic framework and repealed, among others,
Royal Decree 661/2007 of 25 May 2007 and Royal Decree 6/2009 of 30 April 2009, governing the
remuneration framework supporting renewable energies for most of the Corporacion Acciona
Energias Renovables Group’s power generation facilities located in Spain.

This framework defines that, in addition to the remuneration for the sale of electricity generated
valued at market prices, facilities can receive a specific remuneration comprising a term per unit of
power installed (investment remuneration), covering, where appropriate the investment costs for a
standard facility that cannot be recovered through electricity sales and an operating term (operation
remuneration) that covers, where applicable, the difference between operating costs and the revenue
from the participation of that standard facility in the market.

To calculate this specific remuneration, for each standard facility, the following items are considered
throughout its regulatory lifetime and with respect to activities conducted by an efficient and well-
managed company:

a) The standard revenue from the sale of the energy generated valued at market production price.
b) Standard operating costs.
¢) The standard value of the initial investment.

The aim of these parameters is not to exceed the minimum level necessary to cover the costs that
enable the facilities to compete on a similar level with the rest of the technologies on the market and
make it possible to obtain a reasonable profit. This reasonable profit should be similar, before tax, to
the average profit of ten-year Government Bonds on the secondary market after applying an
appropriate differential. The first additional provision of Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 set the
appropriate differential for those facilities covered by the premium-based economic system at 300
basis points, without prejudice to a possible review every six years.

Law 24/2013 was published in December 2013, replacing Law 54/1997 on the Electricity Sector,
which provides a framework for the new situation, making the figure of special regime disappear and
introducing the figure of specific remuneration, establishing the criteria for defining the reasonable
profit of the facilities.

Royal Decree 413/2014 of 6 June was published on 10 June 2014 to regulate the activities of
electricity generation from renewable energy sources, co-generation and waste. As a follow-up to the
same, final Ministerial Order IET 1045/2014 was issued on 20 June 2014 and published in the Central
Government Gazette on 29 June 2014. This Order contained the final remuneration parameters
applicable to all renewable energy facilities, whether already in existence or planned for the future.
The resulting new model defines the remuneration of assets applicable from 14 July 2013, as a
consequence of Royal Decree Law 9/2013.



As established in Royal Decree 413/2014, remuneration parameters for standard facilities may be
reviewed at the end of each regulatory period lasting six years, except for the regulatory useful life
and standard value of the initial investment. Revenue estimates from energy sales are reviewed at the
end of each regulatory half period lasting three years regarding the specific renewable facility
remuneration scheme. The first regulatory half period ended on 31 December 2016.

In December of the same year, the Minister of Energy, Tourism and Digital Agenda forwarded to the
CNMC the Order Proposal updating remuneration parameters for renewable facilities, cogeneration
and waste for the next regulatory half period, 2017-2019. This Proposal updated pool projections for
that period and included adjustment values for market price variations from previous years, which
are compensated over the remaining useful life for facilities as appropriate. On 22 February 2017,
Order ETU/130/2017 was published and dated 17 February showing the final remuneration
parameters for standard facilities applicable to certain electricity production facilities from renewable
energy sources, cogeneration and waste, for the purpose of their application to the regulatory half-
period which began on 1 January 2017.

In 2019, the main novelty consisted of the approval of Royal Decree Law 17/2019 of 22 November,
which adopted urgent measures required to adapt the remuneration parameters affecting the electricity
system, and which responded to the process of thermal power plants discontinuing operations. The
main points affecting the Corporacion Acciona Energias Renovables Group were as follows:

a) The value of the reasonable return applicable to the specific remuneration system for the
period 2020 - 2025 (inclusive) was updated (7.09%).

b) The owners of facilities with premium remuneration at the time of the 2013 cutback are
allowed to maintain the rate of return set in the first regulatory period (7.398%) until 2031,
waiving the right to continue with or initiate new legal or arbitration proceedings against the
regulations, as well as any possible compensation arising therefrom, i.e., those resulting from
the repeal of the premium scheme.

c) The approval deadline for the parameter Order was extended until 29 February 2020.
This new regulatory amendment allows the Group to maintain the reasonable rate of return until 2031.

On 31 December 2019, the first regulatory period ended, according to Royal Decree 413/2014. Thus,
on 28 February 2020, Order TED/171/2020 was published updating the remuneration parameters for
standard facilities applicable to certain electricity production facilities from renewable energy
sources, cogeneration and waste, for the purpose of its application to the next regulatory half period
(2020-2022) and which is retroactive in nature establishing the start date as 1 January 2020.

In addition to the aforementioned regulations, Law 15/2012 on tax measures for energy sustainability
impacted all electricity production facilities in Spain since 2013, including the Group's facilities. In
relation to the Corporacion Acciona Energias Renovables Group’s electricity production facilities, all
of them were subject to the value added tax applied to electricity production, corresponding to a 7%
levy on energy sales revenues. Moreover, that law established a levy on the use of inland waters for
the electricity production. This levy accounted for a 22% tax on the economic value of the electricity
produced, with a 90% tax reduction for installations of less than 50 MW of power and pump stations.
Lastly, Law 15/2012 also established a dual tax on solar thermal plants: on the one hand, the Law
eliminated the incentives for power produced using fossil fuels and, on the other, it introduced a tax
of 0.65 euros per GJ of gas consumed.



On 10 June 2017, Royal Decree-Law 10/2017 was published in the BOE dated 9 June and applied
urgent measures seeking to alleviate the drought impact on certain hydrographic basins and amended
the consolidated text of the Water Law, approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2001 of July 20,
which, among other measures, amends the levy for the use of inland waters for the production of
electricity established in Law 15/2012. The new levy, applicable as of 10 June 2017, taxes the
economic value of the electricity produced at 25.5%, with a 92% tax reduction on facilities of less
than 50 MW of power and 90% of the tax on pump stations.

In October 2018, Royal Decree-Law 15/2018 related to urgent measures for energy transition and
consumer protection was published in the BOE on 5 October which includes the temporary
"suspension" of the Electricity Production Value Added Tax during the last quarter of 2018 and the
first quarter of 2019. For the ACCIONA Group's Energy division, this translates into a lower tax
charge of around 22 million euros. Finally, on 22 July 2020, the Ministry of Ecological Transition
and Demographic Challenges published order TED/668/2020 in the Official State Gazette which,
among other rules, establishes a reimbursement procedure for the amount suspended by the Electricity
Production Value Added Tax for those facilities with specific remuneration through tax assessments
in the last quarter of 2020 for each of the applicable companies so that, as of 31 December 2020, there
is no outstanding amount left for this concept.

Almost all the facilities owned by companies belonging to the Corporacién Acciona Energias
Renovables Group and operating in the Spanish market, operate freely in the market selling energy
to the "pool" through the company Acciona Green Energy Developments, S.L., an entity belonging
to the Group and acting solely for intermediation purposes.

In 2015, the Resolution dated 18 December 2015 was published by the Secretary of State for Energy
laying down the criteria for participating in the adjustment services system and approving certain
testing and operating procedures for its implementation as per Royal Decree 413/2014 of 6 June
regulating the electricity production activity from renewable energy sources, cogeneration and waste.
This Resolution has been applicable from 10 February 2016 and allows renewable facilities
considered eligible and that pass the qualification tests established for each of these services to
participate in the system adjustment services, receiving the corresponding revenues.

Since that date, Corporacion Acciona Energias Renovables has participated with all its renewable
assets in the technical restrictions market. In addition, in 2016 it began to participate in the tertiary
regulation and deviation management markets, with a total of 3,372 MW of wind power enabled by
the REE (Red Eléctrica de Espaia).

Circular 4/2019 was published in November 2019 amending the remuneration methodology for the
electrical system operator as well as the prices to be passed on to agents for financing. For the Group,
this new methodology led to a reduction in revenues of around 1.3 million euros per year.

Order ETU/1133/2017 dated November 21 was published in the Official State Gazette on 23
November 2017 amending Order IET/2013/2013 of 31 October which regulates the competitive
mechanism for the allocation of the interruptibility demand management service applicable in 2018.
This Order modifies the availability service, reducing the application period to the first half of 2018
and excluding all hydraulic facilities from its scope. In addition, Order TEC/1366/2018 of 20
December established electricity access tolls for 2019 while partlally repealing regulations governing
the availability service which effectively aboli * "~ norn rds.
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The CNMC published Circular 3/2020 on 24 January 2020 which establishes the calculation
methodology for electricity transmission and distribution tolls and eliminates tolls on electricity
generation established up to that time of 0.5 € MWh. The impact on the Group is estimated annual
savings of approximately 6.5 million euros.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and exclusively in the context of the state of alarm, Royal
Decree-Law 11/2020 of 31 March published in April 2020 adopted additional urgent social and
economic measures to address COVID-19 which enabled flexibility mechanisms to supply electricity
for SMEs and self-employed individuals. The effects of these measures have had a very limited
impact on the Group, mainly in the marketing business due to the temporary suspension of some
supply contracts and the temporary postponement electricity bill payments, which will be recovered
after the end of the state of alarm.

Subsequently, in June 2020, Royal Decree-Law 23/2020 of 23 June approved energy and economic
improvement measures following the COVID-19 pandemic. One of the most relevant points included
in this regulation is the drive given to renewable energies, laying the foundations for a new
remuneration framework for future installed capacity through competitive mechanisms, which will
coexist with the current specific remuneration regime and which will gradually disappear with the
end of the regulatory life established for the MW installed with the right to this remuneration.

The end of 2020 is marked by the approval of the implementing regulations of Royal Decree-Law
23/2020. Royal Decree 960/2020 was published in November 2020, regulating the legal and
economic regime of renewable energy for electricity production facilities, based on the long-term
recognition of a price for energy. Order TED/1161/2020 dated 4 December regulates the first auction
mechanism to grant an economic regime for renewable energy and is published in December while
establishing an indicative timetable for the period 2020-2025. A minimum target of 3,000 MW is set
for 2020.

The call for the first auction to grant the economic regime for renewable energies under the provisions
of this Order, with the specific details thereof, is set out in the Resolution of 10 December 2020, of
the Secretary of State for Energy. This first auction was held on 26 January 2021 for a quota of 3,000
renewable MW, with two minimum reserves of at least 1,000 MW in wind and 1,000 MW in solar
photovoltaic and for which the Grupo Corporacién Acciona Energia Renovables presented a total of
329.5 MW attributable to 79.5 MW in wind and 250 MW in solar photovoltaics.

On 28 January 2021, the Resolution of 26 January 2021 of the Directorate-General for Energy and
Mining Policy was published in the Official State Gazette, resolving the first auction held to grant the
economic regime for renewable energies under the provisions of Order TED/1161/2020 dated 4
December; in this order, various companies of the Group were granted 106.6 MW in solar
photovoltaics that the Group will incorporate into the portfolio of projects for construction and
subsequent operation in the coming years.



United States

The “Renewable Portfolio Standard” (RPS) is a market policy freely established by some states which
requires that a minimum proportion of the electricity supply comes from renewable sources. The
percentages vary between states, with the majority being between 20% and 30% of the supply from
2020 to 2025. The implementation of it is usually done using Renewable Energy Credits (RECs), a
system of tradeable certificates that verify that a kWh of electricity has been generated from a
renewable source. At the end of a certain year, the electricity generators must have sufficient
certificates to cover their annual quota, and sanctions will be applied in the event of non-compliance.

The Production Tax Credits (PTCs) grant the electricity generated with a tax deduction during the
first 10 operating years for an amount per MWh which is adjusted annually based on the CPI
(regulated by the “Energy Policy Act”).

In 2005, Congress established a 30% ITC (Investment Tax Credit) initially applicable to solar energy
projects, although access to other technologies would later be made available with the issuance of the
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018.

In 2009, a law was adopted according to which the companies that could access the PTC regime could
receive ITC in exchange, or alternatively, could receive payment equivalent to 30% of the investment.

These tax incentives have always needed to be renewed annually, with the associated uncertainty, but
in December 2015 a long term extension of the PTC and ITC was approved, for both wind and solar
photovoltaic energy, with a gradual decrease in the incentive. In wind, which had the option of
choosing compensation through PTC or ITC, the PTC decreases by 20% each year until 2020, which
ends with a 0% incentive and, in the same way, the ITC is also progressively reduced until it is
eliminated in 2020. In the case of solar PV energy, 30% of the ITC is maintained until 2020 (31
December 2019), from when it will begin to decrease until it is set at 10% after 2022. The milestone
that determines the time frames is the start of construction.

In May 2016, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) clarified what it considers as “start of construction”
for wind projects, which can comply with both the defined “beginning of the physical work” or with
a “safe harbor” for a certain minimum expense (5%). This matter was confirmed in the
implementation guidance issued by the IRS in June 2018.

The possibility of receiving PTC or ITC has been extended for wind technology throughout 2020.
The PTC was permitted to "qualify” in 2020 for an even higher PTC value (158/MWh, 60% of the
original) compared to 2019 ($10/MWh, 40%) and is granted again for a 4-year period to commission
the facility. With regards to the ITC, for which the PTC is allowed to be eligible as an alternative, the
PTC would account for 18% of CAPEX by 2020 (40% of the 2016 value) instead of 12% in 2019
(60% of the 2016 value).

President Trump, before the end of his term, signed The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 on
27 December 2020. This standard allows the extension of the ITC and PTC scheme for 2021. For the
wind business in general terms, it extends the programme under the same conditions applicable for
2020; however, a gradual decline of the ITC incentive which started for 2020 projects is extended for
the years 2021 and 2022.



There is also another tax benefit in the form of the facility owner’s right to take advantage of the
accelerated depreciation in most of the capital assets (Modified Accelerated Cost Recovery -
MACRSs), which can be fiscally transferred to an average depreciation period of five years. This
benefit has no expiration date.

In 2019, progress was made to develop policies that promote the use of energy storage technologies.
The FERC issued Order 841 in 2018 which requires that all Regional Transmission Operators (RTOs)
and Independent System Operators) (ISOs) make changes to market rules so that energy storage can
become part of all the services. It also requires that market operators consider the physical and
technical characteristics of a storage unit on market operations. This order was transposed to various
markets in 2019: in December 2018 the six RTOs and ISOs made proposals to comply. States have
begun to set storage targets in their climate and energy laws (e.g., Virginia has set a target of 3,100
MW by 2035). Laws are also being discussed and passed at the federal level, such as the one passed
in 2019 establishing a research programme, a demo programme and a technical assistance
programme.

In 2020, the problem caused by the new 30% tariff on imported solar panels, imposed in January
2018, has continued. Certain measures announced throughout the year have eased the tension. For
example, these tariffs are expected to decrease by 5% each year, the first 2.5 GW of imported cells
are exempt each year, and there are certain innovative products.

Mexico

Until December 2013, the generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electrical energy was
reserved exclusively to the Federal Government through the Federal Energy Commission (FEC). The
only options for the sale of renewable energy were Independent Energy Production (electricity
generation plants that sell their production directly to the FEC) or Self-Sufficiency Contracts
(electricity generation plants that sell their production to a load centre plant which has a certain
ownership percentage of the generation plant).

On 18 December 2013, a constitutional reform introducing significant changes to the Mexican energy
model was published, leading to the market to open up and accepting greater private participation.
The new Law on the Electricity Industry (LEI) published on 11 August 2014 defines these substantial
changes to the electricity sector: it reduces the role of the State in the sector, which is limited to
operating the system and to providing transmission and distribution services; the legal separation of
activities is imposed; a wholesale electrical market is created which is operated by the National Centre
for Energy Control (CENACE), the bids for which will be based on costs, and establishes an
obligations system for generators to cover with Clean Energy Certificates (CECs). In addition,
auctions for Electricity Coverage Contracts will take place to cover the supply to Basic Services
Users. Clean energy, power and CEC electricity coverage contracts are assigned in the Long-Term
Auctions. With regards to the existing contracts from the previous law, the LEI contemplates their
continuity.
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The first market bases were published in 2015 and must be re-evaluated every 3 years. In January
2016, the Energy Secretary (SENER) published a resolution authorising operations to start in the
short-term market in the different interconnected systems, and the National Centre for Energy Control
started the Day-Ahead Market (DAM) operations. To date, the DAM and the Real-Time Market
(RTM) are still in the first stage of their operation, and the implementation of the hour-ahead market
has not yet begun. Also, in February 2017 the Power Balancing Market was opened, which determines
the price that supports the capacity of the previous year, the volume and the total amount. It is an
annual and ex-post market.

2018 was the first year with CEC obligations, and the certificates had to be delivered until 5% of the
electricity sold was reached. The CEC Requirements were published in March 2019, corresponding
to the Obligation Periods 2020, 2021 and 2022, (7.4%, 10.9% and 13.9%, respectively) that
complement the one published in 2016 for 2019 (5.8%).

To date, three long-term auctions have been held, two in 2016 and one in 2017. The latter already
included a clearing house, potentially allowing the participation of suppliers different to the FEC. In
2018, CENACE announced the fourth long-term auction for the purchase and sale of energy, capacity
and CECs and for which the first draft was published in March 2018. The prequalification and
registration of prospective buyers and the submission of prequalification applications for offers was
carried out in August 2018. In December 2018, with the arrival of President Lopez Obrador, it was
announced that they would be suspended, and they were cancelled in January 2019.

In addition, the Executive announced that it would review contracts signed with private companies
under previous auctions and other mechanisms and cancelled the development of relevant
investments to improve the electric transmission system at the national level. As of the closing date
of these financial statements, a new auction date remains unclear.

The last PRODESEN (Development Programme of the National Electrical System) published by the
Energy Secretary for the period 2019-2033 estimates that by 2033 clean power generation will
correspond to 35% of the total generation.

The Agreement was published on 28 October 2019 amending the Guidelines that establish the criteria
to grant CECs, which extends the possibility of CECs to be generated for the Federal Electricity
Commission's (CFE) plants prior to the LEI (Legacy Power Plants), which would ultimately allow
several facilities of the Group to benefit from this right. However, this legislation implies the risk of
an oversupply of CEC’s in the market as the number of qualifying facilities increased. Several
generators rejected this measure and requested its repeal. As a result, the regulation has been
suspended until the final ruling is published, which is expected to take place during 2021.

Despite this, the main problem persisted, as the CFE could generate certificates with its old power
installations and therefore increase supply and reduce the demand for certificates — with the CFE as
the main consumer — exerting a bearish pressure on its price to almost zero. The measure affects both
operating facilities and plants in development, as it substantially changes their revenue forecasts.

Using the COVID-19 crisis as an excuse, on 29 April 2020 CENACE proposes a series of
modifications that seek to increase the reliability of the system. A resolution suspending new clean
energy projects tests indefinitely (without reference to other technologies) was published. In addition,
and on the grounds of technical failures in the electrical system, the delivery of manageable plants
(fossil fuels mainly) is guaranteed over renewable generation.



The SENER published the Reliability, Safety, Continuity and Quality Policy for the National
Electricity System on 15 May 2020 which limited the market share of renewable generation
companies, discouraging the delivery of renewables because they are "intermittent". The direct
impact is the delay of 28 wind and photovoltaic installations planned for 2020 and 2021 in Mexico.
The Supreme Court cautiously suspended this Reliability Policy until a final judgment is issued.

Similarly, at the end of May 2020, the Energy Regulatory Commission (CRE) increased the
transmission rates, a measure provisionally suspended by a Federal Court, leaving open a legal
strategy for companies to claim the return of transmission benefits.

Finally, both measures (the Reliability Policy and changes in porting fees) were definitively
challenged by the Economic Competition Commission (COFECE) and are now suspended. The
sector is awaiting the final ruling,

Chile

Chile amended Law 20.257 (Non-Conventional Renewable Energy Law) of 2008 through Law
20.698 (Law 20/25) in 2013 and established a renewable target on the total power generation of 20%
in 2025. The electricity companies must prove that a percentage of the energy that is removed from
the system comes from this type of technology. The law also imposes a penalty for breaching the
obligation amounting to 0.4 UTM per MWh that is not accredited (approximately 32 USD) and, for
companies that continue to breach the obligation in the three years following the first breach, the
penalty will be 0.6 UTM/MWh (approximately 48 USD). Likewise, it indicates that those companies
that have administrated renewable energy in excess of their obligation may transfer that excess to
other companies. However, a green certificate market has not been established, but bilateral contracts
are signed between the parties concerned and the transfer certification is made through an authorised
copy of the contract.

To achieve the target set, Law 20/25 also introduced annual auctions according to the demand
forecasts from the Government for the next three years. The introduction of the auctions provides the
possibility to offer differentiated blocks (Block A for the night, Block B during solar hours, and Block
C for the remaining hours of the day), facilitating renewable energy.

In April 2016, an Exempted Resolution was published, approving the preliminary tender report which
established the values of regulated consumptions (in GWh-year) that should be put out to tender in
the next few years. The volumes included a decrease in the energy demand forecast of approximately
10% between 2021 and 2041, which implies a significant decline of what was going to be auctioned
that year (from the 13,750 GWh expected to approximately 12,500 GWh).

Up to date 3 auctions have been held. The Chilean Government’s objective is for electrical
distribution companies to have long-term supply contracts, of 20 years from 2024, in order to meet
the consumptions of their customers subject to price regulation.

The Transmission Law was published in July 2016, which establishes a new electrical power
transmission system and creates a single independent coordinator entity for the national electrical
system. Work on the associated regulations began after the Transmission Law was approved.

In 2017, the regulation to implement a tax on CO2 emissions was approved (Exempted Resolution
659), which involves all generation companies, including non-polluting companies, making
compensation payments.



The Complementary Services Regulation and the Coordination and Operation of the National
Electrical System Regulation were withdrawn from the comptroller in 2018, delaying the approval
process. In January 2018, the Chilean Government stated that the country would not build new coal-
fired power plants without carbon capture and started discussions to replace the existing capacity with
cleaner sources.

Following the riots that started in October 2019 and the various economic and political impacts
derived from them, the government approved to freeze the tariffs through a transitional mechanism
to stabilise electricity prices for customers subject to tariff regulation (Law No. 21.185 dated
2/11/2019), which affects the public service distribution concessionaires who will only be able to
transfer pre-defined prices to their regulated customers, and to the generators that supply these
suppliers, who will be subject to an adjustment factor during a transitional period.

Australia

The “Renewable Energy (Electricity) Amendment Bill 2015 was approved in June 2015, which
introduced stability to the green certificate system, setting the Renewable Energy Target (RET) to
33,000 GWh in 2020 and eliminating the target revisions that took place every two years (which are
now to be done every four). The first and only case to date of a company that chose to pay a penalty
for non-compliance rather than delivering the corresponding renewable electricity certificates took
place in January 2017.

The RET scheme encourages additional electricity generation from renewable sources to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in the electricity sector and consists of two schemes: "Large-scale
Renewable Energy Target" and "Small-scale Renewable Energy Target". In the case of the Large-
scale Renewable Energy Target, the regulator has reported that there are sufficient approved projects
to meet and exceed the 2020 target of 33,000 GWh of additional renewable electricity. The target
ends in 2020 but will remain at 33,000 GWh until the plan ends by 2030 and these certificates can
continue to be used. The "Small-scale Renewable Energy Target" scheme will also end in 2030.

The state of South Australia suffered a large blackout in 2016 and, since that incident, the storage and
integration of renewables has become very important in the country. The final version of the
government-commissioned Finkel report was published in June with the aim of providing
recommendations to increase the safety and reliability of the system and reduce emissions according
to the Paris Agreement objective. The report stresses the importance of making the energy transition
in an orderly, studied, and planned manner. It also outlines a continuation of the RET after 2020: the
Clean Energy Target (CET), which would be based on a green certificate system that would include
Renewable Energy Schemes (RES) and technologies that comply with an emissions limit. Some of
the recommendations in the report were approved at the Coalition Joint Party meeting on 20 June,
although the Minister of Energy announced that the implementation of the CET would be analysed
later more calmly.

In March 2017, the state of South Australia launched the SA Energy Plan, which mentions battery
storage in the renewable technologies fund and aims to provide large-scale storage for renewable
energy.



In April 2017, the Clean Energy Council published a recommendations report to eliminate regulatory
barriers to storage and to improve the security of the network (‘“Policy and regulatory reforms to
unlock the potential of energy storage in Australia”), and in August the Victoria Government
announced a renewable energy auction of 650MW, which is part of the Victorian Renewable Energy
Auction Scheme (VREAS) to achieve the Victorian Renewable Energy Target (VRET) of 40% of
renewable energy by 2025.

In October 2017, the government announced the National Energy Guarantee (NEG) scheme to replace
the current CET after 2020. Its key aspects are: i) Reliability Guarantee (obligation for retailers to
contract a certain amount of “dispatchable” energy - from coal, gas, hydraulic or stored); (ii)
Emissions Guarantee (obligation for retailers to reach an emissions intensity level in their energy
portfolio that supports Australia’'s commitment to reduce emissions by 26% by 2030). The Energy
Security Board published a document on the design of the NEG which was presented at the Energy
Council meeting in April 2018. Australia would then suspend the draft bill which contains the
emission reduction target for the NEG.

Victoria’s Labor Government, elected in November 2018, promised to increase the state’s renewable
target to 50% by 2030, based on the already legislated target of 40% by 2025. In this regard, the
Renewable Energy (Jobs and Investment) Amendment Bill 2019 (Vic) which introduces the VRET
2030 objective into the legislation was approved on 30 October 2019. In the absence of a federal
renewable target beyond 2020, investment will continue to be driven by states.

3.- Basis of presentation of financial statements and consolidation principles

3.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2020 of the Acciona Group were prepared
by the Directors of Acciona, S.A. at the Board of Directors Meeting held on 18 February 2021, and
disclose a true and fair view of the Group’s equity and consolidated financial position at 31 December
2020, and of the results of its operations, the changes in the consolidated statement of recognised
income and expenses, the changes in the consolidated equity and the consolidated cash flows in the
years then ended.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the applicable regulatory financial
reporting framework and, in particular, with the principles and criteria contained in the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, in conformity with
Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council. The main mandatory
accounting principles and measurement criteria applied, the alternative treatments permitted by the
relevant legislation in this respect, and the standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force at
the date of formal preparation of these financial statements are summarised in Note 4.

At 31 December 2020, there were no material changes in accounting estimates or accounting policies;
nor any corrections of errors, except for those described in Note 4.4. with regards to extending the
useful accounting lives of wind and photovoltaic assets treated as a change in estimate, and the change
in the classification of the profit/(loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method,
distinguishing between analogous and non-analogous activities, both changes adopted with effect
from 1 January 2020.



These financial statements were prepared on the basis of the accounting records kept by the Parent
Company and by the other Group companies. These records include the figures relating to the joint
ventures, groupings and consortia considered to be joint operations, in which the Group companies
have interests, through the proportional integration system, that is, through the inclusion, based on
the percentage of participation, of the assets, liabilities and operations of these entities, after asset and
liability balances are appropriately eliminated, as well as operations in the year.

The figures for the previous year are presented in these financial statements for comparative purposes
in addition to the figures for 2020. They are presented for each of the items in the consolidated balance
sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement
of recognised income and expense, consolidated statement of changes in total equity and notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The figures for the previous year were obtained by consistently
applying IFRS standards as adopted by the EU, although the considerations described in Note 4.4
must be taken into account.

The Acciona Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2019 were approved by the shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting on 28 May 2020. The consolidated financial statements for 2020 of
the Acciona Group have not yet been approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
However, the Parent Company’s Board of Directors considers that the aforementioned financial
statements will be approved without any material changes.

Unless otherwise indicated, these consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
euros. Foreign operations are accounted for in accordance with the policies established in Notes 3.2.g)
and 4.2.q).

3.2 Consolidation principles
a. Consolidation methods

The companies over which control under IFRS 10 is exercised were fully consolidated. These
companies are considered subsidiaries and they are listed in Appendix I, and their consolidation
method is explained in section d. of this same note.

Entities managed jointly with third parties as a joint operation are proportionately consolidated
when it is concluded that the participating company has direct rights and obligations for its share
percentage in the assets and liabilities under the agreement. This is explained in section e. in this
note. The agreements that confer joint control by means of separate vehicles are listed in Appendix
II.

Finally, the companies not included in the paragraphs above, where significant influence is held
in their management or they are a joint venturer or associate, and they are measured by applying
the equity method (Appendix III). This consolidation method is explained in section f. in this note.

b. Eliminations on consolidation

All material balances and effects of the transactions performed between the subsidiaries and the
associates and joint operations, and intra-subsidiaries, were eliminated on the consolidation
process.



The gains on transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s share percentage in their capital. Exceptionally, and according to applied standards,
the profit and loss on internal transactions with Group companies, jointly controlled entities, or
associates in connection with certain concession-related activities were not eliminated.

Uniformity

The accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been adapted to the Group's accounting policies
for transactions and other events which, being similar, have occurred in similar circumstances. All
material adjustments required to adapt the separate financial statements of subsidiaries to
International Financial Reporting Standards and/or make them compliant with the Group’s
accounting policies were considered in the consolidation process.

The separate financial statements of subsidiaries used in the consolidation process refer to the same
reporting date and the same reporting period as those of the Company.

. Subsidiaries

“Subsidiaries” are defined as companies over which the Company has the capacity to exercise
effective control; control is generally seen in three elements that must be complied with: having
authority over the subsidiary, exposure or the right to variable returns from its investment, and the
ability to use said authority to influence the amount of these returns.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the Company.
Accordingly, all material balances and effects of the transactions between consolidated companies
were eliminated on consolidation.

When a subsidiary is bought, its assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values, as provided for in IFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any excess in the
cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identified net assets is recognised as goodwill. If the
cost of acquisition is lower than the fair value of the identifiable net assets, the difference is
credited to profit or loss on the acquisition date.

For subsidiaries acquired during the year, only the results generated from the date of acquisition
are included in the consolidation. Similarly, for subsidiaries disposed of during the year, only the
results generated up to the date of disposal are included in the consolidated income statement.

The interest of non-controlling shareholders is stated at their proportion of the fair values of the
assets and liabilities recognised.

The share of third parties in the equity of investees is disclosed within the Group’s equity under
“Non-Controlling Interests” on the consolidated balance sheet. Similarly, their share in the profit
or loss for the year is disclosed under “Non-Controlling Interests” on the consolidated income
statement.

Joint operations
Joint arrangements are deemed to be ventures in which the investee is managed by a Group

company and one or more unrelated third parties, all of whom act jointly to manage the relevant
activities and where strategic decisions require the unanimous consent of the parties.



Joint arrangements where the investing company is deemed to hold direct rights and obligations
for its share percentage in the assets and liabilities under the arrangement are considered joint
operations.

The financial statements of joint operations are proportionately consolidated with those of the
Company, and therefore, the aggregation of balances and subsequent eliminations are only applied
in proportion to the Group's share in the assets and liabilities, as well as in the income and expenses
of these operations, provided that they are considered to be carried out with third parties or with
the other operator.

The assets and liabilities relating to operations are recognised on the consolidated balance sheet
classified according to their specific nature. Similarly, the income and expenses from joint
operations are disclosed in the consolidated income statement on the basis of their nature.

If the percentage share in a joint operation were to increase, then the previous share in the
individual assets and liabilities is not subject to revaluation, provided the Group maintains joint
control.

Associates and joint ventures

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures (joint
arrangements giving a right to the net assets of the arrangement) are recorded by applying the
equity method, i.e., at the Group’s share in net assets of the investee, after taking into account the
dividends received therefrom and other equity eliminations.

The value of these investments on the consolidated balance sheet implicitly includes, where
applicable, the goodwill arising on their acquisition.

When the Group’s investment in associates results in losses and the net investment is reduced to
zero, only the additional amount from constructive obligations assumed by the Group, if any, in
the subsidiaries are accounted for by the equity method and are recognised under Non-current
provisions caption on the consolidated balance sheet.

In order to disclose results uniformly, the Group’s share in the profit or loss of associates is
disclosed on the consolidated income statement before and after tax.

The Group recognises the results of joint ventures and associates which carry out activities that
fall under the Group’s operating purpose and in which the Group has a high level of involvement
under Equity method profit/(loss)- analogous, which is considered an integral part of operating
profit or loss. The results of investments in joint ventures and associates which are more closely
related to financial investments for the Group as they carry out activities unrelated to the Group’s
business are recognised under operating profit or loss, specifically under Equity method
profit/(loss)- non-analogous.
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g. Translation differences

The assets and liabilities of Group companies with a functional currency other than the euro are
translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date as part of the
consolidation process. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Capital and reserves are translated at the
historical exchange rates. Translation differences, if any, are classified as equity. Such translation
differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the year in which the investment is made
or disposed of.

h. Changes in the scope of consolidation

Appendices I, II and III to the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain relevant
information about the Acciona Group’s subsidiaries, joint operations, and associates and joint
ventures, and Appendix IV shows the changes in consolidation scope in the year.

On 19 December 2019, the Group signed a number of agreements for the acquisition of certain
Lendlease Engineering contracts, personnel and equipment with the aim of strengthening its
presence in the Australian construction market. The last novation of these agreements occurred in
June 2020, incorporating a number of previous terms and conditions seeking to facilitate the
transaction and which were fulfilled on 9 September 2020.

Since then, the Group has 100% control of a Group of Companies through its 100% equity owned
Acciona Infrastructure Asia Pacific Pty Ltd, whose holding company is Acciona CEI Australia
Holdings Pty Ltd (formerly Lendlease and Construction Holdings Pty Ltd and, hereinafter, the
“CEI Subgroup"), for an adjusted price according to the terms of the contract of 123.1 million
euros (200.4 million AUD).

This price includes (i) the delivery of a cash amount to be paid in three instalments (September
2020, January 2021 and June 2021), (i1) an initial price adjustment for the difference between the
consolidated equity estimated at the effective acquisition date and the reference equity agreed in
the contract and (iii) a post-price adjustment based on the review of the estimated equity at the
effective date of acquisition (this adjustment is under negotiation in accordance with the time limits
set out in the contract).

After this transaction, the Group acquires control of the CEI Subgroup which will now be fully
consolidated. The breakdown of the business combination is as follows (in thousand euros):

CEI Subgroup 123,104 100% 133,120 (10,016)
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euros (16 million AUD) was recognised under Other gains and losses in the accompanying
consolidated income statement. According to applicable accounting regulations, the allocation of
assets and liabilities identified shall be deemed final once twelve months have passed since the
acquisition date.

The main assets and liabilities contributed by the CEI Subgroup are identified in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements. The revenue and the after-tax result provided by the Subgroup
from the effective acquisition date until 31 December 2020 amounted to 226,725 thousand euros
and 9,031 thousand euros, respectively.

The functional currency of the CEI Subgroup is the Australian dollar.

In April 2020 an additional percentage was acquired in the subsidiary "ATLL Concessionaria de
la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. (in liquidation)", increasing its ownership stake in this company
from 88% to 100%. The purchasing price of these shares amounted to 22.8 million euros (see note

18(f)).

On 10 April 2020 an agreement was entered into whereby Acciona Energia, S.A., Bestinver, S.A.
and AXA Investment Managers-RealAssets (AXA) acquired from Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co.
LP (KKR) their 33.33% stake in the share capital of Acciona Energia Internacional, S.A. (AEI, the
parent of the Acciona Energia Internacional subgroup), as well as the assignment of KKR's creditor
position vis-a-vis AEI in relation to the subordinate loan agreement. Pursuant to this transaction,
Acciona Energia acquires an 8.33% stake in the share capital of AEI, Bestinver, S.A. a 5% stake,
and AXA a 20% stake, and KKR assigns 25% of its creditor position in the subordinate loan to
Acciona Energia, 15% to Bestinver, and 60% to AXA. The effectiveness of the transaction was
subject to compliance with certain precedent conditions.

The AEI Subgroup was created in 2014, with most of the international power generation assets
presented by the Acciona Group at the time. The AEI Subgroup currently owns 52 renewable
energy assets, mainly wind farms, with a combined generating capacity of 2.3 GW in countries
such as the United States, Mexico, Canada, Italy, Portugal, South Africa and Australia. The 5%
stake acquired by Bestinver is classified under the non-current asset held for sale as it will be part
of the Bestinver Infra venture capital fund and which is currently in a placement period (see note
15). With the 8.33% acquired by Acciona Energia, the Acciona Group increases its effective
shareholding in AEI from 66.66% to 75% and this subsidiary becomes part of its Spanish tax
consolidation group.

The transaction was completed on 29 December 2020, once the precedent conditions had been
met, at which point Acciona Energia received the shares representing 8.33% of AEI's share capital
in exchange for a consideration of 113,230 thousand euros which includes the subrogation of the
subordinate debt and for which payment was made on 4 January 2021. Bestinver received 5% of
the shares in exchange for a consideration of 67,938 thousand euros which includes the
subrogation of the subordinate debt and for which payment was also made on 4 January 2021 (see
note 23).

As a result of this transaction between shareholders and without a change of control, there has
been a decrease in the Group's consolidated reserves of 34 million euros. In addition, the amount
attributed to non-controlling interests has decreased by 15 million euros (see note 18(f)).






4.-

On 1 December 2020 Nordex, SE, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, carried out an
accelerated capital increase of 10% through a bookbuilding process excluding subscription rights,
for a total of 10,668,068 shares at a price of 18.90 euros per share. Acciona, S.A. subscribed 5.76%
of the capital increase, i.e., an amount lower than its previous ownership interest. As a result of
this dilution, the shareholding in Nordex, SE decreased from 36.41% to 33.63%.

On 17 December 2020, Kley Operaciones, S.L.U. acquired 100% of the shares held by the
subsidiary Acciona Inmobiliaria, S.L.U. in Acciona Campus Espafia, S.A., the main Group
company in which the rental property activity related to student residences located in Spain was
concentrated. The sale price amounted to 30,850 thousand euros, and the Group recognised gains
of 17,327 thousand euros under Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets
line in the income statement (see Note 6).

On 28 December 2020, the rights recognised in favour of the Executive Chairman and Executive
Vice-Chairman of Acciona, S.A. under the Long-Term Incentive Plan were settled through the
delivery of 3,564,794 shares representing 81.47% of the share capital of Grupo Bodegas Palacio
1894, S.A.U. valued at 26,357 thousand euros (32,350 million euros at 100% ownership interest)
(see Note 36). At 31 December 2020, the 18.53% of the share capital of Bodegas Palacio 1894,
S.A.U. retained by the Acciona Group was classified under Other non-current financial assets in
the consolidated balance sheet at a fair value amounting to 5,995 thousand euros (see Note 12). A
loss of 10,700 thousand euros on this transaction was recognised under the Impairment and
profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets line in the income statement.

In financial year 2020 no significant additions to or removals from the scope of consolidation took
place, apart from those described in the paragraphs above.

Main accounting policies

4.1 Adoption of new standards and interpretations issued

Standards and interpretations applicable in this financial year

In

financial year 2020, the following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations came into

force and, accordingly, were considered in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Approved to be applied in
the EU

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS i
’ Am ts to IFRS 9, IAS 39 IFRS 7 rel
39 and IFRS 7 —Interest Rate endments to IFRS 9, and related to interest rate 1 January 2020

Benchmark Reform - Phase [ benchmark reform.
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Amendment to 1AS 37 - Onerous The amendment explains that the direct cost of fulfilling a contract includes 1 January 2022

Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of

Contract other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

Im

20.

Amendment to IAS 1 - Presentation  Classification of liabilities as current and non-current. 1 January 2023

of Financial Statements

With respect to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, the IASB continues to develop
guidance and amendments to address the various accounting considerations that may arise when the
various IBORs are amended or replaced by others. In this second phase, certain practical solutions,
clarifications and exceptions are proposed, aimed at reflecting financial assets and liabilities and lease
liabilities in the financial statements of the entities as a consequence of the IBOR reform in the best
possible way.

The Group’s Directors do not anticipate any significant impacts to arise as a result of this amendment
and those summarised in the table above that have been published but not yet in force, since they are
applications to be applied prospectively, amendments related to presentation and disclosure issues
and/or matters that are not applicable or significant to the Group’s operations.

4.2 Measurement standards
The main measurement standards applied in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the

European Union, were as follows:

A) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes are stated on the consolidated balance sheet at the lower of acquisition or
production cost less any accumulated depreciation and their recoverable amounts.

The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity
or efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised. Acquisition cost
includes professional fees and borrowing costs incurred during the construction period that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use. The finance
costs relating to this funding used for the construction of these assets are entirely capitalised during
their construction.

The acquisition cost of elements acquired before 31 December 2003 includes any asset revaluations
permitted in the various countries to adjust the value of the property, plant and equipment due to the
effect of inflation until that date.



The balances of assets retired as a result of modernisation or for any other reason are de-recognised
from the related cost and accumulated depreciation accounts.

In-house work done by the Group on its own property, plant and equipment is recognised at
accumulated cost (external costs plus internal costs calculated on the basis of in-house consumption
of warehouse materials and manufacturing costs incurred).

Upkeep and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated income statement for the year in which
they are incurred.

Generally, depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition
cost of the assets less their residual value; it is understood that the land on which the buildings and
other structures stand has an indefinite useful life and, therefore, is not depreciated. The Group
companies depreciate their property, plant and equipment over the years of estimated useful life. The
annual depreciation rates applicable in 2020 were as follows:

Buildings 2-10%
Wind farms (*) 3.33%
Biomass plants 3%-4%
Solar PV (%) 3.33%

Machinery 5%-40%

Computer hardware 13%-30%

Other PPE 6%-33%

(*) Modified following the change in the estimated usefid life described in Note 4.4.
The consolidated companies recognise in the books any loss that may have occurred in the registered

value of these assets due to their impairment, and the heading Impairment and profit/(loss) on
disposal of non-current assets on the consolidated income statement is used as balancing entry. The
criteria to recognise the impairment losses of these assets and, if appropriate, the loss recoveries that
might occur subsequently are detailed in section F) in this note.

B) Investment property

“Investment Property” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet reflects the net accumulated
depreciation and value adjustments of the land, buildings and other structures held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation on their sale.

Investment property is stated at acquisition cost and for all purposes the Group applies the same
policies as those used for property, plant and equipment of the same kind.

Each year the Group determines the fair value of its investment property with the support of appraisals
undertaken by independent experts (st



Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the years of estimated useful life of
the assets, which constitutes the period over which the Group companies expect to use them. The
average depreciation rate is as follows:

Buildings held for rental 2%-3%

C) Leases and right of use

A contract is deemed to contain a lease if there is a transfer of the right to manage the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for a consideration.

Right of use identified in lease contracts:

At the date the lease contract begins, a liability will be recorded for the future lease payments,
including any highly probable extensions, and an asset that will represent the right to use the
underlying asset for the duration period of the lease.

The Group measures lease liabilities at the present value of the lease payments outstanding at the start
date. The Group discounts lease payments at the appropriate incremental interest rate unless it can
reliably determine the lessor's implicit interest rate.

Outstanding lease payments are comprised of fixed payments, less any receivable incentive, variable
payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured at the index or rate applicable at the start
date), amounts expected to be paid for residual value guarantees, the price to exercise a purchase
option (when it is highly probable that it will be exercised), and lease termination indemnity
payments, provided that the lease term reflects this termination option. Variable payments that have
not been included in the initial measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they accrue.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group values the lease liability by increasing it by the accrued
interest expense, decreasing it by the payments made, and re-estimating the carrying amount for lease
modifications or to reflect updates to fixed payments.

The asset for the right of use is initially recognised at the present value of the lease liability, plus any
lease payments made on or before the start date, less incentives received, initial direct costs incurred,
and an estimate of decommissioning or restoration costs to be incurred. Assets are recognised under
Right of use caption and are classified according to the nature of the underlying asset.

Assets for the right of use are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see section F). These assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of
the contract, except when the useful life of the asset is shorter or when it is estimated that a purchase
option will be exercised on the asset, in which case the amortisation period is the same as the useful
life of the asset.



The liability is revalued, generally as an adjustment to the asset for the right of use, whenever there
are subsequent modifications to the contract, such as in the following cases: changes in lease term
period, changes in future lease payments due to index rate update as defined in the contract, changes
in future payments, changes in the expectation to exercise the purchase option, among others. In the
event of changes that alter the lease term period or substantial amendments to the scope of the lease,
the liability under the contract is revalued considering an updated discount rate. The Group records
re-estimates of the liability as an adjustment to the asset for the right of use until it is reduced to zero
and subsequently in profit or loss.

There are two exceptions to the recognition of the lease asset and lease liability for which the expense
is recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis:

- Low-value leases: These refer to insignificant leases, i.e., contracts for which the underlying
asset is attributed a value as new that is not significant. The Group has set the upper limit of this

value at 5,000 euros as a reference amount.

- Short-term leases: Contracts with an estimated rental term of less than 12 months.

Lessor's perspective:

The accounting for lease contracts where the Group acts as lessor has been affected by the following
criteria:

Finance leases:

In those lease contracts where the lessor retains ownership of the asset and transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of the leased asset, the lessor must derecognise the asset subject to lease and
recognise an account receivable for an amount equal to the net investment in the lease at the start
date, considering the implicit interest rate in the contract.

A lessor shall recognise finance income over the term of the lease on the basis of a pattern that reflects
a constant rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease.

D) Goodwill

As part of the process carried out in a business combination, the existing excess between the given
consideration, plus the allocated value to non-dominant stake holdings and the net amount of the
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair value are recognised as goodwill. If
applicable, the shortcoming after measuring the given consideration, the value assigned to non-
dominant stake holdings and the identification and measurement of the net amount of the assets
acquired at fair value is recognised in the profit/(loss).

The assets and liabilities acquired are measured provisionally at the date on which control is acquired,
and the resulting value is reviewed no later than one year from the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is not amortised, but impairment is verified each year, or before then if there are signs of a
potential loss of asset value. For these purposes, the goodwill resulting from the business combination
is assigned to each of the Cash-Generating Units (CGU) or groups of CGUs that belong to the Group
which are expected to benefit from the svneroiec af the comhinatinn  After the initial recognition,
goodwill is measured at its cost less the a



Goodwill generated internally is not recognised as an asset. Goodwill is only recognised when it has
been acquired for a consideration and represents, therefore, a payment made by the buyer in
anticipation of future economic benefits from assets of the acquired company that are not individually
and separately identifiable and recognisable.

Goodwill arising in the acquisition of companies with a functional currency other than the euro is
translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the consolidated balance sheet.

E) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are subsequently
measured at cost less, if applicable, any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over those useful lives using methods similar
to those used to depreciate property, plant and equipment. The amortisation rates, which were
determined on the basis of the average years of estimated useful life of the assets, are basically as
follows:

Development 20%

Computer software 10-33%

The consolidated companies recognise any impairment loss in the carrying amount of these assets
with a charge to Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets on the consolidated
income statement. The criteria to recognise the impairment losses of these assets and, if appropriate,
the loss recoveries that might occur subsequently are detailed in section E) in this note.

Research and development

As a general rule, expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which
it is incurred, except in development projects in which an identifiable asset is created, it is probable
that the asset will generate future economic benefits, and the development cost of the asset can be
reliably measured. The Group’s development expenditure, basically related to the development of
renewable energy generation projects, is only recognised as an asset if it is probable that it will
generate future economic benefits and the development cost of the asset can be reliably measured.

Development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Unless the
aforementioned conditions for recognition as an asset are met, development expenditure is recognised
as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.



Administrative concessions

The “Administrative Concessions” line item includes concessions that have been acquired by the
Group for a consideration (in the case of concessions that can be transferred) or for the amount of the
expenses incurred to directly obtain the concession from the Government or from a public agency.
Administrative concessions are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the concession.
Appendix V details the duration (and, therefore, amortisation) of the main concessions.

Intangible assets in infrastructure projects

Since the adoption of IFRIC 12, the Acciona Group has included under “Intangible Assets in
Infrastructure Projects”, the intangible assets associated with concessions in which the demand risk
is borne by the operator. This type of concession-related activity is carried out through investments
mainly in transport and water supply infrastructure that is operated by subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities or associates (concession operators), the main characteristics being as follows:

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases.

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or regulates the
service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which it should be provided.

- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the concession tender
specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this period, the assets are handed over
to the concession grantor, and the concession operator has no right whatsoever over these assets.

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from the users or
through the concession grantor.

The most significant accounting criteria applied by the Acciona Group in relation to these concession
arrangements are as follows:

- Capitalisation of the borrowing costs incurred during the construction period and non-capitalisation
of the borrowing costs subsequent to the entry into service of the related assets.

- Amortisation of the concession infrastructure on a straight-line basis over the concession term.

- Concession operators amortise these assets so that the carrying amount of the investment made
including the obligations to restore the infrastructure or maintain it with a certain service capacity is
zero at the end of the concession term.

- Practically in all the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was carried out by
Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding to infrastructure
construction or upgrade services are recognised at their gross amount (recognition of the sales and
the cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements of the Acciona Group), with the construction
margin recognised on the consolidated financial statements. If construction were not carried out by
the Group itself, this fact would be taken into account for the purpose of recognising sales and the
cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements. No adjustment was necessary in 2020 for this
reason.



Computer software

The acquisition and development costs incurred in relation to the basic computer systems used in the
Group’s management are recognised at acquisition cost with a charge to Other Intangible Assets on
the consolidated balance sheet.

Computer system maintenance costs are recognised with a charge to the consolidated income
statement for the year in which they are incurred.

F) Impairment of non-current assets

At the closing date of each balance sheet, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, investment property, right of use, intangible assets and investments accounted
for using the equity method to determine whether there is any indication that those assets might have
sustained an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the value impairment loss (if any). When the asset does
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the smallest identifiable cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but in such a way that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in previous years.

At the end of each reporting period, goodwill is reviewed for impairment (i.e., a reduction in its
recoverable amount to below its carrying amount) and any impairment is written down with a charge
to Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets on the consolidated income
statement. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill do not reverse in a subsequent period.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The methodology
used to estimate the recoverable amount varies on the basis of the type of asset in question. For these
purposes, the Group considers three types of assets: investment property (assets held to earn rentals
and inventories), goodwill of companies and assets of a limited duration (primarily assets related to
electricity production and infrastructure concessions); the way they are measured is explained below.

Real estate assets (assets held to earn rentals and inventories)

The Group’s real estate investment relates to properties earmarked for lease. The recoverable amount
of assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The Group determines the
recoverable amount of its real estate investment based on estimates of its fair value at 31 December
2020 according to the valuations performed by the independent experts Savills Aguirre Newman
Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. (report issued on 8 February 2021) and CB Richard Ellis, S.A.
(report issued on 5 February 2021).
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These valuations are carried out in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards issued by
the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) of Great Britain and the International Valuation
Standards (IVS) issued by the International Valuation Standards Committee (IVSC).

Assets of this type are measured by updating the rents at rates that vary on the basis of the type of
building earmarked for lease and of the specific characteristics of the buildings. In proportion to their
carrying amounts, the assets held to earn rentals may be classified as residential for rent (9.44%),
offices (66.70%) and other property (23.86%) (shopping centres, car parks, etc.). The updated rates
used for each type of property lie in the following ranges: residential property for rent (5.50%-6.50%),
offices (7.25%-9.25%) and other property (8-12%).

The method used to calculate the market value of real estate investment consists in preparing ten-year
forecasts for the income and expenses of each asset that will then be updated at the balance sheet date,
through a market discount rate. The residual amount at the end of the tenth year is calculated by
applying a yield rate (“exit yield” or “cap rate”) from the forecasts for net income in the eleventh
year. The market values thus obtained are analysed through calculation and analysis of the
capitalisation of the yield implicit in these values. The forecasts are used to reflect the best estimate
of income and expenses of property assets over the future. The yield rate and the discount rate are
defined according to the domestic market;

To calculate the fair value of land and developments in progress, the residual method was applied.
This method consists in estimating the value of the final product on the basis of the comparison or
cash flow discount method, and the development costs are taken off this value. Development costs
include the cost or urbanisation, construction, fees, levies and all the costs needed to carry out the
projected development. Revenue and costs are distributed over time according to the development
and sale periods estimated by the appraiser. The update rate used is the rate representing the annual
average yield of the project, and the external financing that would be required by an average developer
for a development of the characteristics of the development analysed is not taken into account. This
update rate is calculated by adding the risk premium (determined through the risk assessment of the
development, with the type of property asset to build, its location, liquidity, term of construction and
amount of required investment being taken into account) to the free-risk rate. Where in the
determination of the cash flows external financing is taken into account, the risk premium mentioned
above increases depending on the percentage of said financing (leverage level) attributed to the
project and on the usual interest rates on the mortgage market.

The comparison or cash flow discount method has been used to calculate the fair value of completed
developments.

The carrying amount of real estate assets is adjusted at the end of each year through the corresponding
provision for impairment, in order to adjust the carrying amount to the recoverable amount or to the
net realisable value, when this value has been lower than the carrying amount, adjusting the provision
with additions or reversals.

Valuation adjustments for asset impairment and the reversal thereof when the circumstances giving
rise to them no longer exist, are recognised as an expense or an income, respectively, in the income
statement.



Based on the valuations made, the corresponding impairment losses are recognised, where
appropriate, under Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets in the consolidated
income statement in the case of Investment Property and Non-Current Assets (see note 6) and under
Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods and Work in Progress and Procurements in the case of
Inventories.

Goodwill of companies

The impairment test takes into consideration the cash-generating units’ overall capacity to generate
future cash flows.

The Group prepares five-year forecasts of projected cash flows, including the best available estimates
of income and expenses for the cash-generating units, using industry projections, past experience and
future expectations.

Also, a residual value is calculated on the basis of the normalised cash flows of the last year of the
forecast, to which a perpetuity growth rate is applied which under no circumstances exceeds the
growth rates of previous years or those estimated in the long term for the market where the cash
generating unit is located. The cash flow used to calculate residual value takes into account the
replacement investments required for the continuity of the business in the future at the estimated
growth rate.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is used to discount cash flows, which will depend on
the type of business and on the market in which it is carried on. The average leverage during the
projection period is taken into account in the calculation of the WACC.

Other items calculated include: i) the effective cost of borrowings, which takes into account the tax
shield that they give rise to, based on the average tax rates in each country; and ii) the estimated cost
of equity based on a risk-free interest rate, (generally using as a benchmark the return on a ten-year
bond in each market), the beta (which factors in the leverage and the risk associated with the asset),
and a market premium (estimated on the basis of historical yields on the capital markets). These
variables are tested using recent studies on premiums required at long term, comparable companies
in the industry and rates habitually used by investment banks.

At 31 December 2020 the impairment tests implemented did not show the need to register impairment
(see Note 8).

Non-current assets in projects

This line item includes concession assets and projects with a limited duration and characterised by
having a contractual structure that makes it possible for the costs incurred in the project to be clearly
determined (both at the initial investment stage and at the operating phase) and the related revenue to
be reasonably projected over the life of the project (basically property, plant and equipment from the
energy division). They are registered under property, plant and equipment (mainly under electric
power generation facilities) and in other intangible assets under intangible concessions (IFRIC 12).



To calculate the value in use of assets of this nature, the expected cash flows are projected until the
end of the life of the asset. Therefore, it is assumed that there is no terminal value. This is possible
because:

- These assets have a stable long-term production, thus making it possible for reliable long-term
estimates to be made.

- There are extensive series of historical data from reliable external sources.

- In connection with the energy division, the estimates of prices used by the Acciona Group for
revenue determination are based on a profound understanding of the market and on the analysis
of the parameters determining pool prices.

- The operating costs are known and with scant variability.

- A large part of them have been financed with long-term debt with known and constant terms and
conditions that make it possible to forecast easily the necessary outflows of cash to cover the debt
service.

The projections include both known data (based on project contracts) and basic assumptions
supported by specific studies performed by experts or by historical data (on demand, production, etc.).
Also, macroeconomic data, such as inflation, interest rates, etc., are projected using data provided by
independent specialist sources (e.g., Bloomberg).

The discounted cash flows are those obtained by the shareholder after servicing the debt. The rates
used to discount these cash flows are based on the cost of equity, and in each case they include the

business risk and the sovereign risk relating to the location where the operation is being performed.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Acciona Group has not recognised significant amounts in the
accompanying consolidated income statement for this concept.

G) Non-current receivables and other non-current assets

Non-Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Assets includes the non-current trade receivables,
mainly from public authorities, and withholdings from trade receivables, mainly from the
Infrastructure division.

Since the Acciona Group adopted IFRIC 12, it has recognised financial assets associated with
concessions in which the grantor guarantees the payment of a quantified or quantifiable amount, and
where, therefore, the operator does not bear any demand risk under Non-Current Receivables and
Other Non-Current Assets.

This type of concession-related activity was carried on through investments mainly in transport, water
supply and hospital infrastructure operated by subsidiaries and joint operations, the detail being as
follows:

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases.

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or regulates the
service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which it should be provided.



- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the concession tender
specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this period, the assets are handed over
to the concession grantor, and the concession operator has no right whatsoever over these assets.

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from the users or
through the concession grantor.

The most significant accounting criteria applied by the Acciona Group in relation to these concession
arrangements are as follows:

- The account receivable is recognised as the amortised cost at the present value of the amount
receivable from the grantor, applying the effective interest rate.

- Borrowing costs are not capitalised, either during the construction phase or after the concession has
started to operate.

- The Group recognises interest income earned on the financial asset, even during the construction
phase, by applying the effective interest rate of the financial asset. This income is recognised as
revenue.

- Practically in all the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was carried out by
Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding to infrastructure
construction or upgrade services are recognised at their gross amount (recognition of the sales and
the cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements of the Acciona Group), with the construction
margin recognised on the consolidated financial statements. If construction were not carried out by
the Group itself, this fact would be taken into account for the purpose of recognising sales and the
cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements.

- There is no depreciation or amortisation charge since the arrangements constitute a financial asset.
- Annual billings are divided into a financial asset component recognised on the balance sheet (and

therefore not recognised as sales) and the component relating to services provided, which is
recognised under operating income in accordance with IFRS 15.

H) Financial instrument disclosures

The qualitative and quantitative disclosures in the financial statements regarding financial
instruments and risk and capital management are detailed in the following notes:

- Financial asset and liability categories, including derivative financial instruments and accounting
policies are detailed in Note 4.2 ).

- Classification of the fair value measurements of financial assets and for derivative financial
instruments consistent with the fair value hierarchy established in IFRS 7, detailed in Note 4.2 I).

- Disclosure requirements (qualitative and quantitative information) regarding the capital are
detailed in Note 17 g).

- Risk management and accounting policies are detailed in Note 21.

- Derivative financial instruments and hedge 2~~onntine are detailed in Nnte 77
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- Transfers from equity to the year’s profit or loss, for settlements of hedging derivative financial
instrument transactions, are detailed in Note 30.

) Financial instruments

Non-current and current financial assets excluding hedging derivatives

The financial assets held by the Group companies are classified into two large blocks based on the
subsequent valuation method:

- Financial assets carried at amortised cost: corresponds to assets that are expected to retain
contractual cash flows, which consist of collecting principal and interest (if applicable). These items
are measured at amortised cost, which is basically the initial market value, less principal repayments,
plus the accrued interest receivable calculated using the effective interest method. The types of assets
comprised by this classification are:

- Loans and receivables: those originated by the companies in exchange for supplying cash,
goods or services directly to a debtor. This category is comprised practically in its entirety
of the assets recorded under the heading Trade and other accounts receivable.

- Cash and other cash equivalents: this item comprises both cash and bank deposits on
demand. Other cash equivalents comprise short-term investments, with maturity under
three months, and not subject to a relevant risk of change in value.

- Other financial assets: assets with fixed or quantifiable payments and fixed maturity. The
Group has the intention and ability to hold them from the date of purchase to the date of
maturity. The category mainly includes loans granted to companies consolidated by the
equity method, short-term deposits, and deposits and guarantees.

The Group has determined an impairment model based on the forecast losses arising from defaulting
payments during the next 12 months or throughout the entire lifespan of the financial instrument to
be recognised, depending on the nature of the financial asset and the evolution of its associated credit
risk from the initial recognition date. The model is carried out by considering the division, type of
customer (public entity, large customers, etc.) as well as the historical experience regarding credit
risk over the past five years. No significant amount for this concept has been recognised in the income
statement for 2020.

- Financial assets designated at fair value with changes in profit or loss: these relate to securities
acquired that are not classified in the other categories; almost all of them relate to financial
instruments in the capital of companies. They are measured:

- At cost when there is insufficient information to measure them reliably or when there is a wide
range of valuations and the associated derivative instruments must be settled in order to deliver
these instruments. However, if a reliable measurement of the asset or contract is available to the
Group at any time, the asset or contract is recognised at the fair value at that time, with gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income if the instrument is designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

- At fair value when it is possible to determine it reliably, either through the market price or, in the
absence thereof, using the price established in recent transactions or the discounted present value
of the future cash flows. The gains and los re recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement.
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In financial years 2020 and 2019, no financial assets were reclassified among the categories defined
in the foregoing paragraphs.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are booked using the trade date method.

Transfers of financial assets

Although the objective of the Group's business model is to hold financial assets to receive contractual
cash flows, this does not mean that the Group holds all instruments to maturity. Therefore, the Group's
business model is to hold financial assets in order to receive contractual cash flows even when these
assets have been sold or are expected to be sold in the future. The Group considers this requirement
to be met, even if the sales are due to an increase in the credit risk of the financial assets. In all other
cases, at the individual and aggregate level, sales must be insignificant, whether frequent or
infrequent.

The Group de-recognises financial assets when they expire or when the rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have also been transferred,
such as in the case of firm sales, factoring of trade receivables in which the company does not retain
any credit or interest rate risk, sales of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at fair
value and the securitisation of financial assets in which the transferor does not retain any subordinate
financing or award any kind of guarantee or assume any other kind of risk.

Bank borrowings other than derivatives

Interest-bearing bank loans are recognised at the amount received, net of direct issue costs. Borrowing
costs, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are recognised
in the income statement on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method and are added to
the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which
they arise. In subsequent periods, these obligations are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

In specific cases where liabilities are the underlying of a fair value hedge, they are measured,
exceptionally, at fair value for the portion of the hedged risk.

The Group writes off financial liabilities or part of them when the obligations contained therein
expire, or when it is legally released from the main responsibility of the liability through a legal
process or by the creditor.

The exchange of debt instruments between the Group and the counterparty, or substantial
modifications to the liabilities that had initially been recognised are accounted for as the cancellation
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability, whenever the
instruments have substantially different terms.

The terms are considered to be substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
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If the exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability then any costs
or fees incurred are recognised as part of the profit or loss. Otherwise, the cash flows are discounted
at the original effective interest rate and any difference with the previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the costs or fees adjust the carrying amount of the liability
and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

The Group recognises the difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part
thereof) extinguished or transferred to a third party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed in the income statement.

With regards to the North American wind farms, facilities with tax credits (PTC or ITC) and
accelerated tax depreciation (see Note 2.2), investment partners are incorporated through financing
structures known as "Tax Equity Investments" with a share in the economic interest of the projects
obtained from the use of the tax credits thereof and until a rate of return is obtained on the investment
made, which depends on the performance of the projects themselves. The investment thus held is
treated by the Group Corporaciéon Acciona Energias Renovables as a debt with related entities.
Repayment is made as the tax benefits are realised, as well as with a minority percentage of the annual
free cash generated by the project. The expected maturity of these debts is associated with the tax
credit obtained by the facility. In the case of the Group’s North American projects, all of them have
PTCs and an expected maturity of 10 years.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Because of its activities, the Group is mainly exposed to the financial risks derived from fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts and
interest rate swap contracts to hedge these exposures. Electricity price and supply hedging
transactions are also arranged. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of
Directors.

Accounting policies:

Derivatives are recognised at fair value (see measurement bases below) at the consolidated balance
sheet date under Other Current Financial Assets or Other Non-Current Financial Assets if positive
and under Current or Non-Current Bank Borrowings if negative. Changes in the fair value of
derivative financial instruments are recognised on the consolidated income statement as they arise. If
the derivative has been designated as a hedge which is highly effective, it is recognised as follows:

- Fair value hedges: these hedges are arranged to fully or partially reduce the risk of fluctuations
in the value of assets and liabilities (underlying) recognised on the consolidated balance sheet.
The portion of the underlying for which the risk is being hedged is measured at fair value, as is
the related hedging instrument, and changes in the fair values of both items are recognised under
the same heading on the consolidated income statement. At 31 December 2020, the Group had
no fair value hedges.
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- Cash flow hedges: these hedges are arranged to reduce the risk of potential changes in the
cash flows associated with the interest payments on non-current floating-rate financial liabilities
and exchange rates. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised, with respect to the
effective portion of the hedge, in Reserves - Value Adjustments under equity. The cumulative
gain or loss recognised in this heading is transferred to the consolidated income statement to
the extent of the impact of the underlying (resulting from the risk hedged) on the consolidated
income statement; thus, this effect is netted off under the same heading on the consolidated
income statement. Gains or losses on the ineffective portion of the hedges are recognised
directly on the consolidated income statement.

The Group has also entered into energy purchase and sale contracts for which it performs an analysis
in order to classify them for accounting purposes appropriately. In general, contracts that are settled
net in cash or another financial instrument are considered to be derivative financial instruments and
are recognised at fair value at the end of the year as indicated above, except for those that were entered
into or are held for the purpose of receiving or supplying energy in accordance with the Group's
purchase, sale, or utilisation requirements based on the Group's strategy.

Other derivative financial instruments

As part of their operations, Group companies seek to enter into long-term energy sales contracts for
part or all of the energy produced by their facilities in order to partially or fully mitigate the risks of
fluctuations in sales at market prices. These contracts, depending on the regulatory framework in
which the facilities operate, can be entered into based on a physical supply of energy (the so-called
Power Purchase Agreements or PPAs), or through financial derivatives in which the underlying asset
is the market energy price and the difference between this and the contractually established
production price is settled on a regular basis.

In this case, the Group recognises the market value of the derivative provided that it cannot be
demonstrated that it has been contracted in accordance with the energy sales strategy established for
the facility. In addition, it is designated as a hedge or with changes recognised through the income
statement depending on the characteristics of the contract and the manner in which it is settled.

Group policy on hedging:

At the inception of the transaction, the Group designates and formally documents the hedging
relationship and the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Hedges are only recognised
when formal documentation regarding the hedging relationship is available and all effectiveness
requirements are met; this means that if an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument is proven to exist, if the credit risk effect does not dominate value changes arising
from this economic relationship, and if there is a reason for the hedge through which the hedging
relationship is the same as that arising from the amount of the hedged item without any imbalance
between the weights of the hedged item and hedging instrument which could cause the hedge to be
ineffective.

The Group does not hedge projected transactions, but rather only firm financing commitments. If the
cash flows from projected transactions were hedged, the Group would assess whether such
transactions were highly probable and whether they were exposed to changes in cash flows that could
ultimately affect the year’s profit or loss.
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If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or projected transaction results in the recognition of a
non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the
associated gains or losses on the derivative that had previously been recognised in equity are included
in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. For hedges that do not result in recognition of a
non-financial asset or liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement in
the same period as that in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss.

Compound financial instruments with multiple embedded derivatives
The Acciona Group does not have any compound financial instruments with embedded derivatives.
Measurement and adjustment for credit risk bases

The Group measures derivatives not traded on an organised market (OTC) by discounting the
expected cash flows and using generally accepted option pricing models based on spot and futures
market conditions at the closing date of every financial year. The fair value calculations for each type
of financial instrument are as follows:

- Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future settlements between fixed and floating interest
rates to their present value, in line with implicit market rates, obtained from long-term interest rate
swap curves. Implicit volatility is used to calculate the fair values of caps and floors using option
pricing models.

- Foreign currency hedging and option contracts are valued using the spot exchange rate, forward
spots of the related currencies and, in the case of options, implicit volatility until maturity.

In order to determine the adjustment for credit risk in the measurement of derivatives at 31 December
2020, the technique applied was based on a calculation through simulations of the total expected
exposure (incorporating both the actual and the potential exposure) adjusted in line with the
probability of default over time and the severity (or potential loss) assigned to the Company and to
each of the counterparties.

More specifically, the adjustment for credit risk was obtained from the following formula:

EAD * PD * LGD, where

- EAD: Exposure at default at any given moment. This is calculated through the simulation of
scenarios with market price curves.

- PD: Probability of default, i.e., that one or other of the counterparties may fail to fulfil its
payment obligations at any given moment.

- LGD: Loss given default with a severity = 1- (recovery rate): The percentage of losses
ultimately occurring when one of the counterparties has incurred default.

The total expected exposure from derivatives is obtained using observable market inputs, such as
interest curves, exchange rates and volatilities depending on the market conditions on the
measurement date.

Pag



The inputs applied to obtain credit risk and counterparty risk (determination of the probability of
default) are mainly based on the application of credit spreads of the Company or other comparable
businesses currently traded on the market (CDS curves, IRR of debt issues). In the absence of credit
spreads of the Company or other comparable businesses and in order to maximise the use of relevant
observable variables, the listed references taken into account are those considered most suitable in
each case (listed credit spread indices). For counterparties with credit information available, the credit
spreads used are obtained from the Credit Default Swaps (CDS) listed on the market.

Furthermore, for the fair value (adjustment of the market value to the bilateral credit risk),
consideration has been given to the credit enhancements in terms of collateral or guarantees when
determining the severity rate to be applied to each position. Severity is considered to be unique over
time. If there are no credit enhancements in terms of collateral or guarantees, a standard market
recovery rate has been applied which corresponds to a senior unsecured debt of 40%. Nonetheless,
this recovery rate would range between 68.45% and 88.40%, depending on the degree of progress in
the project (construction or operation phase), and its geographical area (Western Europe, Eastern
Europe, North America, Latin America, Oceania and Africa), for derivatives contracted under Project
Finance structures.

The measurements at fair value made over the different derivative financial instruments including the
information used for the calculation of the adjustment for credit risk of both the Company and its
counterparty are classified at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy established in IFRS 13 as the inputs
based on prices listed for similar instruments on active markets (not included in level 1), listed prices
for identical or similar instruments on markets that are not active, and techniques based on valuation
models for which all the significant inputs are observable on the market or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

Although the Acciona Group has determined that most of the inputs used to evaluate the derivatives
are at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, the credit risk adjustments use level 3 inputs such as the
credit estimations based on the credit rating or comparable companies to assess the probability of
insolvency for the Company or its counterparty. The Group has assessed the relevance of the credit
risk adjustments for the total valuation of the derivative financial instruments and has concluded that
they are not material.

Trade pavables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value, which does not differ
substantially from their fair value.

Trade payables include unpaid balances to suppliers which are handled through confirming contracts
with financial entities and, in the same way, payments related thereto are classified as transaction
flows, since these transactions do not include either special guarantees given as pledge for the
payments to be made or modifications that change the commercial nature of the transactions.



D Inventories
The Group companies measure their inventories as follows:

- Inthe Construction business, procurements, consisting basically of construction materials located
at the sites of the various construction projects in progress, are measured at acquisition cost.
Semi-finished goods or work in progress to be included in the value of the construction projects
are recognised at production cost.

- Inthe real estate business, land is measured at acquisition cost, plus urban development costs, if
any, purchase transaction costs and borrowing costs incurred from the date of commencement of
the development of the site for its desired use until construction begins, or at their estimated
market value, whichever is the lower. If the building work is halted due to its rescheduling or
other reasons, the borrowing costs cease to be capitalised.

Completed real estate developments pending sale and ongoing developments are valued at
production cost, or the cost of assignment in the event that they come from the collection of
debts, if any, for impairment losses. The cost also includes the financial expenses incurred since
the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use until its completion, which have
been requested by the supplier or correspond to loans or other types of third-party financing,
specific or generic, which are directly attributable to manufacturing or construction. Commercial
costs are charged to the income statement in the year in which they are incurred.

In financial year 2020, the capitalised borrowing costs in inventories came to 2,219 thousand
euros (1,930 thousand euros in 2019) (see Note 30).

- Other inventories are recognised generally at the lower of weighted average cost and net
realisable value. These inventories can, on a residual basis, be measured at FIFO cost.

The Group evaluates the net realisable value of inventories at the end of every year on the basis of
the appraisals carried out by independent experts Savills-Aguirre Newman (report issued on 8
February 2020), and CB Richard Ellis, S.A. (report issued on 5 February 2020) allocating if necessary
provisions for impairment when the properties are found to be overvalued. Where the circumstances
that caused the provision have ceased or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realisable
value due to a change in economic circumstances, the amount of the provision is reversed. The
valuation methods used are detailed in paragraph F) impairment of non-current assets in this note.

Revenue is recognised to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of property developments or property investments (assets that necessarily require a
substantial period of time to be prepared for their intended use or sale), which are added to the cost
of said assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for use or sale, provided that the
market value exceeds the accumulated cost of the asset. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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Current/Non-current classification

On the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within no more than
twelve months are generally classified as current items and those maturing within more than twelve
months are classified as non-current items. However, the companics in the Real Estate business
classify them based on the operation cycle, which is usually greater than one year. The current assets
and liabilities allocated to this division with an estimated maturity of more than twelve months are as
follows:

Inventories 715,565 775.896

Other current liabilities 46,409 122,945

Loans that mature in the short term but whose long-term refinancing is, at the Group’s discretion,
ensured through available long-term credit facilities are classified as non-current liabilities.

K) Treasury stock

At 31 December 2020, Acciona, S.A. held 296,422 treasury shares representing 0.5404% of the share
capital at the time. The acquisition cost of these shares amounted to 22,049 thousand euros. The
acquisition cost of the treasury shares and the gains or losses on transactions 1nvolv1ng them were
recognised directly in equity (see Note 18).

At 31 December 2019, Acciona, S.A. held 398,641 treasury shares representing 0.7267% of the share
capital at the time. The acquisition cost of these shares amounted to 28,633 thousand euros.

L) Termination benefits

Under the legislation for the time being in force, the Spanish companies and certain foreign
companies are required to pay termination benefits to employees dismissed on unfair grounds.

The Group recognises provisions for termination benefits when there is an individual or collective
agreement with the employees or a genuine expectation that such an agreement will be reached that
will enable the employees, unilaterally or by mutual agreement with the company, to cease working
for the Group in exchange for a termination benefit. If a mutual agreement is required, a provision is
only recorded in situations in which the Group has decided to consent to the termination of the
employees when this has been requested by them. In all cases in which these provisions are recognised
the employees have an expectation that these early retirements will take place. In the case of
involuntary termination benefits, the Group is deemed to no longer be able to withdraw the offer once
it has informed the employees affected or the union representatives of the plan.

Termination benefits related to restructuring processes are recognised when the Group has a

constructive obligation, i.e., when there is a detailed formal plan in relation to the aforementioned
processes in which they are identified.
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The Acciona Group companies do not currently have any employee termination plans that have not
been appropriately provisioned in accordance with the regulations in force.

M)  Provisions

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include all the provisions covering present obligations
at the balance sheet date arising from past events which could give rise to a loss for the companies,
certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing. They include all the provisions
with respect to which it is considered that it is more likely than not that the obligation will have to be
settled.

Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the consequences
of the event giving rise to them and are reviewed and adjusted at the close of every accounting period,
are used to cater for the specific obligations for which they were originally recognised. Provisions are
fully or partially reversed when such obligations are extinguished or reduced.

Litigation and/or claims in process

At the close of financial years 2020 and 2019, certain litigation and claims arising from the ordinary
course of operations were in process against the consolidated companies. The Group’s Directors,
taking into account the opinion of its legal advisers, consider that the outcome of litigation and claims
will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements for the years in which they are
settled. Accordingly, they did not deem it necessary to record an additional provision in this respect.

Operating provisions and allowances

These provisions and allowances include costs that have not yet been incurred. The provision for the
cost of completion of construction projects is intended to cover the expenses arising from the date on
which project units are completed to the date of delivery to the client.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

The Acciona Group companies generally do not have any pension plans to supplement social security
pensions. The appropriate provisions are recognised for terminations of permanent site personnel,
except for the group mentioned below.

Certain companies from the Acciona Group entered into or were subrogated to collective agreements
that establish benefits of specific amounts for employees included in such agreements that reach
retirement age, provided that the conditions established in the agreements are met. Some of these
collective agreements also establish a loyalty bonus based on the employee’s length of service at the
companies. The impact of these obligations is not material.

These companies have various pension obligations to their employees. These defined benefit
obligations are basically formalised in pension plans, except as regards certain benefits in kind,
mainly electricity supply commitments, which, due to their nature, have not been externalised and
are covered by the related in-house provisions.
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For the defined benefit plans, the companies recognise the expenditure relating to these obligations
on an accrual basis over the working life of the employees by performing at the consolidated balance
sheet date the appropriate actuarial studies calculated using the projected unit credit method. The past
service costs relating to changes in benefits are recognised immediately on the consolidated income
statement as the benefits are accrued.

The defined benefit plan obligations represent the present value of the accrued benefits after
deducting the fair value of the qualifying plan assets. The actuarial losses and gains arising in the
measurement of both the plan liabilities and the plan assets are recognised directly in equity under
Reserves - Change due to Actuarial Losses and Gains on Pension Schemes.

For each of the plans, any positive difference between the actuarial liability for past services and the
plan assets is recognised under Provisions on the consolidated balance sheet and any negative
difference is recognised under Trade and Other Receivables on the asset side of the consolidated
balance sheet, provided that such negative difference is recoverable by the Group, usually through a
reduction in future contributions.

The impact of these plans on the consolidated income statement is not material (see Note 19).

N) Grants

Government grants related to assets to cover staff re-training costs are recognised as income once all
the conditions attached to them have been fulfilled over the periods necessary to match them with the
related costs.

Government grants related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are treated as
deferred income, are classified under Other Non-Current Liabilities and are taken to income over the

expected useful lives of the assets concerned under Other Income.

0) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured by the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the goods and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related
taxes.

Income and expenses are recognised following the accrual principle, that is, when the actual flow of
goods and services represented by income and expenses takes place, regardless of the time when the
cash or financial flow arising therefrom occurs.

Upon applying IFRS 15, the Group identifies and separates the different commitments when
transferring goods or services referred to in a contract. This implies a separate recognition for each
of the obligations that can be identified individually within the same main contract.

In addition, the Group estimates the price of each of the contracts identified, also considering the
initial agreed contract price, the amount of variable considerations, the time value of money (in cases
that are considered to have a significant financing component), and non-cash contributions.



In cases when the amount is variable, or corresponds to unapproved claims, the amount is estimated
following the approach that best predicts what the Group will have a right to, using an expected value
based on the probability, or the single most likely value is used. This consideration is only recognised
to the extent that it is considered to be highly likely that a significant reversal of the revenue
recognised will not occur once the associated uncertainty has been resolved.

Some of the particular features of the business activities carried on by the Group are detailed below:

Construction business:

Revenue:

Given the type of activity, revenue usually comes from long-term contracts where the start date of
the contract activity and the date of completion of the same generally fall into different accounting
periods, so the initial revenue and expenses estimates may suffer variations that could affect the
recognition of revenue, expenses and results thereof.

The Group recognises construction contract revenue and expenses by reference to the stage of
completion of the activity under contract at the closing date of the balance sheet, determined on the
basis of the examination of the work carried out, or by the percentage of costs incurred in relation to
total estimated costs. In the first case, based on the measurement of the units made, the production of
the period is recorded as revenue and costs are recognised based on the accrual related to the units
performed. In the second case, revenue is recognised in the income statement according to the
percentage of progress in costs (costs incurred versus total costs estimated in the contract), applied to
the total revenue that is considered to be highly likely to be obtained from the project. The latter is
commonly used in markets of Anglo-Saxon influence and contracts without unit prices.

In some circumstances (for example, in the early stages of a contract), the Group may not be able to
reliably measure the fulfilment of a performance obligation, even though the Group expects to recover
the costs incurred to satisfy this performance obligation. In such circumstances, the Group recognises
revenue from ordinary activities only to the extent of the costs incurred until it can reliably measure
the fulfilment of the performance obligation.

In addition, for contracts where it is considered that the estimated costs of the contract will exceed
the revenue derived from same, the expected losses are provisioned against the consolidated income
statement for the year in which they are known.

Ordinary revenue from the contract is recognised considering the initial amount of the contract agreed
with the client as well as any modifications and claims on the same to the extent that it is highly
probable that revenue will be obtained from the same, that it can be reliably measured, and that a
significant reversal will not occur in the future.

It is considered that there is a modification to the contract when there is a client’s instruction to change
the scope of the contract. It is considered that there is a claim on the contract when, due to the client
or third parties, there are costs not included in the initial contract (delays, errors in specifications or
design, etc.) and the contractor is entitled to be compensated for the overrunning costs incurred, either
by the client or by the third party causing them.



These modifications and claims are included as contract revenue when the client has approved the
associated work, either in writing, by verbal agreement or tacitly under normal commercial practices,
i.e., when collection is considered to be highly probable and a significant reversal of the revenue will
not be produced in the future.

In cases when the work has been approved but has yet to be assigned an associated price, or where
approval has not been granted by the client, the Group considers that final approval is highly likely
when they are in an advanced negotiation stage or when there is a technical and/or legal report from
independent experts supporting such work; the amount recognised as revenue under such cases is
estimated according to the definition of “variable consideration” set out in IFRS 15, i.e. using methods
that provide the best prediction of the consideration so that the most likely amount is obtained (single
most likely amount within a range of possible consideration amounts), according to all the
information available (historical, current and expected) that can reasonably be made available, and
only to the extent that it is highly likely that a significant reversal in the amount of ordinary
accumulated revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty related to the variable
consideration is resolved at a later date.

As discussed above, construction contracts are subject to estimates for revenues and costs that need
to be reviewed by project managers as the contracts progress. Any change in estimates for revenue,
expenses and final work results is subject to review by the different Management levels and when
verified and approved, the effect is treated as a change in the accounting estimate in the year in which
it occurs and in subsequent periods, in accordance with the accounting standards in force.

Expenses:

A project’s costs include those directly related to the main contract and to any modifications or claims
on the contract. In addition, they include the costs related to the contracting activity for each contract,
such as insurance, consultancy, design and technical assistance, etc.

Construction contract costs are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e., the costs related to work units
performed and total contract indirect costs attributable to said units are booked as expense.

Costs that relate to future activity on the contract, such as insurance premiums, site installations,
consultancy, design and other initial costs are initially recognised as assets in Inventories, provided
they are considered to be necessary to fulfil the contract and will be recovered by successfully
completing the contract, and are charged to the income statement on the basis of the stage of
completion of the contract.

Machinery removal and site installation dismantling costs, upkeep costs within the warranty period
and the costs, if any, arising in the period from completion of the construction work to the date of
final settlement, are deferred and recognised over the life of the construction project, since they are
considered one more cost of the construction work and they relate both to the completed contract
units and to the future activity on the contract.

As regards the provision for depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in construction
contracts, the assets whose estimated useful life coincides with the duration of the construction work
are depreciated over the term of the contract so that they are fully depreciated upon completion
thereof. For machinery whose useful life exceeds the term of the contract is depreciated systematically
on the basis of the technical criteria stipulated under the various contracts for which it is used and it
depreciates under the straight-line method 1



Late payment interest due to delay in the payment by the client for work certifications are registered,
as financial income, only when they can be reliably measured and their collection is reasonably
guaranteed.

The Group Companies record in the account Executed production pending certification, under Trade
and other accounts receivable, the positive difference between the recognised revenue from a contract
and the amount of the certifications at the origin of the contract. In addition, they record in the account
Advances received on orders, under Trade and other accounts payable, the amount of advance
certifications for various items, including advances received from the client.

Services business revenue:

This business includes a large variety of services rendered, and the associated revenue is recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date, provided the
outcome of the transaction can be reliably estimated.

For every financial year, the Group companies recognise as profit or loss on their services the
difference between production (value at the selling price of the services provided during the period,
as stipulated in the main contract entered into with the client or in amendments or addenda thereto as
approved by the client, or of the services not yet approved but whose recovery is reasonably certain)
and the costs incurred during the year.

Price reviews stipulated under the initial contract signed with the client are recognised as revenue on

an accrual basis, regardless of whether they have been approved by the client on an annual basis, as
they are considered to have been committed to under the contract.

Energy sale revenue:

Electricity sales, along with associated complementary services, are recorded as revenue at the time
it is delivered to the client, the time at which the performance obligations regarding the amounts
supplied during the period are met.

For generation business in regulated markets and in projects with PPA (Power Purchase Agreement),
or long-term energy supply contracts, the energy sale and complementary services have pre-set prices.
For projects in which energy is sold without these kinds of contracts, the energy sale price and the
price of complementary services will vary throughout the project based on the quoted market prices
per MWh (pool) at each moment.

Real estate business revenue:

The Group companies recognise property sale revenue and costs on the date the property is delivered,
since this is considered to be the time when the client obtains control over the asset.

Accordingly, at the date of delivery of the property the Group companies recognise, if appropriate,
the provisions required to cover the contractually stipulated costs not yet incurred in relation to the
asset delivered. These provisions arise from a present obligation of the company, the amount of which
can be reliably estimated and whose settlement will probably give rise to an outflow of resources for
the company.



The Group recognises income from operating leases, net of incentives granted, as income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis of allocation is more
representative because it more appropriately reflects the pattern in which profit from the use of the
asset decreases.

The initial direct costs of the lease are included in the carrying amount of the leased asset and are
recognised as an expense over the lease term using the same criteria as those used for revenue
recognition.

The Group recognises modifications to operating leases as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepayments or deferred payments for the original lease as part of the

lease payments for the new lease.

P) Income tax. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Current tax is the amount payable or recoverable for income tax relating to the consolidated taxable
profit or loss for the year. Current income tax assets or liabilities are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using tax regulations and rates that are
enacted or substantively enacted at the closing date.

Deferred tax liabilities are the amounts payable in the future for income taxes related to taxable
temporary differences, while deferred tax assets are the amounts recoverable for income taxes due to
the existence of deductible temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards or deductions pending
application. For these purposes, temporary differences are defined as the difference between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax base.

Current and deferred income tax are recognised in profit or loss unless it arises from a transaction or
economic event that is recognised in the same or a different year against equity, or from a business
combination.

(1) Recognition of deferred tax liabilities
The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities in all cases except:

» when they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and at the date of the transaction affects
neither accounting profit nor the tax base;

+ those that correspond to differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures over which the Group has the ability to control the timing of the reversal and

it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

(i) Recognition of deferred tax assets



The Group recognises deferred tax assets provided that:

it is likely that there will be sufficient future taxable income to offset them or where tax
legislation provides for the possibility of future conversion of deferred tax assets into a
receivable from the Public Administration. However, assets arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and
at the date of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor tax base are not
recognised;

» they correspond to temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures to the extent that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and future taxable profit is expected to be generated to offset the
differences;

The Group recognises the conversion of a deferred tax asset into a receivable from the Public
Administration when it becomes due under current tax legislation. To this end, a deferred tax asset is
derecognised with a charge to the deferred income tax expense and the account receivable is
recognised with a credit to the current income tax.

Q) Foreign currency balances and transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recognised by applying the exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. During the year, the differences that arise between the
balances translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction and the balances
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of collection or payment are recorded as finance
costs or finance income on the consolidated income statement.

In addition, balances receivable or payable at 31 December of every year denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency are translated at the year-end exchange rates. Translation

differences are recognised as finance costs or finance income on the consolidated income statement.

R) Environment-related activities

In general, environment-related activities are considered to be operations whose main purpose is to
prevent, reduce or redress damage to the environment.

Investments relating to environmental activities are measured at acquisition cost and capitalised as an
addition to non-current assets in the year in which they are made.

Environmental protection and improvement expenses are charged to profit or loss in the year in which
they are incurred, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises.

Provisions for probable or certain liability, litigation in process and outstanding environmental

indemnity payments or obligations of an unspecified amount, not covered by the insurance policies
taken out, are recorded when the liability or obligation giving rise to the indemnity or payment arises.
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S) Discontinued operations and non-current assets and liabilities held for sale

The Group classifies as Non-Current Assets Held for Sale property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, other non-current assets or investments under Investments Accounted for Using the Equity
Method and disposal groups (groups of assets which will be disposed of together with their directly
associated liabilities) for which at the date of the consolidated balance sheet an active programme at
reasonable prices has been started so as to sell them and the sale is expected to be completed within
twelve months from that date.

The Group classifies as discontinued operations the relevant business lines that were sold or otherwise
disposed of or which meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale, including, where applicable,
assets which, together with the business line, are part of the same disposal plan or are classified as
held for sale as a result of acquired commitments. Similarly, companies acquired exclusively with a
view to resale are classified as discontinued operations.

These assets or disposal groups are measured at their carrying amount or their fair value less costs to
sell, whichever is the lower, and depreciation on such assets ceases from the time they are classified
as non-current assets held for sale. However, at the date of each consolidated balance sheet the related
value adjustments are made, as required, to ensure that the carrying amount is not higher than the fair
value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets held for sale and the components of the disposal groups classified as held for sale
are disclosed on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows: the assets as a single line
item called Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and discontinued operations and the liabilities also as
a single line item called Liabilities Held for Sale and discontinued operations.

Profit or loss after tax of discontinued operations is disclosed as a single line item on the consolidated
income statement as Profit/(Loss) after Tax from Discontinued Operations.

There were no discontinued operations at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

T) Eamnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period’s net profit attributable to the parent
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during said period, excluding the
average number of shares of the parent held by the Group companies.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period’s net profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders adjusted by the effect attributable to the dilutive potential ordinary shares by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would have been outstanding if all the potential
ordinary shares have been converted into ordinary shares of the company. For these purposes, it is
considered that the shares are converted at the beginning of the accounting period or at the date of
issue of the potential ordinary shares, if the latter had been issued during the accounting period.

U) Consolidated cash flow statement

The following terms, with the meanings specified, are used on the consolidated statement of cash
flows, which was prepared using the ind;



- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are taken to be changes in
the value of short-term, highly liquid investments.

- Operating activities: the main revenue-producing activities of the Company and other activities
that are not investing or financing activities. Based on the profit before tax from continuing
operations, in addition to the adjustment for Depreciation and Amortisation of Assets and Change
in Provisions and Impairment, transfers of interest paid and received are recognised under Other
Adjustments to Profit (Net) although on a separate basis, as well as the transfer of the gains or
losses on disposal of assets included under investment activities and, lastly, the adjustments to the
results of companies accounted for using the equity method and, in general, any results that do
not generate cash flows.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not
included in cash and cash equivalents.

- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and of
borrowings that are not operating activities.

4.3  Accounting estimates and judgements

The information contained in these financial statements is the responsibility of the Directors of the
parent company.

For the consolidated financial statements for 2020 and 2019, estimates were made by the Parent’s
Directors in order to measure some of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported
therein. These estimates, the results of which can be found in the applicable measurement standards,
refer to:

- The measurement of assets showing signs of impairment and goodwill so as to determine any
impairment losses thereon.

- Allocation of the cost of business combinations.

- Revenue recognition in the construction and engineering business.

- The assumptions used in the actuarial estimate of pension liabilities and obligations.

- The useful life of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets.

- The assumptions used to measure the fair value of financial instruments.

- The probability of occurrence and the amount, as applicable, of liabilities of an undetermined
amount or contingent liabilities.

- Future costs for dismantling facilities and the restoration of land.

- The results for tax purposes of the various Group companies that will be reported to the tax
authorities in the future, which served as the basis for recognising the various corporate tax related
balances on the accompanying consolidated financial statements, and the recoverability of
recognised deferred tax.

- Incremental rate used in the valuation of lease contracts.



These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 2020 and
2019 on the events analysed. However, events that may take place in the future could make it
necessary to change these estimates. Any such changes would be made in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 8.

In this regard, the current situation caused by the COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak, which led the
World Health Organization to declare a pandemic as a result of the health crisis caused by COVID-
19, the relevant accounting estimates and the judgements, estimates and assumptions made in the
process of applying the group’s accounting policies to prepare the six-month financial statements, are
affected by a greater degree of uncertainty.

- COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is testing governments, institutions, businesses, and society as a whole.
Efforts to control the health emergency are having a significant economic impact. Governments and
administrations around the world are struggling to find a suitable balance of power between
containing the virus and maintaining economic activity. The vast majority of governments have
adopted a series of measures that seek to curb the expansion of the disease and end the health crisis,
which includes widespread confinement of entire populations, limitations on people's mobility, social
distancing, etc. In Spain, these measures reached their highest form when a national state of alarm
was declared for the second time during times of a democracy, through Royal Decree 463/2020 of 14
March 2020 declaring the state of alarm in Spain to manage the health crisis situation caused by
COVID-19, which was in force through successive extensions until 21 June 2020. The State of Alarm
was declared again on 25 October 2020 by Royal Decree 926/2020 with an initial duration of 15 days
and extended for an additional 6 months until 9 May 2021, as a necessary instrument to provide legal
coverage for the measures adopted by the Autonomous Communities to tackle the health emergency.

However, these measures which have proven very efficient in curtailing the spread of the virus, have
a direct impact on economic activity, affecting virtually all business sectors and particularly those in
the service sector.

Moreover, COVID-19 is a global phenomenon that is reaching all corners of the world, although
some regions have felt different effects compared to others, both in terms of time, and in terms of its
effects on the population and the economy. Spain and its European partners are implementing all
kinds of measures to circumvent the successive waves of infections (Spain is currently beginning to
emerge from the third wave). Infection rates in the United States and Brazil continue to soar. The
impact of Coronavirus is smaller in other countries however, such as Australia.

The world's leading pharmaceutical companies engaged in a race against time to develop a vaccine.
At the end of 2020, state health authorities approved its use and mass vaccination campaigns began.
Authorities in major countries expect these campaigns to immunise the population to a level that will
restore normal socio-economic conditions in 2021. It is difficult to estimate the evolution of the
pandemic and its impact on society and the economy over the next year. It will undoubtedly be
determined by the effectiveness and degree of immunisation achieved by ongoing vaccination
campaigns.

Acciona, with a presence in all five continents and with a business portfolio covering multiple
economic activity sectors, is not immune to the pandemic. The effects of COVID-19 have been felt,
particularly in the months of April and May while the firet cione of recoverv were observed in June.
The impact of the virus has been less severe



Establishing the magnitude and scope of its impact requires reasonable judgements to be made, and
this has been done according to the Directors’ best estimates. Detailed information on the estimated
impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s financial situation and the operations of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020 is provided below.

Breakdown by division

Energy (38) 42) (42)

Other activities (102) 47 (46)

Energy

During the 2020, the energy demand in peninsular Spain was at 236,654 GWh, 5 % lower than the
previous year, after correcting for the effects of working hours and temperatures. This fall was mainly
caused by stopping business and social activities due to the measures adopted by administrations to
stop the spread of Coronavirus and, specifically, by the State of Alarm declared by Royal Decree
463/2020. According to information from REE (Red Eléctrica de Espafia), during the state of alarm
period (from 15 March to 21 June), the demand in the Spanish electrical system was 13.3% lower
than the same period in 2019. Consequently, the average energy sales price (pool) for the first six
months of 2020 fell to 29.0 EUR/MWh, 44% lower than the price recorded in the same period of
2019, reaching the lowest point on 1 May with a minimum price of 1.02 EUR/MWh. During the
second half of the year, energy prices recovered slightly allowing the average 2020 pool price to stand
at 34.0 EUR/MWh, still far from 2019 prices (47.7 EUR/MWh). Despite this, 57% of the Group’s
power in Spain is subject to the specific remuneration framework established by Royal Decree
413/2014 of 6 June, which limits the reduction in income for these facilities based on the regulatory
tier mechanism.

In any case, since the drop in prices was induced by a reduction in the energy demand caused by
pausing economic activities, the drop in price is temporary and will be restored once economic
activity recovers.

With regards to international facilities, most of the energy generation facilities have a PPA (Power
Purchase Agreement) in place and are therefore protected from potential drops in price.

On the other hand, the reduction in demand has also had an impact on the energy sales business, not
only due to the decrease in sales resulting from the reduction in customer consumption, but also due
to the impact of the obligations arising from the volume of hedges contracted in relation to these
contracts and the Group’s ability to adapt them to the new environment.

However, multiple governments and administrations have doubled down on renewable energies as
the driving force behind economic recovery in the post-COVID era by supporting programmes such
as the recently approved NextGener: on, 30% of the
aggregate expenditure of NextGener ework 2021-27



(MFP) will go towards projects fighting climate change, something that is unprecedented. Therefore,
not only does the business model remain valid, but it can be expected to be strengthened.

Consequently, taking into account that the average remaining life of Acciona Group's renewable
energy generation facilities in Spain is around 16 years, the fall in the energy demand and its
subsequent impact on the average energy price for the year ending 31 December 2020 is not deemed
as an indication of an additional impairment to these assets.

However, as the useful life adopted for wind and photovoltaic generation assets has been extended
from 25 to 30 years, the impairment test for all facilities classified as impaired at 31 December 2019
has been updated (refer to useful life extension section in note 4.4).

With regard to the associate Nordex, SE, Note 10 describes the effects of the health crisis on the
company's operations, as well as its medium-term prospects, and therefore reference is made to that
Note to avoid unnecessary repetition.

Infrastructure

In response to the effects of the health crisis, intensive legislative activity has taken place which has
resulted in important modifications to the legal framework in most countries where the division
operates.

In Spain, Royal Decree 463/2020 was published on 14 March 2020 declaring the state of alarm in
Spain to manage the health crisis situation caused by COVID-19. This decree established certain
restrictions to mobility, as well as economic, social, and health measures, and has been the subject of
extensive legislative development which has, in some cases, substantially modified the contents of
pre-existing laws, such as Law 09/2017 on Public Sector Contracts.

Along these lines, of particular note are Decree-Laws 8/2020 and 10/2020. Decree-Law 8/2020 has
had a special impact in the division since it reduced the compensation which construction and
concession companies had been entitled to under the aforementioned Law on Public Sector Contracts.
Decree-Law 10/2020 established absolute restrictions on any activity or service that was not
considered essential (food distribution, pharmacies, agriculture, among others) in order to reduce the
mobility of the general population to a minimum.

The remaining countries where the Group operates have adopted similar measures or passed similar
modifications to their legal framework.

The main effects experienced by the Infrastructure Division in its different activities are described
below:

o Construction

The Group’s construction activity has a strong international presence, meaning that the impact on
operations is irregular based on the evolution of the pandemic in different countries.

In Spain, after Decree-Law 10/2020 of 29 March regulated recoverable paid leave for employed
workers not providing essential servicee ta fiocht COVIN-1Q hv rednecine mobility, construction



activities were halted between 30 March and 13 April. As of 31 December 2020, Construction activity
in Spain has been fully restored.

At an international level, the impact varied from a complete temporary halt in the activity in countries
such as New Zealand, the Philippines, Ecuador, Panama and Peru, to uninterrupted activities (albeit
in some cases affected by reduced performance), in countries such as Australia, Poland, Canada,
Chile, Norway, UAE, Saudi Arabia and Qatar, the main countries in which the Group’s construction
activity is present.

From early April, when the percentage of halted contracts reached 60% mainly due to the situation in
Spain, the pandemic situation improved in such a way that by the end of June, halted contracts
represented only 1% of the total, all in Latin America, and almost all of the activity has now been
recovered. It is worth emphasizing that all protocols established by the Group in terms of occupational
risk prevention have been applied to all contracts.

However, the extraordinary force majeure situation and/or change in legislation resulting from the
pandemic means that most agreements can be negotiated or a direct claim can be put against clients
for them to partially or fully compensate for the negative effects produced by COVID-19, both in
terms of cost overruns and in inefficiencies or delays in the contract execution schedules established
before the pandemic. To this end, significant agreements have been reached with multiple clients in
2020, while others are still under negotiation.

Furthermore, regarding the main corporate operations projected by the division, specifically the
partial acquisition of Lendlease Engineering’s project portfolio and the transfer of the concession
contract for line 6 of the Sdo Paulo Metro (Brazil), it is worth emphasizing that the health crisis has
resulted in a delay in these operations. Both operations have finally been successfully completed in
September and October 2020, respectively.

Consequently, the main negative impacts of the pandemic are caused by the delay in production, most
evident during the first nine months of 2020, for an estimated amount of 520 million Euros.

e Concessions

Mobility restrictions imposed in Spain in the context of the state of alarm resulted in a sharp decline
in road traffic. This has resulted in a drop in revenue from one road operated under a concession
arrangement which is exposed to demand risk for approximately 5 million euros. This decrease was
most significant in April and May, while a gradual improvement has been noted since June. Road
travel has significantly increased at the date these consolidated financial statements are prepared in
relation to the levels recorded during the second quarter of the year. However, mobility restrictions
have been partially maintained by authorities, companies and the society as a whole have adopted
precautions to guarantee social distancing in the post-COVID era such as remote working, and
economic activity has not yet returned to normal. All of which is preventing traffic levels from
reaching those expected at this time of year.

Taking into consideration that the remaining operation term for this concession is 13 years, the
Company’s management has estimated that this temporary drop in revenue does not indicate any
impairment of the asset. It should be noted that the Group sold the Company in 2020 (see Note 3.2.h).



e Water

The operation, maintenance, and service management aspects of the water business have been barely
affected, since these are deemed essential services both at a national level, where they have operated
under Royal Decree 08/2020 and Royal Decree 10/2020, and at an international level, where very
similar legislation has applied in view of the services to be guaranteed (drinking water supply,
wastewater treatment and desalination).

e Services

The state of alarm declared in Spain and the mobility restrictions imposed worldwide have had a
significant impact in the Service Subgroup’s activities such as Airport Services, Urban Mobility, as
well as logistical, cleaning and maintenance services provided to clients operating in the automotive,
tourism, railway transport, shipbuilding, recreational, shopping centre, and hospitality sectors, among
others.

Other contracts related to hospital services, cleaning services, foodstuffs, waste collection and
management, freight transport, energy services, and public administration have not been affected by
the state of alarm measures due to their classification as essential activities under Royal Decree-Law
10/2020 of 29 March and Health Order 271/2020. Conversely, these activities have increased in some
case given the importance of such essential services during the most critical period of the pandemic.

The main impact on the affected services corresponds to a drastic drop in revenue resulting from the
lack of urban mobility and the stoppage of some activities by specific clients that were not regarded
as essential. In addition, the consequences of the pandemic on certain clients have had an impact on
the Group amounting to 18 million euros. Additionally, some contracts have had to be reduced to
minimal services which has resulted in inefficiencies due to cost overruns that cannot be recovered
from clients.

With Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 introducing extraordinary emergency measures to manage the impact
of COVID-19, the concept of force majeure was extraordinarily extended to cover employee furlough
schemes (known in Spain as ERTE, Expediente de Regulacion de Empleo Temporal). Royal Decree-
Law 18/2020 introduced the concept of a partial force majeure for companies to reduce working hours
as activities were gradually resumed. This measure has been extended to date and is currently in force
until 31 May 2021.

As a result of the events described above, the Services business was forced to furlough employees in
Spain (under the ERTE scheme) and to undertake similar actions in other countries for most of the
workers related to the affected contracts, so as not to compromise the viability and future activity of
these contracts.

Thus, in the peak of the pandemic, this measure affected 32% of the workers in this business, 17% of
workers at 30 June 2020, and 5% of workers at 31 December 2020 (846 and 333 workers in Spain
and in other countries, respectively). The activities most affected by these measures have been those
related to Airport Services, Urban Mobility, and other activities in the Facility Services Subgroup
provided to clients in the automotive, tourism, and passenger transport sectors.

Lastly, the impacts on activities and the uncertainty regarding the evolution of the pandemic are
indications of an impairment of the goodwill in the Acciona Facility Services Subgroup and the
Acciona Airports Subgroup businesses. nt tests have been
performed considering the new probabl »t reach the levels



estimated for previous years, projects a gradual recovery during 2021. As a result of this analysis,
there has been no need to recognise impairment losses on the goodwill registered (see Note 6).

Other activities

e Bestinver

With regards to the investment funds and pension plans developed by Bestinver, the assets under
company management have been reduced considerably during the first quarter of the year, mainly
due to the generalised collapse of stock markets in the face of the deteriorating economic outlook for
the world’s major economies. The MSCI Europe index fell by more than 22% during the first three
months of the year due to the particular impact of COVID in Eurozone countries. However, the
preparation of portfolios for the opportunities generated by this scenario has enabled value to be
generated in investment vehicles by taking advantage of the rise in the main stock market indexes
toward the end of 2020, which has finally mitigated the fall, which stood at 6% in 2020.

Furthermore, the high maturity profile of Bestinver stocks, together with adequate management of
their risk profile has enabled the impact caused by redemptions of the managed assets to be reduced.

This fall in the assets under management has resulted in a reduction in revenue of approximately 27
million euros.

e Real Estate

The restrictions on mobility imposed by the authorities have slowed down the deliveries of real estate
assets that were planned for 2020. The rate at which new real estate developments start has also
slowed. These alterations have caused a reduction in revenue of 36 million euros compared to the
initially planned target. Clearly, as this is a temporary situation, it has only meant a delay in operations
which, for the most part, will be corrected in the following year.

On the other hand, the uncertainty caused by the health crisis is having a very limited impact on the
new build market. Therefore, the valuation of real estate assets has barely changed with respect to
2019 and basically only reflects the changes in sales and investments for the period.

4.4 Changes in accounting estimates and policies and correction of fundamental errors

- Changes in accounting estimates: the effect of any change in accounting estimates is recognised
prospectively, under the same income statement heading as that under which the expense or
income measured using the previous estimate was recognised.

- Changes in accounting policies and correction of fundamental errors. The effects of changes and
corrections of this kind are recognised as follows: if material, the cumulative effect at the
beginning of the year is adjusted under reserves and the effect for the current year is recognised
on the income statement. In these cases, the financial data for the comparative year presented
together with those for the current year are restated.

On 1 January 2020, the Acciona Group a-~=¢~" #hn £ollnerric s sbinwsnn én d4n nan~eeding estimates and
policies:



- Extension of the useful life of wind and photovoltaic assets

Based on technical analyses and industry practices, the Acciona Group has extended the life cycle of
its wind and photovoltaic facilities from 25 to 30 years. In the first months of 2020, technical analyses
were performed by internal experts in operation and maintenance of the Group's wind facilities which
were complemented by reports from four experts, namely TUV, DNV-GL, Underwriters Laboratories
and Nabla Windpower. The report on the analysis of the photovoltaic assets was prepared by the
independent expert GAdvisory. These reports were produced between March and May 2020, with the
internal reports being dated 28 April, and the external ones being dated 1 June.

Consequently, the Depreciation and amortisation charge and change in provisions caption of the
consolidated income statement includes the impact of this change in estimation since 1 January 2020
and has resulted in a smaller amortisation of 85.5 million euros for the period, as well as a positive
effect of 9.7 million euros in Equity method profit/(loss) - analogous.

- Classification of the profit/(loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method.

As of 1 January 2020, the Acciona Group includes income from associated companies and joint
ventures that are accounted for using the equity method, and that carry out an activity similar to the
Group’s activity, within the operating profit/(loss) according to Decision EECS/0114-06 issued by
the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA).

The Group considers that this reclassification will contribute to making the operating results a better
reflection of the financial performance of those assets and activities that form the Group's operating
purpose and in which the Group is highly involved, regardless of the legal nature of the agreements
that regulate their management. The results of those associates and joint ventures which, due to the
development of activities outside the group's business, are more similar to that of a financial
investment would be the only ones recorded under operating profit.

The group has added a new item in the income statement - Equity method profit/(loss) - analogous
for the results of associates and joint ventures that carry out an activity similar to that of the Group.

The share of the results of associates and joint ventures that engage in a non-analogue activity
continues to be presented under financial results, although the name of the item changes to Equity
method profit/(loss) - non-analogous (formerly Income from companies accounted for using the
equity method). As of 31 December 2020, the only investment accounted for using the equity method
relating to an activity that is not analogous to that of the Group is the group's shareholding in the
share capital of Nordex SE.

Following IAS 8, the comparative figures for 2019 have been restated and the original heading
Income from companies accounted for using the equity method has been renamed Equity method
profit(loss) - non-analogous and is shown with a negative result of 20 million euros, with the
difference of 81 million euros being recorded as a positive result under the new heading Equity
method profit(loss) - analogous.






Additions in Electricity generating facilities for 34 million euros are associated with the provision
estimate related to land restitution on which the new power facilities are located in the United States,
Mexico and Chile (see note 19).

There are also significant additions of machinery related to the infrastructure division amounting to
approximately 35 million euros, mainly due to the acquisition of tunnelling machines and other
equipment that will be used in the construction of Metro Line 6 in Sao Paolo (Brazil), as well as the
acquisition of transport elements to develop the Mobility business.

In 2020, transfers of approximately 448 million euros are recognised from Advances and property,
plant and equipment under construction to Electricity generating facilities as the construction phase
is completed and two photovoltaic plants (Almeyda in Chile in January 2020, and Hudzovka in
Ukraine in November 2020), two wind farms (Tolpan in Chile in August 2020 and Santa Cruz in
Mexico in September 2020), and the Tolchén transmission line project in Chile (March 2020), come
into operation. In 2019, transfers amounting to 518 million euros were made after two wind farms
(San Gabriel in Chile and Palmas in the United States), and a photovoltaic plant (Dymerska in
Ukraine) came into operation.

In 2020, Retirements of machinery and other construction assets used mainly in the execution of
works in Norway, Ecuador and Portugal that have reached completion were recognised, which have
come to an end of their useful lives and were practically fully depreciated. In the previous year,
retirements were recorded due to the sale of machinery for projects carried out in Norway and Poland
in the infrastructure division.

Regarding Variations due to changes in scope of consolidation for the 2020 financial year, it is worth
noting that the increase observed in machinery and transport equipment is the result of the CEI
Subgroup acquisition for 123 million euros. On the other hand, the wineries, warehouses, vineyards
and machinery used by the Bodegas Palacio 1984 Subgroup for wine production were retired from
the balance sheet for a net amount of 17 million euros (see Note 3.2.h).

In 2020, Other changes included mostly the effect of translation differences for the period, for a
positive amount of 324 million euros (negative 80 million euros in 2019), which came mainly from
the wind farms located in the United States, Chile and Mexico whose financial statements consolidate
in US dollars, as well as wind farms located in South Africa and Mexico due to the depreciation of
the US dollar, South African Rand, and Mexican peso against the euro in 2020.

In 2019, with the entry into force of IFRS 16 Leases, the carrying amounts of assets under finance
leases were transferred to Right of Use from Property, plant and equipment heading in the amount of
66 million euros (see Note 7.1).

The Group, following the internal procedures established in this respect, analyses throughout the
financial year the trend of the yield of the main assets, assessing compliance with or, if appropriate,
the appearance of deviations from the main assumptions and estimates underlying the impairment
tests, as well as the presence of relevant changes on the markets where the assets operate relating to
regulatory, economical or technological aspects, for adequate adjustment of impairment provisions
during the financial year. No significant aspects to be highlighted were observed in 2020, except for



the following in relation to the impairment reversals of certain assets in the energy division, and the
recoverability analyses carried out in the context of COVID-19 (see Note 4.4).

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Group's Energy division property, plant and
equipment amounted to 7,039 million euros, relating mainly to wind, solar PV and hydroelectric
power generation facilities located in various geographical areas with different regulatory
environments. At 31 December 2020, impairment losses of 612 million euros were recognised,
relating mainly to impairment losses arising both in the international area (United States, Poland,
Italy) and on Spanish assets, the latter arising after the regulatory change in 2012 and 2013.

The Group updated the impairment tests associated with energy generation assets and recognised an
impairment reversal of 87 million euros under Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current
assets in the consolidated income statement.

For the calculation of the value in use, a projection of the expected cash flows has been carried out
until the end of the useful life without terminal value and this has been extended to 30 years (see note
4.4) for all cash generation units (CGUs) associated with wind and solar photovoltaic facilities where
signs of deterioration have been identified. These projections have been approved by the Group’s
Management. The CGU established for this calculation is, in general terms, the company that owns
the operating facilities of these technologies, whether one or several, since this would be the minimum
unit whose cash flows, both incoming and outgoing, are identifiable and independent of other flows
shared with other facilities based on the analyses performed.

The main assumptions used in the cash flows are:
- The productions associated with each facility in which the Group Management's best estimate
of the expected long-term resource at each site, adjusted by the historical deviations that have
occurred annually, have been considered.

- The long-term energy sales price curves for each of the markets in which the corresponding
facility operates. Management's estimates in this case are based on the average annual prices
quoted in each market and for those very long-term years for which there is no quotation or
the quotation is not liquid (and it is therefore not representative), the evolution of the price
curve is calculated based on variations in the quoted prices of gas and other components.
These prices are adjusted for each year by the difference that has historically occurred between
the average market prices and the prices actually captured by each facility (deviations,
penalties, etc.).

- The operating costs of each facility based on management's best estimates and experience
considering existing contracts and expected increases due to inflation. In no case have
synergies or future cost savings been considered as a result of future or planned actions. The
cost estimates have been made on a basis consistent with the recent past and considering the
assets in their current condition.

The cost of equity used to discount asset flows was as follows in the main geographical areas affected
by the impairment test:
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Spain 5% - 5.4%
e 6 6.

Italy 5.6%-6%

The discount rates calculated for each country or regulatory environment have been adjusted at the
level of each company depending on the level of risk associated with the price captured, whether it is
only market risk, regulated tariffs or sale and purchase contracts or hedging of long-term energy
prices.

In addition, the Group has performed a sensitivity analysis of the result of the impairment test to
reasonable variations in the following assumptions in thousands of euros:

0.50% (4,610)

2.50% 10,396
Price curves

The results of these sensitivity analyses indicate that:

- With a variation in discount rates of +0.5% and -0.5%, the reversal of the provision made in
the financial year would be reduced by 4,610 thousand euros and increased by 4,105
thousand euros, respectively.

- Likewise, upward and downward variations of 2.5% in pool rates would result in an increase
and a decrease in the reversal amounting to 10,396 and 9,920 thousand euros, respectively.

- Finally, upward and downward variations of 50 basis points in the long-term CPI applicable
to the operating and maintenance costs of the assets would result in reductions and increases
in the provision reversal amounting to 3,382 and 4,305 thousand euros, respectively.

In 2020 and 2019 the companies capitalised finance costs amounting to 12 million euros as property,
plant and equipment (see Note 28).

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in use at 31 December 2020 and 2019 amounted to
404 and 486 million euros, respectively; most of these assets are currently in use.

At 31 December 2020, the Group companies had acquisition commitments for property, plant and
equipment amounting to 168 million euros in the energy division for the wind and photovoltaic
facilities currently under construction in M~~~ ¢k~ TTeiénd Qinian Awemiesli A5 and Ukraine.
There are constructions planned for the sec: h at the end of












amounting to approximately 5 million euros, and the derecognition of the vineyard, warehouse and
vehicle leases that were held by the Bodegas Palacio 1984 Subgroup (see Note 3.2.h)).

In 2019, the first year IFRS 16 Leases was applied, the main movement in the caption corresponded
to the initial recognition of the underlying assets of operating leases amounting to 393 million euros
(see note 3.1). In addition, the assets associated with finance lease agreements for a net amount of
approximately 66 million euros, were reclassified from property, plant and equipment to Right of Use
(see note 5).

In 2020, the Group recorded an interest expense and depreciation expense of 30 million and 98 million
euros, respectively, in the income statement associated with lease contracts (24 and 89 million euros
in 2019), respectively.

The detail of the net carrying amount of the right of use classified according to the nature of the
underlying asset at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows, in thousands of euros:

T and and natural resonrces 315711 29,444\ - 286,267 217 435 (13 3RM - 204 055
ildir J 38,36¢ 3,535
Technical facilities 100.722 (27190 - 73.530 97.785 (16,539 - R1.246
: 45 3,
Transnort elements 56.6R5 (19.348) - 37.337 39,997 (13.385) - 726.612
A4 ¢ 0!
‘Total 664,083 (167,251) - 496,832 515,369 (106,411) - 408,958

7.2 Non-current and current lease obligations

The balance of liabilities associated with lease contracts at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is detailed
below, in thousands of euros:

1 pace nhlioatinne 74 240 41Q RRQ 404 140 587233 34A A1 AN1 KAA

Total leasing liabilities 84,804 438311 523,115 66,923 371,835 438,758
The Group does not have any lease contracts containing significant residual value guarantees.

At the date theses financial statements were prepared, the Grc at
represented significant commitments and whose entry into fc
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On 22 July 2019, Bestinver S.A. acquired two companies of the Fidentiis Group, a leading firm in
Spain specialising in the capital markets of southern Europe (see note 3.2.h). In November 2019, after
obtaining the relevant administrative authorisation, the Group registered the acquisition, generating
goodwill of 22 million euros.

On 27 November 2019, after all the conditions precedent had been met, the Acciona Group acquired
control of Fidentiis Equities, S.V., S.A. and Fidentiis Gestién, S.G.I.I.C., S.A., and at the end of 2019
the initial accounting for the business combination was incomplete because the process to measure
the assets and liabilities identified in the acquired companies was in progress. In the first half of 2020,
the purchase price allocation (PPA) was completed, and an intangible asset associated with the “Asset
Management Relationship” and a deferred tax liability were recognised for a total value of 3,749 and
937 thousand euros, respectively. As a result of the aforementioned process and due to the difference
between the fair value of the net assets acquired and the acquisition cost, goodwill amounting to
19,492 thousand euros was eventually recognised.

With regards to the goodwill recorded during financial year 2020, at 31 December there have been
no signs of circumstances indicating that the hypotheses and assumptions considered at the time of
the acquisition have undergone relevant changes.

At 31 December 2020, negative translation differences under this heading have been registered
amounting to approximately 0.1 million euros, mainly due to Australian dollar and Chilean peso
exchange rate fluctuations.

The goodwill expected to be tax deductible is that of Acciona Agua, S.A. in Spain. The annual
deductible amount came to 3,390 thousand euros and the outstanding amount came to 16,982
thousand euros.

In 2020, the update of the impairment tests for the various subgroups, according to the method
described in note 3.2 F), did not show the need to record any impairment.

The growth rate employed by the Group to extrapolate the cash flow projections beyond the five-year
period covered by the forecasts was 2% for the Subgroup Geotech Holding, 1.5% for the Agua,
Services and Andes Airport Services, S.A. Subgroups, 1.5% for the Acciona Producciones y Disefio
Subgroup, and 1.69% for the Bestinver Subgroup.

The WACC rates after tax that were applied were: 7.7% for the Geotech Holding Subgroup, 4.6% for
the Agua Subgroup, 5.7% for the Services Subgroup, 8% for Andes Airport Services, S.A., 8.57%
for the Acciona Producciones y Disefio Subgroup, and 11.98% for the Bestinver Subgroup, using a
discount rate based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) methodology.

A sensitivity test was carried out for these subgroups, particularly in relation to the operating margin,
the discount rate and the perpetuity growth rate, in order to ensure than possible changes in the
estimation did not have an impact on the possible recovery of the goodwill registered. The outcome
of these sensitivity tests indicated that, decreases of 75 basis points in the growth rate applied,
increases in the discount rate of up to 40 basis points and 150 basis point reductions in the net
operating margin, these assumptions being considered jointly, do not change the outcome of the
impairment test, that is, no impairment is shown on the goodwill registered.

~nan 1 AnAAN .1

There were no further additions to the cognition of goodwill

different than those described above.






Continuing with the Group's policy to invest in new technologies and digitalisation, investments of
11 million euros have been made in various items of computer software, aimed at innovation,
improvement in the integration of processes and technological development, as well as investments
aimed at adapting systems to cover legal, accounting or tax requirements in the different territories in
which the Group is present.

The movement due to changes in the scope of consolidation of Other Intangible Assets relates to
intangible assets identified during the business combination whereby the Group took control of the
CEI Subgroup, assigned to the acquired backlog amounting to 43,235 thousand euros (see Note 3.2.h).
The identified asset is depreciated based on the returns generated by the associated construction
contracts.

The movement in additions reflects the fair value of the asset identified in the context of the Fidentiis
Gestion S.G.LI.C., S.A. business combination as an “Asset Management Relationship” (see note 8).
This asset will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 8 years.

In 2019 the Group derecognised 23 million euros relating to the commitments to invest in a
concession in the water business in Mexico since the client did not comply with the actions required
in accordance with the specifications which would have determined the aforementioned

commitments.

In addition, the most notable reduction in 2019 was the reduction of the initial valuation of intangible
assets associated with the confirmed portfolio of works identified during the acquisition of the
Australian subgroup "Geotech Holding" in 2017, amounting to 9.7 million euros under Other assets
which was fully depreciated.

Transfers in 2019 includes most notably the transfer of expectant rights amounting to 13 million euros
to Property, Plant and Equipment associated with the commissioning of the Dymerska photovoltaic
solar plant in Ukraine and the San Gabriel wind farm in Chile.

In 2020, Other changes includes the effect of translation differences in the period for a negative
amount of 12 million euros, mainly related to the depreciation of the US dollar and Mexican peso

(positive amount of 6 million euros in 2019).

The breakdown of the “Concessions” heading at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was the following:

Cost Amortisation Impairment Total Cost Amortisation Impairment Total
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In 2020, capital contributions of 22 million euros were made in the Concessions business to the
associate that holds the concession contract for the construction, operation and maintenance of Line
6 of the Sdo Paulo Metro.

In addition, Changes in the scope of consolidation and contributions also includes the contributions
made in favour of associates developing a waste water treatment project in Trinidad and Tobago
amounting to 9 million euros.

The remaining changes mainly correspond to greater contributions in the companies and refunds on
the contributions in which the Group already had an investment, without the percentage share being
changed.

In 2019, the Group transferred its shareholding in S.C. Autovia Gerediaga Elorrio, S.A. and Sociedad
Explotadora Autovia Gerediaga Elorrio, S.A., in which it held 22.8% and 28.7%, respectively. The
value of the transaction amounted to 20.2 million euros, with capital gains for the Group of 5.5 million
euros.

Other changes includes variations due to derivatives, translation differences, the effect of the transfers
of investments accounted for using the equity method (the losses of which cause them to be
recognised as constructive obligations). In 2020, this heading mainly includes the effect of the
classification of the Group's shareholding in several concession operations under Non-current assets
held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet, amounting to 42 million euros (see Note 15).

At 31 December 2020, the heading includes a negative amount of 2.3 million euros corresponding
changes in derivatives (negative amount of 14 million euros at 31 December 2019).

The Group has updated the impairment tests associated with power generation assets, and for the
companies accounted for using the equity method, an impairment reversal of 19 million euros has
been recognised under Income from associated companies - analogous in the consolidated income
statement, as well as a positive effect of 12 million euros due to the lower depreciation (see Note 4.4).

The methodology and sensitivity analysis described in note 4 were applied. The results of these
sensitivity analyses in proportion to the Group’s share percentage indicate that:

- With WACKC rates of 5.22% for regulated life and 5.97% for unregulated life, the provision
reversal would be reduced by 1.5 million euros.

- With WACKC rates of 4.22% for regulated life and 4.97% for unregulated life, the provision
reversal would increase by 1.7 million euros.

- Likewise, upward and downward variations of 2.5% in pool rates would result in an increase
and a decrease in the reversal amounting to 3.3 million euros and 3.1 million euros,
respectively.

- Furthermore, upward and downward variations of 50 basis points in the long-term CPI
applicable to the operating and maintenance costs of the assets would result in reductions and
increases in the provision reversal amounting to 0.5 million euros and 0.7 million euros,
respectively.

With regards to the share in Nordex, SE, a company whose shares are traded on the Frankfurt and
other German Stock Exchanges, the cor =~ =~ =~ 7 -7 7 7 7 e price to below the



carrying amount experienced in 2017, together with the downward re-estimation of the forecasts
announced by the company in 2017, were regarded as a sign of impairment. Thus, the Acciona Group
carried out an impairment test, the result of which at 31 December 2017 indicated an impairment of
the investment value of 145 million euros.

Although the Group has adopted a prudent criterion with respect to its shareholding in Nordex, the
fall in the share price in the two previous years was considered by the Group’s Management to be a
temporary event that does not necessarily constitute a deterioration in the intrinsic value of the
business or its financial performance in the medium and long term; for the Acciona Group, the
shareholding in Nordex is a strategic investment that seeks to materialise synergies while holding on
to a relevant position in the wind power generation value chain.

The Group has considered it appropriate to update the impairment test at 31 December 2020 in view
of the indications observed in the increase in value of the shareholding, by revising the main
assumptions of the model based on the latest information published by Nordex and the positive
forecasts published by external sources specialising in the sector. The adverse effects of COVID-19
on the company's operations (disruptions in the supply chain, temporary closure of some of its
production facilities, etc.) are not affecting the volume of orders received, which remain at record
highs. Thus, the continued recovery of Nordex's share price (22.16 euros at 2020 year-end compared
to 11.96 euros at 2019 euros) has placed the share price significantly above the carrying amount, even
in the uncertain economic environment caused by COVID-19. This is due to the expansion of the
renewable energy generation sector experienced by some key markets and the upward re-estimation
of the company's recently published forecasts. There has been a real explosion of both public and
private interest in investments in the renewable energy sector in the last months of 2020, becoming
the driving force behind economic recovery and leading the social transformation of the post-COVID
era in an unprecedented shift towards green energy. This interest has taken the form of measures such
as those promoted by the European Commission within the "European Green Deal". At the European
Council held on 10 and 11 December 2020, European leaders endorsed the ambitious strategic targets
for reducing CO; emissions, increasing the target reduction from 40% to 55% by 2030. This will be
a huge boost for the growth of renewable energies in Europe, as well as an increase in the target quota
for the use of renewable energies in the same period. The European Commission has estimated an
annual investment of 260,000 million euros to meet the aspirations of the Green Deal, which will
depend largely on the ability to transform the energy sector, and therefore on the capacity of wind
power installation growth.

This context has improved the company's medium-term forecasts, which has allowed it to publish
guidance for the 2022 financial year with a significant improvement in the sales estimates for both
turbines and operation and maintenance services. This guidance was published along with the results
corresponding to the third quarter of 2020. The test carried out places the value in use of the
shareholdings at 25.9 euros/share (compared to 16.6 euros/share according to the test formulated at
30 June 2020 and 18.0 euros/share according to the test formulated at 31.12.2019), which represents
a recoverable amount of 1,022 million euros (420 million euros above the carrying amount at the time
of the test). This increase in value in use is in line with the increase in the share price, as well as the
target prices formulated by analysts who monitor the company. Thus, the Group's Management
considers that at 31 December 2020 the key indicators of the recovery in value have been consolidated
which has enabled the impairment of 145 million euros recorded in 2017 to be reversed. This reversal
is recognised in the Group's consolidated income statement under Equity method profit/(loss) - non-
analogous.















Non-Current Operating Receivables includes mainly client balances and other trade receivables
generated by operating activities maturing at over one year and also the retentions that are customary
in the construction business.

In relation to the claim that the Acciona Group, through its subsidiary ATLL Concessionaria de la
Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. (in liquidation) maintains with the Generalitat de Catalunya, as a result
of the annulment of the assignment of the Ter-Llobregat water supply service management agreement
sentenced by the Superior Justice Court of Catalonia and ratified by the Supreme Court, the Group
received a Provisional Final Settlement (PFS) amounting 53.8 million euros in 2019, that is, far from
the amounts claimed by the Company (see note 19), which, in the Group’s opinion, has confirmed
the impossibility of this dispute being resolved without resorting to a contentious-administrative
procedure. In this context, as of 31 December 2019, the Group adjusted the compensation arising
from the application of the clauses regulating the concession contract annulment; in addition,
considering the premise which has been repeatedly defended by the Group and based on the
concession agreement and reports by independent experts, it is extremely unlikely that the
subsidiary’s equity may be impaired, having been classified under Non-current operating
receivables, since the expected settlement has exceeded twelve months, except for the amount
corresponding to the PFS, which remained under current assets. In 2020 the Group received a Final
Settlement (FS) of the contract from the Generalitat de Catalunya for which an amount of 56.9 million
euros was awarded to the Group instead of the 53.8 million euros of the aforementioned PFS, which
has been classified under current assets, reduced by the settlements already received.

Also, in June 2019 the Group transferred the future collection rights arising from the claim to a third
party, which does not include the aforementioned portion of the compensation which has already been
recognised by the Generalitat de Catalunya (see note 23).

On the other hand, with regard to the contract for the design, construction and commissioning of a
tramway line in the centre of the city of Sydney (Australia), as mentioned in note 19, and for which
there were claims and an open legal dispute with the client, an agreement was reached in 2019 to
admit a large part of the claims presented by the Group. As a result of this agreement, an account
receivable maturing in 2036, the amortised cost of which at 31 December 2019 amounted to 289
million euros, was reclassified to Non-current operating receivables. In 2020 the Group has initiated
a process to sell the subsidiary that holds the recognised receivable, classifying the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary under Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale, as it considers that
there is a high probability that the sale will take place in the short term (see note 23).

Finally, this line also includes an amount of 62,412 thousand euros (69,734 thousand euros at 31
December 2019) corresponding to the fair value of a non-financial derivative taken out by a Chilean
subsidiary of the Energy Division for the supply of energy to a customer from 2017 at an inflated
fixed price for 13.5 years. This contract is valued at market value and changes in value are recorded
under the heading Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financial instruments at fair value in the
income statement.

Finally, this heading includes the credit entitlement obtained by regulated renewable energy
generation facilities in Spain as a result of the differential between the pool price obtained and the
officially published price bands for the current year. This amount will be increased or offset by the
adjustments to the bands established for the current half of the regulatory period (2020-2022) and
will ultimately revert in an adjustment to the remuneration for the investment obtained by each facility
to be settled from the end of the aforep~~-+ ~+=~" LAl wnwind fonn wnin DY The gmount recognised by



the Group for this concept amounted to 79,449 thousand euros at 31 December 2020, deriving in full
from the adjustment made in 2020.

Non-current prepayments and accrued income includes an amount of 52,591 thousand euros (62,193
thousand euros at 31 December 2019) relating to the unamortised amount of the value recognised at
the time two non-financial derivatives hedging long-term energy prices were arranged in 2015 and
2018 by two subsidiaries in the United States. These contracts were entered into to secure the sale
price of a certain amount of energy for a term of 13 and 12 years respectively, and the valuation at
the time they were arranged was carried out without having visibility of long-term market prices in a
sufficiently liquid market (this visibility covers approximately six years in the different markets in
the USA). The Group capitalised this valuation (Day-one profit and losses) and recognised
Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financial instruments at fair value on a straight-line basis in the
consolidated income statement. Accordingly, the outstanding amount will be taken to income when
the estimate of long-term market prices is made for all the valuation years based on observations
made of long-term energy sales prices in a sufficiently liquid sales market.

Concessions under the non-current financial asset model includes the balance receivable over more
than one year for concessions which, in accordance with IFRIC 12, were treated as financial assets,
since there was an unconditional collection right on the investment made to date. The current portion
of this unconditional right was recognised in Trade and other receivables on the basis of the
collections expected to be received from the grantors of the concessions under the different economic
and financial plans. At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balance reclassified to short term in the
Concessions under the current financial asset model under the heading Trade and Other receivables
for the amount expected to be collected by the granting entities in the next twelve months came to
5,369 and 14,957 thousand euros, respectively (see Note 16).

Detail of Concessions under the non-current financial model was as follows:

S.C. Hosnital del Norte. S A - 73,299
3,99

Infrastructure concescinng 28.757 107.201

9

Total 29,197 108,079

The main change in 2020 in this item relates to the removal of Sociedad Concesionaria Hospital del
Norte, S.A. from the scope of consolidation (see Note 3.2.h).

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group companies had no commitments to acquire concession
assets under the financial asset model in any significant amount.


















17.- Cash and cash equivalents

The detail of the balance at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

102 101
Cash 2,218,454 1.934,036
depositt " oth 188,7C 214,57
Total cash and cash equivalents 2,407,158 2,148,615

This heading included mainly the Group’s cash, bank deposits and risk-free deposits with initial
maturity of three months or less.

In 2020 and 2019 the cash and other current financial asset balances earned interest at market rates.

At 31 December 2020, an amount of 113 million euros under this heading was of restricted disposal
in order to guarantee the payment relating to the purchase of 8.33% of the share capital and
subordinated debt of Acciona Energia Internacional, S.A. from Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. LP
(KKR) by Acciona Energia, S.A. In addition, the amount relating to the payment of 68 million euros
corresponding to the 5% acquired by Bestinver, S.A. for placement in the Bestinver Infra FCR fund
was also unavailable at 31 December 2020. Both amounts were paid on 4 January 2021 (see note 3.2
h).

As of 31 December 2019, the Company, in compliance with German legislation on the acquisition of
securities and public tender offers (WpUG), had an amount of 708 million euros in a restricted
disposal account as security for the payment obligations that may arise from the full acceptance of
the mandatory public tender offer launched for Nordex SE. This amount was unavailable at year-end
and was released on 9 January 2020 after the end of the public tender offer acceptance period.

18.- Equity

a) Subscribed and registered share capital

The parent company’s share capital is represented by 54,856,653 fully paid-up ordinary shares with
a face value of 1 euro each, represented by book entries. All the Parent Company’s shares carry the
same rights and all are listed on the stock exchange.

The table below shows, based on the notices received by the company, the owners of significant direct
and indirect equity interests at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Tussen de Grachten. B.V. 29.02% 29.02%
La Verdosa, S.L. -- 5.78%
T

™ In December 2020, La Verdosa, S.L. sold 3.85% of the share capital of Acciona, S.A. through a private placement to qualified investors and sold
1.75% of the share capital to the Company’s sharehol ' i i if the shareholder La Verdosa, S.L.
was reduced to 0.18% of the share capital.






On 2 July 2015 Acciona, S.A. reported subscription of a liquidity contract with Bestinver Sociedad
de Valores, S.A. for the management of its treasury stock. The company’s stock operations carried
out by Bestinver within the framework of this contract take place on the Spanish stock exchanges and
the purpose is to increase the liquidity of transactions and the stability of the trading price. On 10 July
2017, Acciona, S.A. cancelled said liquidity contract and on the same date, the Company signed a
new liquidity contract with the terms detailed in Circular 1/2017 of the Spanish National Securities
Market Commission (CNMV) for the purposes of their acceptance as a market practice. The cash
accounts and securities accounts that were associated with the cancelled liquidity contract and
amounted to 44,328 shares and 3,539,115 euros were used to allocate cash and securities to the new
liquidity contract, adjusting the amount in cash to the trading value of the shares assigned to the new
contract, in accordance with the limits established in the new CNMYV circular, which have been set at
44,328 shares and 3,340,000 euros.

In 2020, the positive result recorded in reserves from transactions with treasury shares carried out
under the liquidity agreement amounted to 1,031 thousand euros (in 2019 it was 345 thousand euros).

79,485 shares were retired under the Share Delivery Plan and the Variable Remuneration
Replacement Plan for Company directors, recording a profit of 2,594 thousand euros in reserves. In
2019, 81,983 shares were retired, recording a profit of 2,116 thousand in reserves.

On 10 December 2020, and under the Performance Shares Plan, 8,675 shares were given to Executive
Directors of the Company, resulting in a profit being recorded in reserves amounting to 385 thousand
euros. In 2019, 8,675 shares were given to Executive Directors of the Company, resulting in a profit
being recorded in reserves amounting to 203 thousand euros.

In connection with the resolution adopted by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2018, the planned
capital reduction was carried out on 28 March 2019, as mentioned above, by redeeming 2,402,897

shares, resulting in a negative adjustment of 162,425 thousand euros to the company’s reserves.

d) Reserves in consolidated companies and translation differences

The detail, by business line, of the consolidation reserves (including adjustments for change in value
and translation differences) contributed by subsidiaries, associates and joint operations at 31
December 2020 and 2019 was as follows (in thousand euros):

Line of business Consolidated Translation Consolidated Translation
Reserves Differences Reserves Differences
182,51¢ 104,74: 359,

Infrastructures (264,954 (257.786) (339.033) (178,074)
th 9,76 7 14 2,43
Consolidation adiustments (13.121) - (13,962) -

N 33,427 2

In addition to the parent company, at 31 December 2020, the Group company Mostostal Warszawa,
S.A. was a listed company. The average market price of this company on the Warsaw Stock Exchange
was PLN 4.38 and the market price at year-end was PLN 5.04. The associate Nordex SE is also a
listed company on the German Stock Exchanma Tte avarama marlat nrica in the st quarter was EUR
16.37 and the market price at year-end w:















The leverage ratio at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is shown below.

Net aept: 49158 4.333
nrrent timanmal deaht I UAA 7 1a4g
{ M the Parent (:\omnanv 3471 3 7XQ
Leverage 135% 124%

h) Restriction on the distribution of funds by subsidiaries

Certain Group companies have clauses in their financing contracts that have to be met in order for
profit to be distributed to the shareholders. Specifically, the clauses stipulate the maintenance of a
senior debt coverage ratio in financing contracts.

19.- Provisions and litigation

The movement in the Non-current provisions heading on the liability side of the consolidated balance
sheets for 2019 and 2020 was as follows:

Opening balance 399,836 420,354
Retirements (46,025) (28,817)
Other changes 19,758 8,899

The most significant changes in 2020 relate to the increase in provision for litigation of 64 million
euros recognised in additions and allocations and the subsequent transfer of the liability arising from
the transactional agreement to Other current payables heading arising from the proceedings being
followed by the Group of companies belonging to the Energy division (see commentary at the end of
this note). Transfers also includes the reclassification of the provision for the constructive obligations
of the concession companies accounted for using the equity method for which the Group has initiated
a sale process (as mentioned in Note 3.2.h) to Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for
sale.






On 28 July 2020, Business Court no. 2 in Zaragoza approved the collective dismissal proceedings
(ERE) to terminate the employment contracts. The Insolvency Proceedings then followed, dated 9
September 2020.

At 31 December, the Acciona Group is waiting for the Court to issue its final ruling on the insolvency
proceedings, which were classified as fortuitous.

b) Repairs: these relate to provisions in connection to repairs agreed with the awarding entity in
concessions from the Infrastructure division. Each year they are systematically endowed by a charge
against the operating profit/(loss). The provision for this item at 31 December 2020 and 2019 amounts
to 19 and 39 million euros, respectively. As mentioned in above, the main change in this provision in
2020 is due to the derecognition of Autovia de los Viiiedos, S.A.U. following the concession asset
purchase and sale agreement mentioned in Note 3.2.h).

¢) Pensions and similar: these relate to provisions for pensions and similar obligations arising mainly
from the acquisition of assets from Endesa in 2009, which are detailed and quantified below. The
provision for this item at 31 December 2020 and 2019 amounts to 12 and 11 million euros,
respectively.

d) Burdensome contracts: these mainly relate to contracts for works and provisions of services that
represent a burden and in which it is estimated that losses will be incurred. The Group charges a
provision against the income statement for losses expected from these contracts at the moment when
it determines that the contract’s costs which cannot be avoided in order to comply with the contract
are likely to exceed the revenue therefrom. This heading also includes the liabilities assumed by the
Group with third parties in the sale of companies. The provision in this connection, at 31 December
2020, amounted to 30 million euros (52 million euros at 31 December 2019).

¢) Dismantling: these relate mainly to provisions stemming from the electricity generation facilities
in the Energy Division international area, after the Group concluded, upon analysis of the
particularities of these contracts, that there is an obligation to dismantle said facilities. The provision
in this connection, at 31 December 2020, amounted to 155 million euros (118 million euros at 31
December 2019).

f) Litigation: these related to provisions for lawsuits under way as a number of claims have been
brought against the Group in various jurisdictions for various reasons. At 31 December 2020, the
Group had provisions of 13 million euros (119 million euros at 31 December 2019), all of which
relate to the Infrastructure division and are intended to cover the risk of various construction defect
claims. The main change in 2020 is mainly due to the transactional agreement reached on procedures
followed by Group companies belonging to the Energy division to be paid in several instalments in
2020 and 2021.

With regards to litigations, the Group’s Directors estimate that there will be no short-term outflow of
economic profits due to the status of these court cases at the present time, an opinion which is subject
to the uncertainty inherent to such estimations.



The best estimates of the risks and uncertainty inevitably surrounding most of the events and
circumstances affecting these cases have been taken into account to record of these provisions. The
measurement of this uncertainty has been done with prudence, understood as the inclusion of a certain
degree of caution when making the necessary assessments, but safeguarding in all cases the true and
fair view of the financial statements.

The Group’s Management considers that no significant additional liabilities will occur that are not
provisioned in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2020.

With regards to the current legal situation of the Ter-Llobregat water supply service management
agreement, on 20 February 2018 the Supreme Court rejected the cassation appeal lodged by Acciona
Agua, S.A., together with the Generalitat de Catalunya as well as those from Aguas de Barcelona,
S.A., thereby confirming the judgement issued by the Superior Justice Court of Catalonia on 22 July
2015 and therefore annulling the assignment of the concession for reasons solely attributable to the
Generalitat de Catalunya.

In December 2018, the Generalitat de Catalunya made a first proposal to settle the contract following
the Supreme Court ruling, in which it claimed an approximate amount of 38 million euros from the
Concessionaire.

Following this, on 1 April 2019, the Generalitat presented a provisional final settlement proposal,
proposing compensation for ATLL amounting to 53.8 million euros.

Finally, on 13 March 2020, the Generalitat presented a final settlement proposal, in this case
proposing compensation for ATLL amounting to 56.9 million euros, which is much lower than the
amount claimed by the Company.

The Concessionaire has opposed the settlement proposals made because, in short, they are based on
the fact that the contract incurred a nullity cause and not one of annulment, according to the Superior
Court of Justice of Catalonia in its Ruling of 19 November 2018. Based on expert reports carried out
by external advisors, the Company has estimated that the amount resulting from clause 9.12 of the
concession contract amounts to 301 million euros, and 795 million euros is the amount corresponding
to the damages caused. In this regard, on 18 November 2020, the Company filed a claim for a total
amount of 1,064 million euros, plus the corresponding late payment interest, with the contentious-
administrative division of the Superior Justice Court of Catalonia against the Resolution of the
Minister of Territory and Sustainability of the Generalitat de Catalunya of 13 March 2020 which
approved the final settlement of the contract.

The Parent's directors consider that the final outcome of the proceedings described above will not
result in any outflow of resources for the Group or any loss of assets.

In addition, it is worth mentioning that Acciona S.A. figures as defendant, together with Acciona
Construccion, S.A. and the other shareholders of its investee Infraestructuras y Radiales S.A.
(IRASA, the sole shareholder of Autopista del Henares S.A.C.E., concessionaire of the R-2 toll
motorway in Madrid), for several funds claiming to be current creditors of IRASA's bank debt for an
amount of 551.5 million euros (138 million euros will correspond to the Acciona Group) for an
alleged breach of certain shareholders' obligations. A response to the claim has been filed and the
Court is awaiting a date for the preliminary hearing. The Group does not consider it probable that any
liability will arise from this litigation ard tharefara nn nenvicinn hog been recorded in this
connection.



Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

The Non-current provisions heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes
provisions for pensions and similar obligations mainly due to the acquisition of assets and/or
companies from the Endesa Group in 2009.

The group of employees considered in 2020 for measurement was 83 employees (84 employees in
2019), 28 of whom have already taken early retirement or are retired (27 employees at the close of
2019). Not all of them are in the same situation and under the same commitment. The main
characteristics of these provisions are as follows:

D

Defined benefit pension plan with salary increase rate tied to the increase in the CPI. This plan
is treated in exactly the same way as a defined benefit system. The assumptions used in
calculating the actuarial liability in respect of the uninsured defined benefit obligations at 31
December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Interest rate 0.67% 1.18%

Expected rate of return on plan

0.67% 1.18%
assets

ilay

Information is provided below on the changes in the actuarial liabilities for the defined benefit
obligations at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Cost incurred in the vear 73 91

Benetits naid in the vear (145) (185)
13¢

Final actuarial liability 2,567 2,773

Information is provided below on the changes in the actuarial assets for the defined benefit
obligations at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Return recoenised in the vear 20 37

Actuanal eains and losses (502) (703)
8

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the total amount of the final actuarial assets and liabilities
related in full to defined benefit obligations in Spain.

At 2019 year-end, the amount recognised in the consolidated income statement for defined
benefit pension obligations amounted to 86 thousand euros (119 thousand euros in 2019) and
related to the cost incurred during th st of the assets and
liabilities associated with these empl

P






Through subsidiaries or associates, the Acciona Group undertakes investments mainly in transport
infrastructure, energy, water supply and hospitals, and these are then operated by subsidiaries, joint
operations and associates and funded through “Project finance” (financing applied to projects).

These finance structures are applied to projects capable of providing by themselves sufficient support
for the participating financial entities as to the repayment of the borrowings taken out to implement
them. Thus, each one is normally executed through special purpose vehicles in which the project’s
assets are financed on the one hand by a contribution of funds by the project’s sponsors, limited to a
certain predefined amount, and, on the other hand, generally a larger sum through third-party funds
in the form of long-term borrowing. The debt service on these loans or credits is fundamentally
backed by the cash flows to be generated in future by the project itself, as well as by in rem guarantees
over the project’s assets and credit rights.

In financial year 2020, the net decrease under the line Current and non-current project finance
amounted to 315 million euros and mainly corresponds to the amortisations of this type of loan, the
negative effect of exchange differences in the period of 12 million euros, mainly those from the
projects done in US dollars and South African rand, and the decrease of two project finance
arrangements amounting to 167 million euros following the concession asset purchase and sale
agreement mentioned in Note 3.2.h.

With regards to recourse borrowings, the main change in 2020 is produced under Other bank loans
and credit facilities and corresponds to a decrease in a drawdown of 708 million euros which, at the
end of the previous year, was in a restricted disposal account as security for the payment obligations
that could arise from the full acceptance of the public tender offer launched for Nordex SE and which
was released on 9 January 2020 after the end of the public tender offer acceptance period. Also
noteworthy is the arrangement of a loan of AUD 165 million by Acciona Financiacion Filiales, S.A.
in June 2020 with Bankia maturing in 2022, as well as another loan of AUD 100 million by Acciona
Financiacion Filiales Australia Pty Ltd with ING maturing in 2024.

At 31 December 2020, the Group's working capital was negative, although this imbalance between
Current assets and Current liabilities in the balance sheet is considered temporary and has no effect
on the management of the Group’s working capital. At 31 December 2020 the Group companies had
been granted financing of 2,925 million euros that had not been drawn down, relating to credit lines
to finance working capital. This amount includes the liquidity lines signed in the context of the
COVID-19 pandemic; new credit lines (“Liquidity Lines™) signed with banks in a close relationship
with the Group which were arranged for a total of 854 million euros. The Group’s Management is of
the opinion that the amount of these credit lines and the ordinary generation of cash, together with
the realisation of current assets, will sufficiently cover the short-term payment obligations.

In addition, in order to be eligible for the European Central Bank’s liquidity programmes (the
“Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme”), the private DBRS rating was made public, enabling
the Bank of Spain to purchase, to date, 560 million euros of the ECP programmes set up for this

purpose.

As indicated in Note 4.2 I), the adoption of IFRS 13 requires an adjustment in the measurement
techniques applied by the Acciona Group to obtain the fair value of its derivatives in order to
incorporate the bilateral credit risk adjustment so as to reflect both own risk and counterparty risk in
the fair value of the derivatives.









31 December 2031. The redemption of the debt began on 31 December 2012 and will continue with
six-monthly debt write-downs until its total repayment on 31 December 2031. At 31 December 2020,
the balances recorded for this issue on the non-current and current bonds and debentures account
amounted to 180.9 and 11.5 million euros, respectively.

- Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) Programme which was established in 2013 and has been renewed
annually since then, with the latest renewal taking place on 30 April 2020. Acciona Financiacion
Filiales, S.A. is the issuer of the Programme and it is guaranteed by Acciona, S.A. The programme
has a maximum amount of 1,000 million euros. At 31 December 2020, the balance recorded against
this programme in the current bond and debentures account amounted to 834 million euros.

In addition, on 18 May 2020, the Group established a new Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) Programme
underwritten directly by Acciona, S.A. as issuer with a maximum amount of 1,000 million euros.
This programme was formalised with the aim of broadening the investor base and meeting the
eligibility criteria set by the Euro system for the purchase of assets, specifically for the purchase of
commercial paper under the “Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme” (PEPP) announced in
March 2020 by the European Central Bank. At 31 December 2020, the balance recorded against this
programme in the current bond and debentures account amounted to 200 million euros. The aggregate
balance of both programmes is 1,034 million euros at 31 December 2020 (897 million euros at 31
December 2019). Through both programmes, which are listed in Euronext Dublin (formerly the Irish
Stock Exchange), notes are issued on the euro market with maturities between 3 and 364 days.

- Issue by Acciona, S.A. in April 2014 of simple bearer debentures through a private placement, in
the amount of 62.7 million euros, maturing in 2024 and with a fixed coupon of 5.55%, payable
annually. At 31 December 2020, the balances recorded for these simple debentures on the accounts
for non-current and current bonds and debentures, net of the transaction costs and considering the
interest accrued, amounted to 62 and 2.3 million euros, respectively. The fair value of the bond at the
end of the financial year amounts to 71 million euros.

- Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme initially established in 2014 and renewed annually.
The programme is underwritten by Acciona Financiacion de Filiales, S.A., and is guaranteed by
Acciona, S.A. The latest renewal was dated 30 April 2020, with a maximum amount of 2,000 million
euros. In addition, an update of the programme was formalised on 10 June 2020 through a supplement
to the prospectus approved on 30 April 2020. This update includes the BBB credit rating awarded by
the DBRS agency for the Acciona Group's EMTN debt issuance programme. In compliance with
applicable European regulations, the initial prospectus and its renewals and supplements are approved
by the Central Bank of Ireland. The outstanding issues accrue annual interest ranging from 0% to
4.25%. The securities issued under this programme may: accrue fixed or variable interest, be issued
in euros or in another currency and at par, below par and premium and have different maturity dates
for the principal and the interest.

At 31 December 2020 the balances registered against this EMNT programme in the non-current and
current debentures and bonds accounts, net of transactions costs and considering interest accrued,
amounted to 563 and 227 million euros, respectively. The fair value of the bonds at the end of the
financial year amounts to 823 million euros.

- Issue of a Namensschuldverschreibung (NSV) format private placement worth 50 million euros in
October 2019 by Acciona, S.A. maturing in October 2034 with an annual coupon of 2.632% payable
annually. At year-end, the balances recorded far thic hand an the accannte far nap-current and current









The benchmark interest rate for the borrowings arranged by the Acciona Group companies is mainly
Euribor for transactions denominated in euros, Libor for transactions denominated in US dollars,
CDOR for transactions denominated in Canadian dollars, and BBSY for transactions denominated in
Australian dollars. The borrowings arranged for projects in Latin America are normally tied to the
local indices customarily used in the local banking industry, or to the LIBOR rate if the projects in
question are financed in US dollars. As a general rule, each project is to be financed in the currency
in which the flows will be generated from the future asset (natural hedging of the exchange rate risk).

Sensitivity test on interest rate derivatives and debt

The financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk are basically borrowings arranged at
floating interest rates and derivative financial instruments.

In order to be able to analyse the effect that a possible fluctuation in interest rates might have on the
Group’s financial statements, a simulation was performed which assumed a +100 basis point variation
and a -25 basis point variation in floating interest rates at 31 December 2020.

The analysis of sensitivity to upward changes of 1% or downward changes of 0.25% in floating
interest rates (mainly Euribor and Libor) gave rise to a sensitivity in the Group’s consolidated income
statement arising from an increase or decrease in financial results due to interest payments, without
the effect of derivatives being considered, of an increase in interest expense of 27,625 thousand euros
or a decrease in interest expense of 6,906 thousand euros at 31 December 2020, respectively.

The analysis of the sensitivity to upward or downward changes in the long-term interest rate curve in
relation to the fair value of interest rate derivatives included in cash flow hedges arranged by the
Group at 31 December 2020 to a 1% increase or a 0.25% decrease in the interest rate curve would
result in the following impacts before tax:

Group companies (70,409) - - 70,409

Held for sale associates (*) - - (18,008) 18,008

(*) The indicated amount is detailed in proportion to the Group's share percentage.

Group companies 18,294 -- - (18,294)

Held for sale associates (*) - - 4,841 (4,841)
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The Group does not have significant exposure to credit risk with any of its clients or groups of clients
with similar characteristics. Similarly, credit risk concentration is not significant.

The credit and liquidity risk of derivative instruments with a positive fair value is limited in the
Acciona Group, since both cash placements and the arrangement of derivatives are made with highly
solvent counterparties with high credit ratings and no counterparty has significant levels of total credit
risk.

Moreover, the definition given for the fair value of a liability in IFRS 13, based on the concept of
transferring the liability in question to a market player, confirms that own credit risk must be taken
into account in the fair value of liabilities. Thus, Acciona adds a bilateral credit risk adjustment in
order to reflect both its own risk and the counterparty risk in the fair value of derivatives.

Liquidity risk

The Acciona Group manages liquidity risk prudently by ensuring that it has sufficient cash and
negotiable securities (see Note 17) and by arranging committed credit facilities for amounts sufficient
to cater for its projected requirements. As noted in Note 19, at 31 December 2020 the Group
companies had been granted additional financing of 2,925,250 thousand euros that had not been
drawn down relating to credit lines to finance working capital. The average term of these limits
amounts to 2.57 years.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management lies with the Economic and Financial
Department, which prepares the appropriate framework to control the group’s liquidity requirements
in the short, medium and long term. The Group manages liquidity risk by holding adequate reserves,
appropriate banking services, having available loans and credit facilities, monitoring projected and
actual cash flows on an ongoing basis and pairing them against financial asset and liability maturity
profiles.

Finally, attention should be drawn, in relation to this risk, to the fact that the Acciona Group has
recognised, as part of its quest to diversify its funding sources, two European Commercial Paper
programmes for the maximum aggregate amount of 2,000 million euros to issue commercial paper
with maturities of not more than one year and a Euro Medium Term Notes programme for a maximum
of 2,000 million euros (see Note 20).

Economic risk vs. budget variances

The Group has an overall system of economic and budget control for each business, adapted to each
activity, which provides those responsible for each business with the necessary information and
allows them to control potential risks and make the most appropriate management decisions. The
economic and financial information generated within each division is periodically compared with the
projected data and indicators, variances regarding business volume, profitability, cash flows and other
relevant and reliable parameters are assessed and, where e
measures are taken.
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Price risk

With regards to the price risk on the Spanish electricity market, Royal Decree-Law 9/2013, whereby
urgent measures were adopted to guarantee the financial stability of the electricity system, was
published on 12 July 2013. This Royal Decree-Law repealed, among others, Royal Decree 661/2007,
of 25 May, the decree governing the remuneration framework supporting renewable energies for most
of the Acciona Group’s power generation facilities located in Spain. The new remuneration
methodology was established in Royal Decree 413/2014, which regulates the activities for electricity
generation from renewable energy sources, co-generation and waste.

This methodology establishes that, in addition to the remuneration for the sale of electricity generated
valued at market prices, facilities can receive a specific remuneration comprising a term per unit of
power installed, covering, where appropriate the investment costs for a standard facility that cannot
be recovered through electricity sales and an operating term that covers, where applicable, the
difference between operating costs and the revenue from the participation of that standard facility in
the market. Furthermore, the terms for remunerating the investment and the operation will be
reviewed every half of the regulatory period (3 years), taking into consideration the revenue from
energy sales at market rates by standard facilities, so that any upward or downward variations outside
the range of the bands established in said Royal Decree will be incorporated into the calculation of
the specific remuneration. At the end of the regulatory period (6 years), all the parameters of the
model may be reviewed except for the useful life and investment value of the installation. The new
remuneration parameters of the second regulatory period will be published in the first quarter of 2020
and will apply for the years 2020 to 2025 inclusive.

Therefore, the regulatory framework shows that a large part of the Group’s renewable assets,
especially wind power technology commissioned prior to 2004, as well as many of its mini-
hydroelectric power stations, no longer receive any additional remuneration other than the market
price and will thus be exposed to price variations on the electricity market.

Investment and operation remuneration are set in such a way as to ensure that the installations obtain
a reasonable return over their useful life. Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 established that for the first
regulatory period between 2014 and 2019 this return would revolve, before taxes, around the average
return on the secondary market of ten-year Government Bonds, after applying an appropriate
differential, which was set at 300 basis points (value: 7.398%), all without prejudice to a possible
review every six years. However, for this new regulatory period, a relevant modification must be
highlighted: on 22 November 2019, the Royal Decree-Law was published, adopting urgent measures
for the necessary adaptation of remuneration parameters affecting the electricity system and
responding to the process of ceasing the activity of thermal generation plants. Through this Royal
Decree-Law, the method for calculating reasonable profitability is modified, which will be
established through the application of the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) methodology,
following numerical proposals from the Spanish National Markets and Competition Commission. For
the new period, the reasonable rate of return is 7.09%. However, in addition, and in order to provide
stability to the remuneration framework of the facilities entitled to premium remuneration prior to the
entry into force of Royal Decree-Law 9/2013, the facilities are allowed to opt to maintain the rate of
return set for the first regulatory period (7.398%) for a period of 12 years (two regulatory periods),
with the commitment not to initiate or abandon arbitration or legal proceedings based on the
modification of the special remuneration system operated after Royal Decree 661/2007. In this
respect, Acciona chose to maintain the rate of return set at 7.398% for the 12-year period.



At 31 December 2020, 57% of the installed power in Spain is subject to regulated remuneration
whereas the rest is remunerated at market prices.

Finally, as regards the price risk on the international power markets where Acciona operates, it should
be noted that approximately 51% of production is governed by a long-term price contract (PPA)
established with a third party, 16% under a regulatory feed-in tariff and the remainder through
unrestricted sale on the market.

22.- Derivative financial instruments
Interest rate hedges

The Acciona Group regularly arranges interest rate derivatives, which are designated as hedges. These
instruments are used to hedge possible changes in cash flows due to interest payments on long-term
floating rate financial liabilities.

The derivative financial instruments arranged and outstanding at 31 December 2020 and 2019, which
are recognised at market value on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, in assets or
liabilities, depending on the market value of the derivative and the consolidation method, were as
follows:

Investment
Notional . . in held for  Investment Notional . . Financial Investment
Financial . N Financial . .
(thousand euros) amount e peres sale in associates amount [ assets (note in associates
liabilities . liabilities
arranged associates *) arranged 12) *)
(note 15) (*)
Interest rate swans 3.087.671 100.413 (35,0042 (46,936) 3.002.647 114,133 - (62,497)
087 0 35,00 46,931 62, K13 62,49’

(™) 1he indicated amount of investment in associates is net of tax.

The most commonly used interest rate derivatives are interest rate swaps, the purpose of which is to
fix or limit fluctuations in the floating interest rates of hedged borrowings. The Group arranges these
financial derivatives mainly to hedge the cash flows on the debt arranged to finance wind farms or
photovoltaic facilities in the Energy division, to finance infrastructure concession projects, and
corporate debt to cover working capital or project needs.

The Group's interest rate swaps are mainly referenced to EURIBOR. At 31 December 2020, the fixed
interest rates on the EURIBOR benchmarked financial derivative instruments ranged from -0.22% to
5.06%, and at 31 December 2019 from -0.24% to 5.56%.

The amounts recognised by the Group are based on the market values of equivalent instruments at
the balance sheet date. Substantially all the interest rate swaps are designated and effective as cash
flow hedges and the fair value thereof is deferred and recognised in equity.









At 31 December 2019, the market values of foreign currency hedges related mainly to the instalments
of the exchange rate insurance arranged to hedge supplier payments on waste-to-energy plant
construction projects in Australia and the United Kingdom, on the construction of the WestConnex
road in Australia, and on a desalination plant in Qatar.

The amounts recognised by the Group are based on the market values of equivalent instruments at
the balance sheet date. Substantially all the currency purchase transactions are designated and
effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value thereof is deferred and recognised in equity.

The terms in which these cash flow hedges are expected to impact the income statement are shown
below (in thousand euros).

Future §

<1 month 1 - 3 months 3 months - 1 1 year - 5 years +5 years

voear

Associates (*) 1 15 165 42

(*) The indicated amount is detailed in proportion to the Group's share percentage.

The changes in the notional amounts of the financial instruments arranged for the coming years are
as follows:

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Associates (*) 4,986 1,329 - -- -

(*) The indicated amount is detailed in proportion to the Group’s share percentage.

Other derivative financial instruments

Three Australian energy subsidiaries have contracts in place with the country’s energy operator which
enable them to set the future electricity sale price for a specific volume of MW. These contracts are
measured at market value and the changes in value are recognised in equity as value adjustments (see
Note 4.2.I). At 31 December 2020 the balance in reserves, profit and loss, and non-controlling
interests, net of the tax effect, amounted to positive amounts of 2,485, 406 and 826 thousand euros,
respectively, all with balancing entries in non-financial derivative accounts payable amounting to
4,116 thousand euros (non-current) and 1,174 thousand euros (current) (see Note 23).
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On 21 June 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with a third party to assign the future collection
rights arising from various litigation and claims procedures for a fixed, unconditional price charged
of 213 million euros, recognised under Other current payables, of which 170 million euros related to
the claim corresponding to ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A (in liquidation)
(see Note 13), and a contingent price based on the amount finally collected as a result of the resolution
of the litigation and claims proceedings included in the agreement. As mentioned above, the
compensation already recognised by the Generalitat de Catalunya in favour of ATLL Concessionaria
de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. for 53.8 million euros is excluded from the aforementioned

assignment agreement.

As mentioned in Note 19, the Concessionaire filed a claim with the Superior Court of Justice of
Catalonia in November 2020 against the resolution of the Generalitat de Catalunya to settle the
contract, thereby confirming the impossibility of this dispute being resolved without resorting to a
contentious-administrative procedure, which is expected to be resolved in the long term. Therefore,
since the Concessionaire will only pay the amount collected from the third party once the legal
proceedings in progress have been resolved, and always for an amount limited to the amount
previously paid in the proceedings, at 31 December 2020, the aforementioned amount was classified
under Other non-current payables in the consolidated balance sheet.

Grants related mostly to amounts awarded for the construction of wind farms in United States. The
changes in Grants in 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Ralanra at TT 17 701K 1IX &4
‘T'aken tn nrotit/{ lnee) **( ther Incame™ (Hh 61
Ralanecas at 31 17 701Q 1604 500
Talken tn nentitiflnce) M ther Incnme”’ (5N 114N
Balance at 31.12.2020 91,311

There were no significant additions in 2020 and 2019. The line Other reflects mainly a positive
variation due to the exchange rate, as a result of the appreciation of the US dollar against the euro.

24.- Trade and other accounts payable

At 31 December 2020, the balance of trade and other payables came to 2,953 million euros, and to
2,604 million euros in 2019. The increase corresponds mainly to suppliers associated with work in
progress in the infrastructure division.






25.- Tax matters

Tax Consolidation System

Pursuant to current legislation, consolidated tax groups include the parent together with certain
subsidiaries that meet the requirements provided for in Spanish tax legislation. Since 2009, there has
been a single tax group in Spain that avails itself of this special taxation system, the parent company
of which is Acciona, S.A. In addition to the Spanish tax group, the Group pays tax under the tax
consolidation system in Australia (including all the Group’s divisions operating in said country), and
in Germany for the handling business. Various companies comprising the energy division form tax
groups in the US and Portugal.

The other Acciona Group companies file separate tax returns in accordance with the applicable state
or regional tax laws or those in force in each jurisdiction.

Effective from 1 January 2008, several Group companies availed themselves of the special system
for Company Groups for VAT purposes, as set forth in Chapter IX of Title IX of Value Added Tax
Act 37/1992, of 28 December. The parent of the VAT Group is Acciona, S.A. Various entities of the
energy division also pay VAT under the Group VAT system, in accordance with local laws in
Navarra, the United Kingdom, Australia and in the United Arab Emirates, which includes the
Construction and Water project companies in Abu Dhabi and Dubai.

Years open for review by the tax authorities

Tax audits were initiated on 10 March 2012 by the Spanish Internal Revenue Administration (AEAT)
in relation to Corporate Tax for 2007-2009 by the inspection services from the Central Office for
High-Income Taxpayers, against both the Parent Company, Acciona, S.A., and other subsidiaries. In
addition to the review of the Tax Group’s corporate tax for those years, the Company Group for VAT
was under review for 2008 and 2009 and for other taxes for 2008 and 2009 of the Group companies
subject to the tax review.

The inspectors, for their part, queried the fulfilment of the requirements for application of the
exemption in the payment of dividends for one of the non-resident shareholders, in particular, the
requirements of holding the status of effective beneficiary, and this led to the signing of the contested
tax assessments. On 3 and 17 July 2014, the Company lodged economic and administrative appeals
at the Central Economic Administrative Court. On 29 May 2015, the Company reached an agreement
with the shareholder that received the dividends so as to proceed to pay said amount, with settlement
of the tax debt upon the shareholder’s payment. They are currently pending resolution by the National
Appellate Court.

The other inspection actions concluded on 12 June 2014 with the signing of uncontested assessments
for Corporate Tax for 2007-2009 and without any tax due, uncontested conclusions for VAT (without
fine), as well as contested assessments for Personal Income Tax withholdings relating to
compensation for dismissal for 2008-2011. The highest assessments corresponded to the company
Acciona Construccion and after economic-administrative appeals were filed at the Central Economic
and Administrative Court and an administrative appeal was filed before the National Appellate Court
- which annulled the fine proceedings but confirmed the settlements - these assessments became final
when the cassation appeal and a motion for annulment of proceedings was dismissed by the Supreme
Court. The assessments relating to Acciona, © * A ~~in=e A ~an nd A scjona Inmobiliaria for a total
amount of 413 thousand euros have been nal Appellate Court and are



pending resolution. All of the appealed assessments have been duly provisioned. In the case of
Acciona Agua, on 23/12/2020, a ruling partially upholding the appeal was notified, annulling the fine
and confirming the settlement.

On 21 May 2015 the Central Office of High-Income Taxpayers notified the start of inspection actions
in relation to Corporate Tax for financial years 2010-2012, targeting Acciona, S.A., as the parent
company of the group, and several subsidiaries. The activities were concluded with the signing of a
Corporate Tax conformity certificate for the Tax Group and the signing of the VAT settlement
certificate without a fine, under the terms agreed in previous proceedings. However, as a result of the
adjustments made by the inspection, and the reduction in the unused tax credits, a request was filed
on 28 June 2017 to correct self-assessment tax returns for the years 2013 to 2015, and inspection
proceedings of limited scope were initiated on 18 March 2018. These proceedings concluded on 3
December 2018 with the signing of the conformity certificate, resulting in an amount of 2,330
thousand euros to be returned, including interest on arrears.

On 10 January 2013, the company Guadalaviar Consorcio Eolico, S.A. was notified of the inception
of tax inspection actions relating to Corporate Tax and Value Added Tax for financial years 2008 and
2009, in which the value of the wind-power rights transferred in 2009 was reviewed. These actions
concluded with the signing of a contested assessment for the measurement made by the tax auditors
of the said wind-power rights, which increased the value declared by the parties. The company
received the proposed settlement from the technical services from the Central Office for High-Income
Taxpayers on 23 December 2013 and an economic-administrative appeal was filed at the Central
Economic and Administrative Court on 13 January 2014. On 16 February 2017, the Central Economic
and Administrative Court issued a resolution accepting the claim in part and ordering the Inspection
to proceed to notify the entity of its right to have a counter valuation by appraisal experts. On 27
August 2017, the Technical Office of the Tax and Customs Control of the Spanish Internal Revenue
Administration (AEAT) notified of the Central Economic and Administrative Court’s enforcement
of the resolution agreement, retroactively agreeing to the actions taken during the Inspection phase
and reporting a new settlement agreement.

On 22 September 2017, the Company lodged an economic and administrative appeal at the Central
Economic Administrative Court against the aforementioned Settlement Agreement, requesting the
automatic suspension without providing a debt guarantee. On 5 April 2018, allegations were
submitted to the Central Economic Administrative Court. On 20 October 2020, notification was
received from the Central Economic Administrative Court partially upholding the claim, considering
that part of the inspection valuation was incorrect and not well-reasoned, agreeing that the Technical
Office should issue a new settlement. On 11 December 2020, a contentious-administrative appeal
was filed with the National Appellate Court.

With regard to the suspension of the contested measure, a full guarantee waiver was requested, and a
contentious-administrative appeal was filed with the National Appellate Court on 6 October 2014
against the Central Economic Administrative Court’s ruling that agreed to its inadmissibility. The
National A ppellate Court dismissed the request for a suspension on 19 November 2014. The company
filed a cassation appeal before the Supreme Court on 2 February 2015, and notification of a ruling
upholding the appeal was received on 28 January 2016, for which reason the National Appellate Court
agreed to suspend the execution of the tax debt. The notification of a new settlement agreement in
execution of the Central Economic and Administrative Court’s ruling, which contained a tax debt,
the company again requested the Central Economic and Administrative Court to suspend the
execution of the debt, requesting a full guarantee waiver. On 25 June 2019, the Central Economic and
Administrative Court denied the suspe=~i~= =itk ~rnwanton wnine A ~nwbaetigyg administrative
appeal against this refusal was lodge vhich is pending






Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) and the tax result

Reconciliation between the accounting result and the income tax expense, at 31 December 2020 and
2019, was as follows:

ondnlidaten nrotit/i 1n<<) hetare tay SMIX UV S44 a4
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Tax expense from discontinued operations -- -

The Permanent differences item is made up of income and expenditure that are not eligible for
inclusion in the tax base in accordance with the applicable tax legislation. In addition, it also includes
those results that are eliminated in the consolidation process but, nonetheless, are fully effective
within the scope of the individual tax returns of each entity in the Group, particularly those that are
not consolidated in any of the Group’s consolidated tax groups.

The most significant negative permanent differences in the year include the reversal of the impairment
of the investment in Nordex amounting to 145 million euros, which was not deductible in prior years
and therefore not subject to taxation in the current year, and the adjustment of the positive result of
78.7 million euros arising from the transfer of the stake in two concession assets (see Note 3.2.h),
which is also not subject to taxation. The most significant positive permanent differences amounted
to 44 million euros due to inflationary adjustments of companies taxed in Mexico and Chile.

In 2019, the most significant permanent differences in the year included positive differences
amounting to 32.4 million euros due to the effect of the inflationary adjustments of companies taxed
in Chile and Mexico, and negative differences amounting to 20.4 million euros due to the exemption
of positive income from foreign branches.

The Tax expense adjusted by tax rate is the result of applying the different tax rates applicable to the
adjusted accounting result for each of the different jurisdictions where the Group operates.

The line Unrecognised tax credits includes the tax credits derived from the negative results generated
by some subsidiaries.

The line Effect of tax adjustments from previous years and other mainly reflects the existence of
certain projects and transactions that have enabled tax credits in Brazil to be re-estimated.
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At 31 December 2020, the tax loss carryforwards, generated by the subsidiaries before their inclusion
in the Tax Group of which Acciona, S.A. is the parent company, amounted to 22.3 million euros. Of
this amount, a total of 19.2 million euros related to tax loss carryforwards not capitalised on the
consolidated balance sheet as there was no assurance of the achievement of sufficient future profits
or because the tax regulations establish limits and requirements for them to be offset.

In addition, some subsidiaries in Mexico, the US, Australia, Chile, South Africa and Brazil recognised
tax credits for negative taxable bases pending offsetting. There are also taxable bases that have not
been recorded totalling 978 million euros, mainly generated in the US, Canada, Chile and Mexico.

Regarding the estimation of Corporate Tax of the Tax Group for 2020, negative tax bases are not
proposed to be offset, resulting in a deferred tax asset balance for this concept amounting to 71.3

million euros.

At 2020 year-end, the deadlines for the tax credits recognised for negative taxable bases pending
application were as follows, in thousand euros:

Acrinnma N A fay oronn T1 UM Nn lanainag data

International — limited A RGA 2074
infernational — hmited 31 079 20076
Intermational — limted 77 ROX 2078
International — linmited 34 758 2030
International — limited 1 A76 2037
International — limited 7966 2039
Total 410,140

The Corporate Tax Act (Act 27/2014, of 27 November) with effective date on 1 January 2015, set an
unlimited deadline for offsetting negative taxable bases.

On the other hand, Act 27/2014, of 27 November, on Corporate Tax, eliminated, effective 1 January
2015, the deadline for offsetting double-taxation deductions pending application from previous
financial years, so the period is unlimited, as provided for in section 39 of Act 27/2014, and extended
the general period to offset other deductions to 15 years, except for R&D+I which was extended to
18 years.

The unused tax credits, totalling 117,623 thousand euros, related mainly to those earned by the tax
Group of which Acciona, S.A. is the Parent Company. At 31 December 2020, the most significant
unused tax credits were: 84,631 thousand euros for R&D&I activities, 23,145 thousand euros for
reinvestment of extraordinary income and @ 79N ¢hareend avene £he dnpations, events of special
interest and non-deductible amortisation in :
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Most of the deferred tax assets included in the line “Other” related to provisions for liabilities, risks,
insolvency, and other non-deductible items amounting to 301,137 thousand euros, to the adjustment
for non-deductible accounting amortisation of 30% of the Spanish companies introduced on a
temporary basis for the years 2013 and 2014 and which began to reverse in 2015, the amount of which
at the close of 2020 is 15,780 thousand euros, as well as the homogenisations made as part of the
consolidation process and the elimination of internal margins that reverse as the assets are amortised.
Finally, this heading includes adjustments to the tax base through the application of other countries’
specific regulations whereby certain expenses are not deductible until payment or do not follow the
accounting accrual criterion for their deductibility, as is the case with Mexico, Australia and the
United States, or because a billing-based criterion is applied instead of accounting accrual by stage
of progress, as happens in Chile. It also includes taxes associated with the allocation of the price paid
(PPA) for the acquisition of Lend Lease Construction Holdings Pty Ltd (see note 3.2.h).

The line Other under the deferred tax liability heading includes the tax adjustments under the freedom
to amortise established in the Eleventh Additional Provision included in RDL 4/2004 (consolidated
text of the Corporate Tax Act) by Act 4/2008. The accumulated amount of this adjustment pending
at 31 December 2020 for the Spanish Tax Group companies amounted to 63,227 thousand euros. It
also included the amortisation effect for tax purposes of Mexico, the US, South Africa, Chile and
Canada for approximately 165, 45, 45, 22 and 10 million euros for tax liability, respectively, as well
as adjustments for application of the specific regulations of countries where accounting income is not
recognised for tax purposes until the bill is issued or collected, instead of the principle of accounting
accrual or stage of progress, mainly in Mexico. This caption also includes the deferral of income by
several Australian companies, as well as the tax treatment of income on the formalisation of projects.

Based on the enactment of Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of 2 December, which establishes measures in
the taxation area aimed at the consolidation of public finances, and urgent measures in social matters,
the total amount of the deferred tax liability related to the impairment of portfolio pending reversion
in the taxable base for 45,456 thousand euros. This Royal Decree established the incorporation of
value impairments of investments that were fiscally deductible in periods prior to 2013, for a
maximum period of five years from the tax periods starting on 01 January 2016, regardless of whether
their value has been recovered or not. For quantification of this tax liability, the specific situations of
each value impairment of the shareholding in capital or in capital and reserves of the investees that
were fiscally deductible were considered, as well as potential legal or contractual restrictions or
otherwise in connection to possible transferability of such shareholdings. In 2018, a deferred liability
of 11,453 thousand euros was derecognised.

Reporting obligations

Current Corporate tax legislation provides tax incentives to encourage certain investments. The
companies in the Tax Group have availed themselves of the benefits provided for under this
legislation.

In 2020, transactions were carried out under Article 86 of the Corporate Tax Act 27/2014, to which
the special regime for mergers, spin-offs, contributions of assets and exchanges of securities applies.

- Merger by absorption of the company Fidentiis Gestion S.G.ILL.C., S.A. by Bestinver
Gestion S.G.I.1.C., S.A., documented in a public deed dated 11 December 2020.

- Merger by absorption of Bestinver Sociedad de Valores S.A. by Fidentiis Equities, S.V. S.A.,
and change of corporate name, dc o T T T 777 December 2020.



Pursuant to section 3 of article 86 of Act 27/2014 on the consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act,
the information required for operations carried out in previous years appears in the relevant separate
notes to financial statements as approved.

In 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, several companies in the tax group deducted the tax credit for
impairment losses on ownership interests in Group companies, jointly-controlled entities and
associates, as provided for in Article 12.3 of Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004 (consolidated text of
the Corporate Tax Act)!, regulated in Temporary Provision Sixteen of Act 27/2014.

Act 16/2013, of 29 October, repealed, with effect from 1 January 2013, section 12.3 of the
consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act in relation to deduction of impairment losses on such
equity interests and established a transitional system for the inclusion of losses pending incorporation
at 31/12/2012 in the taxable base.

Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of 2 December, which establishes measures aimed at the consolidation of
public finances and urgent measures in social matters, provided for mandatory minimum reversion
of deductible portfolio reversions, in a maximum period of five years, effective financial year 2016.

The notes to the separate financial statements of these companies include the disclosures required by

tax legislation concerning the change in the year in the investees’ equity, the amounts included in the
taxable base and the amounts yet to be included.

26.- Guarantee commitments to third parties

The Group has provided third-party bonds before clients, public agencies and financial institutions,
for 5,537,988 thousand euros and 4,666,084 thousand euros at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The increase was mainly due to bonds delivered for new tenders within the construction
business.

The purpose of most of the bonds provided was to guarantee good performance in the development
of the works engaged by the infrastructure division.

The companies estimate that any liabilities that could arise from the guarantees provided would not
be significant.

1 Regulated in the Twenty-Fourth Temporary Provision of Act 27/2014
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The Group’s different business models are described below, according to the nature, timing, and
uncertainty of the revenue:

Long-Term Asset Business

This category includes the portfolio of operating assets for renewable electricity generation in
the group, as well as its portfolio of concessions for social, transport, and water infrastructure.
It is a capital-intensive business, where most of the investment is made at the beginning of the
useful life and a high operating margin is needed for a return on investment as well as to
compensate for operation and maintenance costs. Revenue is characterised by its low level of
risk given that it is mostly regulated or comes from long-term contracts with solvent
counterparties that have a high degree of diversification. Revenue recognition is carried out at
the same time as electricity is generated, or the service is provided, as applicable. With regards
to generation assets, the high diversification of the portfolio in terms of facilities, technologies
and geographical areas means that production is highly stable and predictable.

Service Business

Includes the group’s services business, covering the operation and maintenance of
infrastructure and other services related to such activities within the service business, as well
as financial services (asset management). It is a medium risk business with low capital
intensity. With regards to infrastructure services, revenue comes from long-term operation
and maintenance contracts which range from 5 and 15 years. Revenue recognition is carried
out at the same time as the service is provided. In the case of financial services, these activities
have a high margin given the specialisation and added value of the business, and while they
are exposed to the volatility of the market, a high degree of loyalty from its customer base is
also enjoyed. For mediation and consultancy services, revenue recognition is carried out at
the same time as the service is provided.

Greenfield Developments Business

This type of business encompasses activities for the construction of civil works (railways,
roads, bridges, hydraulic works, etc.), buildings (residential and non-residential), industrial
and water treatment facilities (the latter two with high technological content and carried out,
for the most part, under the turnkey or EPC - Engineering, Procurement and Construction-
modality), as well as the development and construction of renewable generation assets. The
main purpose of this activity is the creation of new and complex infrastructures, both for
public or private clients as well as for the company’s own portfolio and is characterised by its
low capital intensity which makes it possible to apply lower margins in comparison with other
businesses of the group, which require higher investment levels. The revenue horizon depends
on the level of the contracted portfolio, which is usually between 18 and 24 months. Because
of that, the work generally consists in the creation or transformation of an asset that is under
the client’s control, and revenue is recognised based on the level of completion of the work.
The business also includes real estate promotion activities (both residential and tertiary) the
revenue of which is recognised at the time that the property is delivered to the client, with a
generation period of around 36 months, which includes preparing the project, licensing,
execution, etc.
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2020:

Energy 45,019 9,032 MW/H 20%

Other activities 6,749 -- N/A 0%
2019:

Energy 39,397 4,456 MW/H 11%

Other activities 4,437 - N/A 0%

TOT/

In the energy division, land lease contracts are entered into with variable rents subject to the MW/H
produced or the amount invoiced by the technical facility, which allows them to establish a logical
correlation between the generation of income from the energy facility and one of its main operating
costs. The estimate of future variable rent flows is conditional on the evolution of technical conditions
such as corrective maintenance or periods of unavailability and meteorological conditions such as the
hours of sunshine and wind that affect energy production in the various countries in which the
Acciona Group operates. It is reasonable to estimate that the proportion will be similar to that
presented in previous years in a range of 11% -20%.

In the infrastructure division, variable rents are associated with the rental of machinery on an
hour/machine basis and are non-recurring. The existence of variable income makes it possible to
adapt the cost accrued to the execution deadlines and resource consumption of the works, so that there
is a natural mechanism that adjusts the cost to the level of production if there are construction delays.
The estimate of future cash flows from variable rents is conditional upon the evolution of the
division's construction backlog and the type of construction projects awarded to the Group, which
determine the type of machinery and resources that will be required for their execution and, therefore,
it is not possible to make a reliable estimate of these flows.

The amount relating to leases applying the exceptions to [FR!
and short term amounts to 55 million euros (61.5 million eur
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Change in provisions:

Breakdown of the balance of this heading on the consolidated income statement was as follows (in
thousand euros):
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At 31 December 2020 and 2019, Other provisions included the provision for future replacement or
large repairs in concessions recognised under the intangible model, as well as the provision for
litigations. This heading also includes the impact of provisions for the completion of construction
work and provisions for onerous contracts.

Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets

Breakdown for this heading on the income statement for financial years 2020 and 2019 was as
follows:
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At 31 December 2020, the gain of 79 million euros generated as a result of the effective transfer of
control of the companies holding the concession operating contracts for Autovia de los Viiiedos,
S.A.U., Acciona Servicios Concesionales, S.L. and Sociedad Concesionaria Hospital del Norte, S.A.,
in which the Group owned 100% of the share capital (see 3.2.h), was recognised under Profit/losses
on disposals of non-current assets (see note 3.2.h).

Additionally, gains of 17.3 million euros were recognised as a result of the transfer of the 100%
ownership interest held by the Group in Acciona Campus Espafia, S.A., the main Group company in
which the rental property activity related to student residences located in Spain was concentrated,
amounting to 17.3 million euros.

In 2019, profit arising from the transfer of the shareholding in S.C. Autovia Gerediaga Elorrio, S.A.
and Sociedad Explotadora Autovia Gerediaga Elorrio, S.A. was recorded, giving rise to capital gains
for the Group of 5.5 million euros, as indicated in note 10. In addition, capital gains of 6.9 million
euros are included for the sale of real estate from the real estate division.

At 31 December 2020, an impairment reversal amounting t¢ °7 7 e
wind farms and photovoltaic plants of the Energy division ha:

other non-current assets (see Note 4.5).

=

Page - 141 -



Other gains and losses

In the 2020 financial year, this heading relates mainly to sundry expenses incurred as a result of the
effects of the health crisis on certain projects.

In addition, at 31 December 2020 the heading includes the negative consolidation difference arising
after the acquisition of control of 100% of the shares representing the share capital of the CEI
Subgroup (Lendlease Construction Holdings Pty Ltd), as described in note 3.2.h.

Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financial instruments at fair value

At 31 December 2020, changes in the fair value of financial instruments amounting to 15,265
thousand euros relate mainly to the fair value of energy sales contracts entered into by Group
subsidiaries in the United States, Australia and Chile to supply a specific amount of energy in the
long term at a fixed price; an inefficiency expense is also recognised for cash hedging derivatives of
738 thousand euros and energy prices of 406 thousand euros (see Note 22).

29.- Segment reporting

Segment reporting is done based on the nature of the goods and services produced by the Group. The
Acciona Group’s business model is inspired by values supported by two pillars: Energy and
Infrastructure, offering products and services with an emphasis on supplying solutions to meet the
challenges of modern society and always under the same guiding principle: sustainable development.

The Group also has other lines of business grouped under Other Activities, which mainly comprises
fund management and financial intermediation services, real estate business, and wine production (as
indicated in Note 3.2-h, the wine production activity was derecognised on 28 December 2020
following the disposal of 81.47% of Grupo Bodegas Palacio, S.A.U.).

Each of the segments constitutes a differentiated business that has its own address and reporting
structure in order to evaluate the degree to which the objectives are achieved. The information
presented to Acciona Group’s Corporate Management in order for the performance of the different
segments to be evaluated, as well as to allocate resources between them, is structured according to
this segmentation criterion.

Costs incurred by the Corporate Unit are distributed pro rata, using an internal cost distribution
system, among the different divisions. Inter-segment sales are made at market prices.

In addition to the segment information, in order to help understand the results and in line with the
way in which the Acciona Group Directors manage this information, certain amounts related to
Corporate Transactions that facilitate a better understanding of the ordinary course of business are
presented as an additional column. Nonetheless, where these effects are material in respect of the
Group’s results, details are given as to how they impact each segment.

Finally, the information is also presented in terms of the geograj
take place.
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Finance costs:

In 2020, payables to third parties subtracted from equity and included in “Finance Costs” relating to
the periodic settlements of hedging derivatives and corresponding to fully consolidated Group
companies amounted to 30,100 thousand euros (25,310 thousand euros in 2019).

In addition, 13,513 thousand euros (10,985 thousand euros in 2019) relating to these periodic

settlements were recognised as a decrease in the results of companies accounted for using the equity
method.

31.- Proposed application of profit/(loss)

Proposed application of the profit in financial years 2020 and 2019 of Acciona, S.A., as approved by
the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting, in the case of 2019, and that the Board of Directors will
submit to approval by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting, in the case of 2020, is as follows
(in euros):

Distribhutinn hqcis:

I 8,548.2 60,06 7
Annlicatinn:
To statutorv reserve 26.015.854 .82 26.004,357 30
),01:
‘T'o voluntarv reserves 17.265.941 96 175 391 145 69
16.7
Total 260,158,548.23 260,043,573.01

The proposed allocation of the result for 2020 contemplates the distribution of dividends of 3.90 euros
per share.

Under its Articles of Association, Acciona, S.A. must, in any event, allocate 10% of net profit to legal
and statutory reserves in such a manner that, when the former is covered (20% of the share capital),
any remaining portion of the 10% of net profit must be transferred to the statutory reserve. This
reserve is unrestricted.

The Board of Directors proposes that the capitalisation reserve established in Article 25 of Law
27/2014 of 27 November on Corporate Income Tax be charged to profit for the year, for an amount
of 7,935,804.75 euros, equivalent to 10% of the amount of the increase in equity relating to the
companies forming part of the tax group of which Acciona, S.A. is the Parent Company. The
foregoing provision entitles the Company to reduce its corporate income tax base by the same amount,
up to a limit of 10% of the taxable income for the tax group f e
excess can be carried forward to the following two tax period
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32.- Environmental matters

In 2020, 70 million euros were allocated to managing the environmental impacts generated by the
Group's activities (prevention, reduction or correction of impacts). Of this amount, 66 million euros
has been spent and 4 million euros has been allocated to investments. The breakdown of this economic
figure for Acciona’s environment-related activities is as follows:

Measures to minimise environmental impact 49
inviro.....__ita arch, development & innova
Personnel involved in the environmental activitv 5

Environmental consultancv and advisorv services 1
)

Total 70

(*) This category includes other environmental expenses, including insurance and taxes, training, environmental
management system, environmental communication and awareness.

33.- Earnings per share

- Basic:

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit distributable to the Company’s
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year.

The amounts for the periods closed at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are given below:

Equity attributed to the Parent Company (thousand euros) 380,302 351,678

Basic earnings per share (euros) 6.97 6.46

- Diluted:

To estimate diluted earnings per share, the company adjusts the year’s profit attributable to the holders
of ordinary equity instruments, and the weighted average number of shares outstanding by all the
potential dilutive effects attached to ordinary shares.

In both 2020 and 2019, the only dilutive effect relates to emnlovee incentive nlane which have no
relevant effect on the calculation, and therefore basic earning €
coincide.
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34.- Events after the reporting period

The Board of Directors of Acciona, S.A., at its meeting to prepare the 2020 Financial Statements,
decided, among other matters, to initiate the process of an Initial Public Offering of the shares of its
subsidiary and head of the Energy division Corporacion Acciona Energias Renovables, S.L.
(currently being transformed into a public limited company), for its subsequent listing. The final
approval of the Offering is subject to the assessment carried out by the corresponding management
bodies of the Company, taking into account, among other factors, market conditions and investor
interest.

35.- Related-party transactions

As indicated in these notes to the consolidated financial statements, transactions performed by the
Company with its subsidiaries (related parties) as part of its normal business activities, as regards
their purpose and terms and conditions, were eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
note. Transactions between the Group and its associates are disclosed below.

Transactions with associates

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, detail of the balances receivable from and payable to associates was
as follows (in thousand euros):

‘I'rade and other acconnts receivahle 66,695 90.595
17,6 i

I nans vranted 95.6'74 75914

Income 146.590 118,991
: 33,2

The Income line mainly includes the billings recorded by the infrastructure area for active projects
under construction, particularly those made to Concesionaria Linha Universidade, S.A. for the
construction of line 6 of the Sao Paulo metro.

The balances of Expenses and Payables mainly include transactions carried out by companies in the
energy division with the Nordex Group corresponding to the acquisition of wind turbines for the

construction of wind farms.

The balances receivable related to the line Loans fo associates were mainly made up of loans made
by Acciona Concesiones, S.A and Acciona Energia, S.A. to associates.

These transactions were performed on an arm’s length basis.

Transactions with other related parties

At 31 December 2020, following the arrival of the AXA Investment Managers-Real Assets in the
shareholding structure of the Acciona Group subsidiary, Acciona Energy Internacional, S.A., the fund
became a “related party” for the Group as the term is defined in IAS 24. There were no transactions
of note in 2020 with AXA.



Transactions with shareholders

In 2020 there were no significant transactions involving a transfer of resources or obligations between
the Parent or its Group companies and the Company’s main shareholders.

Transactions with directors or executives

The Group’s Related parties are deemed to be, in addition to the subsidiaries, associates and joint
operations, the Company Management’s Key personnel (members of its Board of Directors and of
senior management, and their close relatives) and the entities over which key management personnel
may exercise control or significant influence. The following is a summary of two transactions carried
out in the 2020 financial year with executive directors or companies related to them, which are
detailed in the Annual Corporate Governance Report:

Sales of related entities’ shares by Acciona Agua, S.A. to Executive Directors

On 21 June 2019, Acciona, S.A. reported that it had assigned any future collection rights arising from
the claim that ATLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. (in liquidation) has with the
Generalitat de Catalunya resulting from the cancellation of the Ter-Llobregat bulk water supply
contract award (see Note 19).

As a result of this assignment, and in order to continue with the claim arising from the cancellation
of the concession contract, the Acciona Group, as the majority shareholder of ATLL, offered to
acquire the respective shares of ATLL’s other shareholders, all under the same terms and conditions.

This acquisition process was finally completed on 14 April 2020, through the sale and purchase of
6% of'the share capital of ATLL held by Global Buridan, S.L. and Global Lubbock, S.L., respectively.

In accordance with the provisions of the Board Regulations, the transaction was authorised by the
Board of Directors, following a report from the Audit Committee.

The Secretary of the Committee reminds the committee members that, given the situation of the world
economic crisis and the political uncertainty in Catalonia, prevailing at the time the Bidding
Consortium was formed, several institutional investors declined the invitation to form part of the
consortium at the last moment: therefore, the Board not only approved but promoted the subscription
of non-controlling interests in the Consortium among the members of the Board, through which,
finally, it was possible to form the Consortium and present the Offer.

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2014-2019

On 28 May 2020, the General Shareholders' Meeting approved the amendment of the 2014 Plan for
the delivery of shares and performance shares of Acciona, S.A. This amendment is to allow the
incentive to be settled for the entire Plan, in favour of the Executive Directors, either annually or over
several years, through the delivery of other company assets that the Board of Directors may consider
suitable at market value, according to an independent expert's
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This Plan settlement process, under the supervision of the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee and with the agreement of the Board of Directors dated 10
December 2020, was completed on 28 December 2020, by the execution of a public deed for the
delivery of a total of 3,564,794 shares of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, S.A., representing 81.48% of
its share capital, to the Executive Directors in the following proportion:

- Executive Chairman, 2,227,778 shares, representing 50.92% of its share capital.
- Executive Vice-Chairman, 1,337,016 shares, representing 30.55% of its share capital.

In addition, the transactions performed by the Group in 2020 and 2019 with its related parties are
listed below, differentiating between the Company’s significant shareholders, members of the Board
of Directors and Managers, and other related parties. Related party transactions are made on terms
equivalent to those in arm’s length transactions that usually take place in a normal business
relationship with Acciona, S.A. or the Group companies within the scope of the ordinary course of
trade of these entities and under market conditions. These transactions consisted basically of:
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36.- Remuneration and other benefits

A. Board of Directors

In 2020 the remuneration accrued by the members of the Company’s Board of Directors, and taking
into account that this remuneration is taken from the perspective of the Parent and its subsidiaries,
totalled, in euros, the sum indicated in this Note.

According to article 31 of Articles of Association, the remuneration for Directors will consist in a
fixed annual allocation determined for their membership of the Board of Directors and any
Committees on which each Director may sit. The amount of the remuneration to be paid by the
Company to the Directors as a whole for belonging to the Board of Directors and its Committees will
be that determined for this purpose by the General Meeting of Shareholders. Once established, this
amount shall remain in force until such time as it may be amended, and the Board of Directors may
reduce the amount in the financial years where this is considered convenient.

The Board of Directors determines the exact amount to be paid within that limit and its distribution
among the different Directors, with consideration being given to the functions and responsibilities of
each member, sitting on the Board’s committees and any other unbiased circumstances considered
relevant by the Board.

Regardless of the provisions contained in section above, the remuneration deriving from membership
of the Board of Directors shall be compatible with any other remuneration (fixed salary; variable
bonuses depending on the attainment of business, corporate and/or performance goals; compensation
for removal of the Director for reasons other than the failure to perform his or her duties; welfare
systems; deferred remuneration items) that, following a proposal by the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee and by resolution passed by the Board of Directors, could correspond to
the Director for the performance of other functions in the Company, be they senior management
executive functions or otherwise, apart from those of joint supervision and decision-taking carried
out as mere members of the Board.

Following a resolution adopted by the General Shareholders’ Meeting with the legally required scope,
Executive Directors may also be remunerated through the delivery of shares or share option rights,
or by means of any other remuneration referenced to the value of the shares.

Furthermore, art. 55 of the Regulations for the Board of Directors establishes that the Board
determines the system for distributing the remuneration for Directors within the framework
established in the Articles of Association.

The decision must take into account the report issued for the purpose by the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee.

The Board of Directors shall strive to ensure that the Directors’ remuneration is moderate and in line
with that paid on the market in companies of a similar size and business activity, with preference for
those formats relating a significant portion of the remuneration to their dedication to Acciona.

The system for remuneration of independent directors will strive to serve as a sufficient incentive for
their dedication without compromising their independence.



The remuneration of external directors representing substantial shareholders for their performance as
Directors must be proportional to that of other Directors and shall not represent any favoured
treatment in the form of remuneration of the shareholder(s) designating them. The remuneration
system will establish similar remuneration for comparable functions and dedication.

As regards remuneration of executive directors, article 55 bis of the Regulations establishes that the
Board of Directors must try and ensure that the remuneration policies in force at each time include
for variable remuneration necessary technical safeguards to make sure that such remuneration is in
line with the professional performance of its beneficiaries and does not arise simply from the general
trend of markets or of the company’s business sector or from other similar circumstances. The
remuneration of directors must be transparent.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting approved the Directors Remuneration Policy for the years 2018-
2023, without prejudice to the fact that amendments introduced by the Policy shall apply to
remuneration accrued from the date the Policy was approved. In this regard, the directors'
remuneration policy for 2021, 2022 and 2023 was approved as a separate item on the agenda for the
General Shareholders' Meeting of 28 May 2020 in accordance with the provisions of article 529 of
the Spanish Capital Companies Act and article 31.5 of Acciona's Articles of Association, which
establish the obligation to approve the directors' remuneration policy at least every three years as a
separate item on the agenda.

In any case, any remuneration received by Directors will be in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Policy in force at all times, except for the remuneration expressly approved by the
General Shareholders' Meeting.

The Remuneration Policy approved at the Meeting and according to Article 31.2 of the Acciona’s
Articles of Association establishes: a) the maximum amount of remuneration payable per year to the
directors in aggregate for their duties as such is 1,700,000 euros; b) except where the General
Shareholders” Meeting establishes otherwise, the distribution of the remuneration among the directors
will be decided by the Board of Directors, having consideration for the functions and responsibilities
of each director, whether they belong to Board committees, and other objective circumstances that it
considers to be relevant.

The Board of Directors resolved, at the proposal of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee,
to set annual amounts for membership of the Board of Directors and its Committees as follows: a)
Executive directors shall not receive remuneration for their membership of the Board of Directors,
and therefore their remuneration shall be that which corresponds to their executive functions; b) if an
executive committee ceases the exist then the remuneration for membership to such a committee is
removed; ¢) the remuneration for membership of non-executive directors to the board is set at 100,000
euros; d) the remuneration for membership to the Committees is changed, which is set at 70,000 euros
for the audit committee, 55,000 euros for the appointments and remunerations committee, and 50,000
euros for the sustainability committee; €) the additional remuneration for holding the position of
Independent Coordinating Director is set at 30,000 euros; and f) the additional remuneration for
chairing the committees is set at 18,000 euros for the audit committee, 11,000 for the appointments
and remunerations committee, and 8,000 euros for the sustainability committee.
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The 2020 General Shareholders® Meeting agreed on item four, with the favourable vote of 99.9% of
the capital present and represented at the Meeting, to the modification, if applicable, of the settlement
system for the 2014 Plan for Delivery of Shares and Performance Shares; this modification is to allow
the incentive to be settled on an annual or multi-year basis for beneficiaries entitled to receive
Company shares through the delivery of other Company assets, such as shareholdings in Bestinver
Investment Funds, listed shares of other companies where Acciona holds a significant stake, or any
other asset that the Board of Directors may consider suitable at market value according to an
independent expert's valuation, as well as in cash, keeping the rest of the terms and conditions
established by the 2014-2019 LTIP in force.

After approval by the General Shareholders’ Meeting, the Board unanimously agreed to initiate the
independent expert valuation process for the shares of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, S.A.U.; the
purpose of which was the possible substitution of Acciona, S.A. shares for Grupo Bodegas Palacio
1894, S.A.U. shares as settlement for the LTIP. As established in Article 46.2 of the Board
Regulations, Audit Committee hired an independent expert and supervised the entire valuation
process.

The Audit Committee hired and supervised the reports of different independent experts and, taking
the average of the two highest valuations into account, submitted a valuation proposal to the Board
of Directors for a total value of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894 SAU of 32.35 million euros.

The Board of Directors set the value of the 233,252 shares of Acciona SA at 26,357,476 euros (a
value of 113 euros per share, corresponding to the share price of Acciona, SA at the market close on
10 December 2020) and proposed the delivery of 3,564,794 shares of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894,
SAU, representing 81.48% of its share capital and a value of 26,357,476 euros, according to the
following breakdown:

* Chairman: 2,227,778 shares of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, S.A.U.
* Vice Chairman: 1,337,016 shares of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, S.A.U.

The executive directors accepted the proposal presented by the Board of Directors.

For the purposes of substituting the assigned shares for Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894 SAU shares, the
following valuation criteria have been taken into account: the market value of said assets at the
settlement date, which is equivalent to the market value of the shares on said date.

In this sense, the valuation of these shares of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894 SAU, as agreed by the
Shareholders' Meeting, coincides with the market value of Acciona SA shares that correspond to the
executive directors according to the settlement of the 2014 Plan agreed by the Board of Directors.
This equivalence has been made by an independent expert appointed by the Audit Committee, who,
as established in Article 46.2 of the Regulations of the Board of Directors, has verified that all the
necessary measures have been complied with to ensure that the operation was carried out under
market conditions.

Additionally, in 2020, 8,675 shares have been delivered to the Executive Directors, of those
corresponding to the shares that were assigned in 2017 and whose delivery was deferred linearly for
a period of three years, equivalent to 20% of the total concession. The corresponding breakdown is
as follows:

e Chairman: 5,422 shares.



Vice Chairman: 3,253 shares.

The amount of the shares delivered was 980 and 799 thousand euros in 2020 and 2019 respectively,
equivalent to the number of actions multiplied by the market value at the date of delivery.

The Independent director Sonia Dul4 is a Non-executive director and Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the companies in the Bestinver subgroup following her appointment on 22 July 2019.
Only the position at Bestinver, S.A. (within the entire Bestinver subgroup group) is remunerated, and
the amount accrued in 2020 for the period in office is 100 thousand euros.

In 2014, the company implemented a savings plan related to a term life assurance, permanent
disability in the degrees of total, absolute and grand invalidity, and death (Savings Plan) aimed solely
and exclusively at the Company’s Executive Directors. The basic characteristics of the plan are as
follows:

a)
b)

d)

It is a social welfare system based on a defined contribution.

It is a system endowed externally through the payment by the Company of annual premiums
to an insurance company with the Participant as the beneficiary, for the coverage of survival
and the risk contingencies, i.e.: (i) death and (ii) permanent disability in the degrees
established in the Regulations.

Should the Participants cease to occupy positions as Executive Directors of Acciona for any
reason, the Company shall cease to pay the premiums to the Savings Plan on the date on which
they indisputably cease to hold their position, without prejudice to any economic rights
recognised to Participants.

The payment of the Benefit arising out of the Savings Plan will be made directly by the
insurance entity to the Participants, net of any corresponding withholdings or payments on
account of personal Income Tax that may be applicable in each case and payable by the
beneficiary of the Benefit. For the rest of the contingencies, the payment of the Benefit will
also be made directly by the insurance entity to any entitled parties.

The status of Participant in the Savings Plan will be lost should any of the following
circumstances arise: i) occurrence of any of the risk contingencies covered and collection of
the Benefit; ii) attainment of the age of 65 years; iii) removal from the position of Executive
Director of Acciona for any reason other than those indicated above.

Consolidation conditions. The beneficiary of the Savings Plan shall be the Company under
the following two situations:

a. If the participant is removed from the position of Executive Director of Acciona due
to resignation for voluntary causes.

b. If the participant is removed from the position of Executive Director for breaching
their duties or for an act or omission that harms the Company or is sentenced with a
final verdict issued by a judicial authority.

In these cases, the participants shall lose all economic rights accumulated in the Savings Plan
and therefore, may not receive any benefit arising from the Plan.



The contributions to the Savings Plan in 2020 and 2019 in favour of the Executive Directors came to
2,613 and 4,913 thousand euros, respectively. These contributions in 2019 included 100% of the fixed
annual salary and an additional amount arising from extraordinary contributions to the Savings Plan
related to part of the variable remuneration in 2019.

The accumulated value at 31 December 2020 of the savings systems with non-consolidated economic
rights of Executive Directors amounted to 27,555 thousand euros.

No obligations have been entered into in connection with pensions with respect to former and current
members of the Board of Directors. Nor have any advances, credits or guarantees been given in favour
of the members of the Board of Directors, except as indicated in this note.

In financial years 2020 and 2019 the directors of the Parent Company did not receive any
remuneration for being members of other boards and/or senior management of Group Companies,

except as indicated for Ms Sonia Dulé in relation to the Bestinver subgroup.

The total remuneration of members of the board of directors of Acciona, S.A., including remuneration
for executive functions, was 56,388 and 7,503 thousand euros in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

A. Senior Management

Senior Management includes those people forming the top two levels of the Acciona group’s
management and the Corporate Internal Audit Director. This classification is for information purposes
only and without prejudice to their specific employment relationship.

The remuneration of the Company’s General Managers and people discharging similar duties,
excluding those who are simultaneously members of the Board of Directors (whose remuneration is
disclosed above), and bearing in mind that this remuneration is taken from the perspective of the
Parent Company and subsidiaries, in 2020 and 2019 is summarised as follows:

Number of people 38 37

The figures for 2020 appearing as remuneration included the amounts related to compensation paid
to the executives that left the company every year, for termination of their employment relationship.

The civil liability premium for directors and executives as paid in 2020 amounted to 1,418 thousand
euros.

2020-2029 Long-Term Incentive Plan Linked to the Creation of Value:

The General Shareholders' Meeting of 28 May 2020 approved a long-term incentive plan linked to
the creation of value aimed at the executive directors of Acciona, SA, which will be called the 2020-
2029 Long-Term Incentive Plan Linked to the Creation of Value directed at the Executive Directors
of Acciona, SA or 2020 LTIP, the main characteristics of which are as follows:

(A) Beneficiaries of the plan: The directors of Acciona, S.A. who, at the date the Plan is approved,
perform the most senior management func executive directors.



(B) Plan duration: Ten years (from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2029, both inclusive).

(C) Metrics used to measure the creation of value:

(i) ) The rate (“TSRR”) of total shareholder return (“TSR”) as benchmark indicator for measuring the
creation of value.

TSR will be calculated as the difference between the initial value of 100% of the current capital of
ordinary shares of Acciona, S.A. and the final value of the same investment, adding the difference of
the gross dividends received by a shareholder maintaining the investment at 100% of capital for the
2020-2029 period of the plan, without a financial update of the respective values.

The initial value and final value will be calculated taking into account (for calculation of the initial
value) the weighted average by daily volume of the weighted average prices of the Acciona, S.A.
shares corresponding to the market sessions in the months of October, November and December
2019, and (for calculation of the final value) the weighted average by daily volume of the weighted
average prices of the Acciona, S.A. shares corresponding to the market sessions in the months of
October, November and December 2029.

It is stated for the record that the weighted average by daily volume of the weighted average prices
of the Acciona, S.A. shares corresponding to the market sessions in the months of October, November
and December 2019 amounts to 92.84 euros Consequently, the initial value taken as a reference to
calculate the TSR is 92.84 euros.

(i1) The weighted average capital cost (“WACC”) as minimum profitability rate; that is, as minimum
TSRR above which value will be deemed to have been created for shareholders of Acciona, S.A.

The WACC will be calculated as the average rate of the WACC used to finance in consolidated terms
the assets and activity of Acciona, S.A. And its group for each of the ten years the plan covers, with
each annual WACC having been calculated at 31 December each year as the average rate of the
WACC corresponding to each of the twelve months of the year in question (calculated on annual
basis at the last day of each month).

(D) Calculation of the incentive: Both indicators (TSR and the corresponding TSRR, and WACC)
will be calculated at the conclusion of the plan for the 2020-2029 period of reference and only in the
event the TSRR exceeds the WACC, the Board of Directors, acting on a proposal from the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee, (i) will determine the aggregate amount of the incentive
to be paid to executive directors, which will be equivalent to 1% of the TSR achieved at the end of
the period and (ii) will decide on the distribution of the resulting amount among the executive
directors according to criteria that weight the relative contribution of each of them to the achievement
of value creation for the shareholders of Acciona, S.A. during the term of the Plan.

(E) Payment of the incentive and deferral: The incentive will be paid in full in cash as follows: (i) (i)
80% in 2030, following the drawing up of the consolidated financial statements for 2029 for Acciona
and its group in relation to which an audit report without qualifications is issued, and (ii) the remaining
20% in 203 1, following the drawing up of the consolidated financial statements for 2030 for Acciona
and its group in relation to which an audit report without qualifications is issued, provided that, during
the deferral period, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, acting on a proposal of the Appointments
and Remuneration Committee, none of the malus scenarios indicated in section (F) below has arisen.




(F) Malus and claw back: Acciona, S.A. may claim from executive directors within three (3) years
following each date on which an incentive payment has been made (including payment of the part of
the incentive paid on a deferred basis) the clawback of all or part of the part of the incentive paid to
the executive director if, during the three (3) year period in question, any of the following malus
scenarios has arisen, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, acting on a proposal of the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee: (i) the executive director commits a serious breach of
his/her duties of diligence or loyalty pursuant to which he/she must discharge his/her duties in
Acciona, S.A., or due to any other serious and culpable breach of the obligations that the executive
director has assumed by virtue of his/her contracts with Acciona, S.A. for the performance of
executive functions, (ii) it is confirmed that the executive director has received the incentive under
the plan based on data that is subsequently shown to be manifestly inaccurate, or (iii) the executive
director fails to comply with a post-contractual non-compete undertaking entered into or assumed in
relation to Acciona, S.A.

(G) Early Settlement: In the event that the commercial relationship of an executive director with
Acciona, S.A. is terminated, or the delegation of executive functions is revoked, at any time during
the validity of the plan (that is, between 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2029, both inclusive) for
reasons not attributable to the director, the plan will be settled prematurely in relation to the two
executive directors Moreover, the plan will be settled prematurely in the event of the voluntary
resignation of the executive director as of the 4th year of validity of the plan, with settlement of part
of the incentive that, if applicable, corresponds to the executive <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>